J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 57 (2024) 435401 (84pp)

Jet bundle geometry of scalar field theories

Mohammad Alminawi^{1,*}, Ilaria Brivio^{1,2,4} and Joe Davighi^{1,3}

- ¹ Physik Institut, Universität Zürich, Zürich, Switzerland
- ² Dipartimento di Fisica e Astronomia, Università di Bologna, Bologna, Italy
- ³ Theoretical Physics Department, CERN, Geneva, Switzerland
- ⁴ INFN, Sezione di Bologna, Bologna, Italy

E-mail: mohammad.alminawi@physik.uzh.ch, ilaria.brivio@unibo.it and joseph.davighi@cern.ch

Received 3 May 2024 Accepted for publication 22 August 2024 Published 10 October 2024



Abstract

For scalar field theories, such as those effective field theories (EFTs) describing the Higgs, it is well-known that the 2-derivative Lagrangian is captured by geometry. That is, the set of operators with exactly 2 derivatives can be obtained by pulling back a metric from a field space manifold M to spacetime Σ . We here generalise this geometric understanding of scalar field theories to higher- (and lower-) derivative Lagrangians. We show how the entire EFT Lagrangian with up to 4-derivatives can be obtained from geometry by pulling back a metric to Σ from the *1-jet bundle* that is (roughly) associated with maps from Σ to M. More precisely, our starting point is to trade the field space M for a fibre bundle $\pi: E \to \Sigma$, with fibre *M*, of which the scalar field ϕ is a local section. We discuss symmetries and field redefinitions in this bundle formalism, before showing how everything can be 'prolongated' to the 1-jet bundle $J^{1}E$ which, as a manifold, is the space of sections ϕ that agree in their zeroth and first derivatives above each spacetime point. Equipped with a notion of (spacetime and internal) symmetry on $J^{1}E$, the idea is that one can write down the most general metric on $J^{1}E$ consistent with symmetries, in the spirit of the effective field theorist, and pull it back to spacetime to build an invariant Lagrangian;

Author to whom any correspondence should be addressed.



Original Content from this work may be used under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 licence. Any further distribution of this work must maintain attribution to the author(s) and the title of the work, journal citation and DOI.

© 2024 The Author(s). Published by IOP Publishing Ltd

because J^1E has 'derivative coordinates', one naturally obtains operators with more than 2-derivatives from this geometry. We apply this formalism to various examples, including a single real scalar in 4d and a quartet of real scalars with O(4) symmetry that describes the Higgs EFTs. We show how an entire non-redundant basis of 0-, 2-, and 4-derivative operators is obtained from jet bundle geometry in this way. Finally, we study the connection to amplitudes and the role of geometric invariants.

Keywords: geometry, jet bundle, scalar field theory, effective field theory

Contents

1.	Intro	duction	3
2.	Preli	minaries	8
	2.1.	Two-derivative Lagrangians from field space geometry	10
	2.2.	Other terms in the scalar EFT	11
	2.3.	What is a (non-derivative) field redefinition?	12
		2.3.1. Change of coordinates	12
		2.3.2. Change of maps	13
		2.3.3. Field space diffeomorphisms	15
		2.3.4. Local field space diffeomorphisms, and HEFT vs. SMEFT	16
	2.4.	Geometrizing amplitudes	18
3.	From field space to bundles		
	3.1.	Fields as sections of fibre bundles	20
	3.2.	Field redefinitions are changes of section	22
	3.3.	Morphisms on the field space bundle	22
		3.3.1. Internal vs spacetime symmetries	23
		3.3.2. Non-derivative field redefinitions (again)	25
		3.3.3. More general field redefinitions?	25
		3.3.4. Example: ϕ^4 theory	26
		3.3.5. A limiting lemma	28
4.	Jet E	Bundles	29
5.	High	er-derivative EFTs from Jet Bundle Geometry	31
	5.1.	Defining geometry on the 1-jet bundle	31
	5.2.	Our first four-derivative Lagrangian	32
	5.3.	General geometries for general Lagrangians	33
	5.4.	Field redefinitions are (prolonged) changes of section	36
	5.5.	Morphisms on the jet bundle	36
		5.5.1. Prolongation of bundle morphisms	37
		5.5.2. Prolonging internal and spacetime symmetries to the 1-jet bundle	38
		5.5.3. Non-derivative field redefinitions (last time!)	39
		5.5.4. Example: free particle quantum mechanics	40
6.	Exar	nples	42
	6.1.	Quantum mechanics on the line	42
	6.2.	Real scalar in 4d	45
_	6.3.	Two real scalars in 4d, without internal symmetries	53
7.	Four	scalars in 4d, with $O(4)$ internal symmetry	57
	7.1.	The EFT Lagrangian up to 4 derivatives	57
	7.2.	The EFT Lagrangian from 1-jet bundle geometry	58

7.3. Beyond the custodial limit	61	
7.4. Topological terms	62	
. From jets to amplitudes		
8.1. Normal coordinates on the jet bundle (and why they fail)	64	
8.2. Expansion of the jet bundle metric	68	
8.3. Geometrizing amplitudes on the jet bundle	69	
8.4. Comment on the role of geometric invariants	72	
9. Conclusion	73	
Data availability statement		
Acknowledgments		
Appendix A. Diagnosing redundancies in the metric using invariants		
Appendix B. Higher jet bundles for higher derivatives: a completeness proof		
B.1. Proof of point 1	77	
B.2. Proof of point 2	78	
References		

1. Introduction

Effective field theories (EFTs) have long played a crucial role in guiding our understanding of fundamental physics to higher and higher energies. In the past decade, EFTs have been increasingly regarded as essential tools to explore physics beyond the Standard Model (SM), becoming prominent in both the theoretical and experimental programs of new physics searches [1, 2]. Two EFTs are particularly pertinent in this context: the so-called SMEFT [3, 4] and the Higgs EFT (HEFT) [5–10]. Both theories extend the SM Lagrangian with higher-dimensional interactions, but they differ in the choice of scalar fields and in the power-counting adopted to organize the EFT series. While the SMEFT is formulated in terms of the SU(2) Higgs doublet, that transforms linearly under the (gauge) symmetries, the HEFT builds upon the formalism of the electroweak chiral Lagrangian, whereby the three Goldstone bosons are embedded in a chiral field that transforms non-linearly [11–14], and the physical Higgs particle is treated as a singlet excitation [15]. This difference is expected to capture different dynamics underlying the electroweak symmetry breaking (EWSB) mechanism, which gives great significance to the question of which EFT should be used to go beyond the SM [16].

The phenomenological characterization of SMEFT and HEFT is a long-standing open challenge (see e.g. [17–24]). The main obstacle to overcome in realising this program stems from ambiguities in the formulation of these EFTs; namely, the fact that the two can be partially mapped onto each other via field redefinitions, indicating that at least a fraction of the phenomenological differences emerging in a comparison performed order-by-order in the respective EFT expansions might be unphysical. In particular, some of these differences might be washed out upon (partially) resumming the infinite tower of EFT operators.

Geometrical formulations of these EFTs [25-30] were introduced in recent years partly to address this issue, and have already proven very powerful in characterizing HEFT and SMEFT at a more fundamental level [31-42]; see [43] for a pedagogical overview. The core idea is that the (generalised) kinetic term of the scalar sector, by which we mean the set of all 2-derivative operators, could be seen as defining a metric on a real 4-manifold *M* spanned (locally) by the four scalar fields. In this language, the invariance of physical scattering amplitudes

under field redefinitions has been interpreted in terms of the invariance of geometric quantities (specifically, curvature invariants) of the field space under coordinate transformations. This approach allowed a more rigorous (and representation-independent) formulation of the differences between HEFT and SMEFT, and of the conditions under which each EFT is appropriate. Because the scalar manifold geometry emerges as a remnant of the decoupling of heavy BSM particles, these conditions can also be related to specific properties of the UV sector [27, 33, 44]. For instance, a SMEFT expansion cannot be constructed if the scalar geometry is singular at the point where the EW symmetry is restored. This can be associated to the presence of so-called 'loryons', heavy particles that have been integrated out in the EFT but which take at least 'half' of their mass from the Higgs mechanism [45].

Arguably, this geometric approach has two important limitations when applied to EFTs: (i) the scalar manifold geometry can only capture interaction terms with exactly 2 derivatives, and (ii) there is no geometric understanding of invariance under field redefinitions with derivatives, which, from the field theory perspective, are entirely reasonable 'symmetries' of the path integral. Point (i) is problematic because higher-derivative operators obviously play an important role in EFTs, and carry information that is in principle independent of that encoded in the 2-derivative terms. Point (ii) implies that geometric quantities are in fact basis-dependent. For instance, upon applying derivative field redefinitions, the curvature on M changes, in general. First steps towards obviating these issues were taken recently in [46–48].

Of particular relevance to limitation (i), and to the present paper, [47] recently introduced the idea of 'Lagrange spaces' as a generalisation of the field space geometry, wherein directional derivatives of the field space coordinates are treated as independent coordinates. Lagrangian functions can be built with these coordinates, which encode a subset of operators with more than 2 derivatives in a covariant formalism—in particular, because different spacetime derivatives ∂_{μ} cannot be distinguished, only operators with specific 'flavour' symmetries can be realised using these derivative coordinates. The present paper is in a similar spirit, in that we also seek a geometric formulation of scalar field theories that extends to higher-derivatives. We approach the problem in a largely orthogonal direction, using, instead, pure geometry on 'jet bundles' to formulate scalar EFT Lagrangians.

In differential geometry, *jet bundles* provide a coordinate-free way to describe higherderivatives of maps between manifolds; in the context of our EFTs, jet bundles are spaces on which derivatives of the scalar field are treated as extra coordinates in a consistent fashion. Roughly speaking, given a spacetime Σ , a field space M, and an integer r, one can construct an '*r*-jet bundle' which is itself a manifold, with local coordinates corresponding to spacetime coordinates x^{μ} , field space coordinates u^{i} , and '*r*-derivative coordinates' u^{i}_{μ} , $u^{i}_{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}}$, ..., $u^{i}_{\mu_{1}...\mu_{r}}$. This set of manifolds offers a promising arena for extending the geometric approach to EFTs to Lagrangians with more than 2 derivatives—suggesting a route for overcoming limitation (i) described above, which we aim to explore in this paper.

To that end, we formulate scalar field theory Lagrangians using geometry on the 1-jet bundle. The geometries of the various manifolds involved in our discussion, and maps between them, are illustrated in figure 1. While the relevant mathematical concepts will be introduced more precisely in sections 2–4, let us summarize here the main results and their physics interpretation. Our strategy is to write down the most general metric on the 1-jet bundle consistent with the symmetries of the EFT, which are themselves naturally extended to (or, more precisely, 'prolongated'⁵ to) the jet bundle. An invariant EFT Lagrangian function is then

 $^{^{5}}$ The notion of prolongation will be defined in equation (5.4), and thereabouts.



Figure 1. A schematic illustration of three key players in this paper: a spacetime manifold (Σ, η) with local coordinates x^{μ} on a patch thereof; a 'field space bundle' *E* whose base space is Σ and fibre is *M*, which has fibre coordinates u^i ; and lastly the 1-jet manifold J^1E of the bundle *E*, which is itself a fibre bundle over both *E* and over Σ . A 'scalar field' configuration is a section ϕ of the bundle *E*, and the composition $u^i \circ \phi = \phi^i(x)$ returns its 'field value', given the choice of local fibre coordinates u^i , at *x*. From ϕ one can construct a section $j^1\phi$ of the bundle $j^1E \to \Sigma$ by 'prolongation'. The 1-jet bundle also admits a local fibred coordinate system $(x^{\mu}, u^i, u^i_{\mu})$, where the extra $\{u^i_{\mu}\}$ are 'derivative coordinates that, when evaluated on a section $j^1\phi$, agree with the first derivatives $\partial_{\mu}\phi(x)$. Finally, metrics $g^{(0)}$ and $g^{(1)}$ can be defined on *E* and J^1E such that, upon pulling back to Σ along ϕ or $j^1\phi$ respectively, one can obtain the most general EFT Lagrangian for that scalar field theory with up to 2- or 4-derivative operators (and any number of fields). The notation ϕ^* in the figure denotes the pull back operation, see footnote¹¹.

formed by pulling back this metric all the way to spacetime Σ along a section of the jet bundle (which is itself obtained by prolonging a scalar field configuration ϕ), and contracting with the inverse spacetime metric. One immediately obtains terms with more than 2 derivatives from this recipe; for example, if we pull back a metric component $\delta_{ij}\eta^{\mu\nu}du^i_{\mu}du^j_{\nu}$ along a prolongation of ϕ , and then contract with $\eta^{\mu\nu}$, we obtain the 4-derivative term $(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi)^2$. We show that, in the case of the SMEFT and HEFT, one obtains a *complete basis* of non-redundant EFT operators with 0-, 2-, and 4-derivatives in this way, starting from a 1-jet bundle geometry that is invariant under Poincaré and O(4) custodial symmetry.

The conclusion, that one can construct a complete EFT basis with up to 4-derivatives from a jet bundle metric, remains unchanged upon allowing a breaking of custodial symmetry (section 7.3), as occurs in the real-world electroweak theory. In fact, it generalises to scalar Lagrangians with arbitrary 'flavour' structure, relying in no way on the assumption of an internal symmetry. Nor is this an accident that occurs only at the 1-jet bundle order. We prove in appendix B that, following a similar recipe, the most general, Poincaré invariant *r*-jet bundle metric can be used to construct an EFT Lagrangian that contains a complete basis of operators with up to 2(r + 1) derivatives and arbitrary number of field insertions. In this sense, we suggest that jet bundles offer a natural way of constructing generic scalar EFTs (barring only topological terms) using only geometry—albeit on an increasingly high-dimensional space if we want to cover an increasingly large number of derivatives. As well as extending the geometric formulation of scalar field theories to higher-derivatives, we try to develop an understanding of field redefinitions in this picture that includes derivative field redefinitions. An important realisation is that the scalar field $\phi(x)$ is not really identified with coordinates on the field space; rather, as the notation suggests, $\phi(x)$ is the *map* from spacetime Σ to field space M (or, better still, ϕ is a local section of a bundle $\pi : E \to \Sigma$ with fibre M, which we take as our starting point in this work). The image of this map (or section) is of course evaluated in the coordinate chart, for each x, to return the 'field value' at x. A field redefinition is then understood to be a change of map, or better a change of section, rather than just a change of coordinates (the latter leaves any metric g trivially invariant, simply by virtue of g being a tensor). Given that the maps (sections) 'know about' the spacetime source manifold Σ , it is not surprising that they can be differentiated with respect to x, whereas a coordinate on the target space cannot. Therefore a change of section can depend on derivatives of the original section, offering a more general understanding of field redefinitions—and one that is, in essence, geometric.

In certain cases, in particular those a physicist would call 'non-derivative field redefinitions', the change of section can be equivalently described by doing a morphism on the bundle (or field space). All these notions lift to the 1-jet bundle formalism in a natural and consistent way. Lastly, derivative field redefinitions can, in a very limited range of examples, be replicated by (jet) bundle morphisms, but these are essentially accidents; indeed, there are mathematical arguments (see section 3.3.5) that suggest 'derivative changes of section' cannot be induced by a (jet) bundle morphism. We try to elucidate these various points throughout this paper.

We remark that jet bundles have been recently used in the study of scalar field theories in [49] by Gripaios and Tooby-Smith, but in an altogether different context. There, the authors use jet manifolds to rigorously formulate so-called 'inverse Higgs constraints'. The use of jet bundles is natural (and fruitful) in that context, because the inverse Higgs constraint equations relate fields to their derivatives, and so can be embedded as submanifolds of the 1-jet bundle that are invariant under the action of the symmetry. While we were completing this paper, we became aware of the forthcoming work [50] by Craig and Lee, that builds on [47] and also utilizes the jet bundle formalism in the context of the HEFTs.

Summary of results

In this work we elucidate a geometric description of EFTs with up to four derivatives, in terms of geometry on the 1-jet bundle associated to our original field space maps. In doing so, here are some things we achieve (the various concepts and terminology we use will be duly explained in the main text):

1. We construct a map from the space of 1-jet bundle metrics g to 4-derivative Lagrangians \mathcal{L} , in a natural way. Namely, given a section ϕ of the field space bundle, *a.k.a.* a scalar field configuration, one pulls back the jet bundle metric g to spacetime along the associated section $j^{1}\phi$ of the jet bundle, and then contracts with the inverse metric η^{-1} on spacetime to get an ordinary function or 'Lagrangian'. In formulæ, this construction is expressed compactly by the following notation:

$$\mathcal{L}[g] = \frac{1}{2} \langle \eta^{-1}, \left(j^{1} \phi \right)^{*} g \rangle, \qquad (1.1)$$

where the contraction of tensors is denoted by the angle-brackets. This map does not inject to the space of physically inequivalent Lagrangians, as one might expect given the target space does not know about e.g. integration by parts (IBPs). So, lastly (and somewhat naïvely in our formalism), one can implement IBPs identities to reduce the Lagrangian to a particular basis.

- 2. We prove that this map surjects, in the sense that every Lagrangian with up to 4-derivatives can be obtained by pulling back a metric on the 1-jet bundle. We emphasize that all terms with 0-, 2-, or 4-derivatives are obtained in this way, so that even the potential is captured 'geometrically'. We show this result explicitly in a number of toy examples, and we also prove that it holds at any order, for a map from the space of *r*-jet bundle metrics into the space of scalar Lagrangians with up to 2(r+1) derivatives.
- 3. Along the way, we discuss how the symmetries of, say, the HEFTs, can be implemented in this (jet) bundle formalism. The internal O(4) symmetry and the spacetime SO(1,3) Poincaré symmetry are described by different kinds of bundle morphisms in this picture (depending on whether they move points in the base space or not). Both kinds of symmetry naturally carry over to the 1-jet bundle, and we enforce these symmetries on our metrics (hence Lagrangians).
- 4. We give a geometric meaning to the notion of general (including derivative) field redefinitions in terms of a (suitably smooth) change of section, which induces a change of section of the 1-jet bundle after prolongation.
- 5. In doing so, we also hope to clarify the geometric meaning of *non*-derivative field redefinitions. These are a special class of change of section that can be equivalently described by doing a bundle morphism (under which the metric changes), before pulling back to space-time along the *same* section. Such an equivalent description is not available for changes of section that involve derivative maps.
- 6. Thanks to the components of the metric being smooth functions on the jet bundle, we are able to expand the metric around a point, which after specifying a section allows us to directly extract *n*-point amplitudes, here done for n = 2, 3, 4, in terms of products of momenta and the components of the metric evaluated at that point.

Here are some things that we do *not* do in this paper and that are left for future work:

- 1. We do not describe how to implement gauging of a subgroup of the global symmetry in this jet bundle formulation.
- We do not show how to couple this jet bundle geometry to fermions. For 2-derivative Lagrangian terms with two fermion insertions, this issue has been tackled recently in [51–53].
- 3. We do not go into any details concerning phenomenology.

The paper is structured as follows: in section 2 we review and refine the formulation of 2derivative EFT Lagrangians using field space geometry. In particular, we hope to clarify a little the notion of (non-derivative) field redefinitions. In section 3 we recast this formalism using a field space bundle, which is more general (and motivated by locality). We again revisit the issue of field redefinitions, now equipped with the notion of a bundle morphism. Jet bundles are introduced in section 4 and their relation to scalar Lagrangians is discussed in great detail in section 5. Section 6 contains a few toy examples that will be useful to see how 1-jet bundle geometry captures operator bases including up to 4 derivatives; these examples also invite us to take a first look at the redundancies present in the description. In section 7 we turn to the SMEFT/HEFT case of four scalars respecting a custodial O(4) symmetry. Finally, in section 8 we comment on the interplay with scattering amplitudes, before concluding in section 9.

2. Preliminaries

Our goal is to eventually describe the higher-derivative expansion of the HEFTs, namely 'HEFT' or 'SMEFT', using geometry. We begin by reviewing the basic idea for geometrically formulating the HEFTs.

The Higgs sector of the electroweak theory, by which we refer to the part of the Lagrangian involving *only* scalar fields, is described by a 4d sigma model with a target space (M, g), which is a smooth manifold of real dimension 4, with Riemannian metric g. This means that, given also a 4d spacetime manifold with a (pseudo-)Riemannian metric, (Σ, η) , the degrees of freedom of the QFT are smooth⁶ (C^{∞}) maps

$$\phi(x): \Sigma \to M, \tag{2.1}$$

with dynamics described by an action that is a particular functional $S[\phi]$. On a patch (open set) \mathcal{F}_M of M one can provide local coordinates $u^i : \mathcal{F}_M \to \mathbb{R}^4$, where $i = 1, \ldots, 4$, and on a patch \mathcal{U}_{Σ} of Σ one can provide local coordinates x^{μ} . In this paper, we always take Σ to be a fixed non-dynamical background manifold, with a fixed metric—usually flat Minkowski space $\mathbb{R}^{3,1}$, with $\eta = \text{diag}(1, -1, -1, -1)^7$.

Of course this geometric picture is not reserved for the particular 4d theories that describe the Higgs, but equally describes scalar fields in any spacetime dimension d^8 , with any target space geometry. In section 6.1, for example, we consider a quantum mechanical example i.e. a scalar field theory in 0 + 1 dimensions (related examples have been recently discussed in [57, 58]). An important class of examples in physics is those (pseudo-)scalars arising from spontaneous symmetry breaking $G \rightarrow H$, for d > 2 [59]. In this case the scalar fields, here pseudo Nambu Goldstone bosons (or pNGBs), are known to parametrize the coset space $M \cong G/H$. In addition to the chiral Lagrangian [60] that describes QCD pions, arguably a pillar of theoretical particle physics, there exist physically important examples of such pNGB Lagrangians in condensed matter physics, e.g. describing fluids [61, 62] and more exotic phases [63, 64], and even cosmology [65, 66].

Example: SM. For the special case of the SM Higgs sector, we can take $M \cong \mathbb{R}^4$ with globally defined Cartesian coordinates u^i , and a flat metric.

⁶ It will be necessary to assume smoothness, of both the manifolds and maps between them, in order to use the technology of jet bundles [54]. In addition to the mathematical virtues it brings, assuming smoothness is a justifiable and arguably fundamental principle in formulating any theory of physics. This is because any physical measurement always has a finite precision, and so a genuine failure of smoothness could never be resolved. This is manifestly clear in the notion of *effective* field theory, in which the smallest length scales are coarse-grained over. 'Smoothness anomalies' have recently been discussed in [55], which axiomatises field theories of the kind studied in the present paper using the language of ∞ -categories.

⁷ Extensions of scalar field theories of the kind we consider to include dynamical gravity, so-called 'scalar-tensor theories', can also be described using a covariant geometric formalism [56].

⁸ The source manifold Σ need not be identified with spacetime, either; more generally it is the 'worldvolume' of the theory. The most familiar example in which Σ is not identified with spacetime occurs in string theory, where one usually identifies Σ with the 2d string worldsheet, and the target space *M* with the physical spacetime in which the string moves. A similar description can be used for any extended object.

Symmetries of SMEFT and HEFT

An essential bit of data required to define these HEFTs is an *internal symmetry*, by which we mean (for now) that the target space *Mis equipped with the smooth action* σ by a Lie group G. This induces a group action on the fields $\phi(x)$ which are (for now) maps into M, under which we require that the field theory action functional $S[\phi]$, or more precisely the phase $e^{iS[\phi]}$), be invariant. It is in this Lie group action where the difference between HEFT and SMEFT lies. For both cases the group is the same, namely G = O(4) in the custodial limit⁹ (which we assume throughout most of this paper), but its action σ on M is different.

This distinction is easy to express given a particular set of local coordinates on a patch, but is harder to formulate in a coordinate-free (or indeed field-redefinition-invariant) way. One of the successes of the geometric formulation of HEFTs has been to provide coordinate-free criteria for detecting an O(4) action that is decisively non-SMEFT [16, 33]. For now let us use particular local coordinates to get started.

In the case of SMEFT, and for a particular set of local coordinates $u^i = h^i$ on some open set $\mathcal{F}_M \subset M$, the group action σ_S is simply

$$\sigma_{\mathbf{S}}: O(4) \times M \to M: \ (O, h^{i}) \mapsto Oh^{i}, \tag{2.2}$$

where $O \in O(4)$ acts on 4-component real vectors by matrix multiplication¹⁰. Evidently, this means that electroweak symmetry $SU(2)_L \times U(1)_Y \subset G$ acts *linearly*. A consequence of this linear group action is that the patch \mathcal{F}_M always contains a *fixed point* of the group action, namely the origin $o(h^i = \vec{0})$, meaning that $\sigma_S : (O, o) \mapsto o \forall O \in O(4)$. This is the electroweak symmetry preserving point. As shown in [27], the converse is also true, namely if M contains an O(4) fixed point then, in the vicinity of that point, there is always a coordinate chart $u^i = h^i$ in which O(4) acts linearly on h^i . Moving away from this fixed point, any other point on \mathcal{F}_M , written in the local coordinates h^i , preserves an $O(3) \subset O(4)$ subgroup. The vacuum of our Universe is such a symmetry breaking point $h^i \neq \vec{0}$, with length squared $\delta_{ij}h^i h^j = v^2$.

For HEFT, the symmetry breaking is made manifest by the choice of group action. Let us write our local coordinates in the form $u^i = (h, \pi^a/v)$, where a = 1, ..., 3. HEFT is characterised by a *non-linear* group action σ_H in these local coordinates

$$\sigma_{\rm H}: O(4) \times M \to M: \ (O, h, \pi^a/\nu) \mapsto \left(h, O\left(\pi^a/\nu, \sqrt{1 - \pi \cdot \pi/\nu^2}\right)^T\right).$$
(2.3)

⁹ Actually, in neither SMEFT nor HEFT do we know the global structure of the custodial symmetry group *G*, only that its Lie algebra is $\mathfrak{so}(4)$. We take *SO*(4) to be enlarged by a parity symmetry e.g. $u^4 \to -u^4$ to an $O(4) \cong SO(4) \rtimes \mathbb{Z}/2$ symmetry; in other literature, the symmetry is taken to be the universal cover $SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R \cong \text{Spin}(4)$, which is a non-isomorphic central extension of *SO*(4) also by $\mathbb{Z}/2$. This global ambiguity is unsurprising given that even the electroweak *gauge* symmetry is ambiguous, being either $SU(2) \times U(1)$ or U(2) (see e.g. [67, 68]).

¹⁰ We are being a little cavalier in expressing the group action, which is well-defined on all of M, only by its action on points in the patch \mathcal{F}_M that is coordinatized by $\{h^i\}$. In principle, one should provide an atlas of coordinate charts covering M and define the group action everywhere. Also note that the fixed patch \mathcal{U} will itself be moved by the group action, and so there can be points 'either side of the edge' of the patch for which equation (2.2) cannot be used. We invite the reader to look past such subtleties here.

In words, the radial mode h is invariant under the O(4) group action, while the Goldstone modes π^a transform non-linearly, via the usual action of O(4) on a unit vector spanning $S^3 \cong O(4)/O(3)$, the coset space associated with the EWSB.

Spacetime (Σ, η) is also equipped with a symmetry, which is a smooth action ρ by the Poincaré group $\cong \mathbb{R}^{1,3} \rtimes O(1,3)$. For our coordinates x^{μ} on Minkowski spacetime $\mathbb{R}^{1,3}$, the (non-linear) group action is

$$\rho: \operatorname{Poinc} \times \Sigma \to \Sigma : (a^{\mu}, L^{\mu}_{\nu}, x^{\mu}) \mapsto L^{\mu}_{\nu} x^{\nu} + a^{\mu}$$
(2.4)

Throughout this paper we only consider Poincaré-invariant theories (including, but not only, SMEFT and HEFT).

2.1. Two-derivative Lagrangians from field space geometry

The dynamics of such scalar field theories lend themselves to a geometric description. This means that certain terms in the Lagrangian can be built using geometric structures on the target space, which we have already stipulated is a Riemannian manifold (and sometimes, more basically, a topology alone is sufficient).

The most important and natural geometric construction is of the kinetic term or, more generally, the Lagrangian terms featuring exactly two derivatives. This requires a geometry on M, in the form of the metric g, which recall is a symmetric and everywhere non-degenerate (0, 2)-tensor on M. The two-derivative Lagrangian terms are then

$$\mathcal{L}_{2\partial}[\phi,g] = \frac{1}{2} \langle \eta^{-1}, \phi^*(g) \rangle.$$
(2.5)

That is, we pull back the metric g along the map ϕ^{11} , to obtain a (0, 2) tensor on spacetime, which we contract with the inverse spacetime metric to get an ordinary function. Note that this formula for the Lagrangian is 'coordinate-free'; the map $\phi: \Sigma \to M$ is defined irrespective of our choices of coordinate chart, and both η^{-1} and g are tensors. The Lagrangian will be moreover invariant under the symmetry of our theory if the metric g is σ -invariant¹², assuming also that η is Poincaré invariant. Our notation $\mathcal{L}_{2\partial}[\phi, g]$ emphasizes that the Lagrangian is a functional of the map (field) ϕ , given g. To obtain the action $S[\phi, g]$, we integrate $\mathcal{L}_{2\partial}[\phi, g]$ over Σ using the canonical volume form $\omega_{\Sigma} := \sqrt{|\eta|} d^4 x$, as we would for any Lagrangian 'term' that is a function (rather than a form).

The compact, coordinate-free formula (2.5) can be written in a notation more familiar to physicists by using our local coordinates x^{μ} (on $\mathcal{U}_{\Sigma} \subset \Sigma$) and u^{i} (on $\mathcal{F}_{M} \subset M$). In these local coordinates, the metrics are

$$\eta = \eta_{\mu\nu} \,\mathrm{d}x^{\mu} \otimes \mathrm{d}x^{\nu} \,, \qquad \text{(flat)}, \tag{2.6}$$

$$g = g_{ij}\left(u^{i}\right) \,\mathrm{d}u^{i} \otimes \mathrm{d}u^{j}\,,\tag{2.7}$$

¹¹ We use the notation $f^*(\cdot)$, standard in differential geometry, to denote the pullback of an object along the map f. Likewise, pushforwards are denoted $f_*(\cdot)$. In order to avoid confusion, any notion of 'complex conjugation' e.g. of a scalar Higgs field, will be denoted with a dagger, *viz.* ϕ^{\dagger} .

¹² Note that the stipulation of 'invariance' refers to the specific group *action*, which recall differs for HEFT vs SMEFT, and which we emphasize by writing ' σ -invariant' rather than just 'G-invariant'.

and then Lagrangian (2.5) is

$$\mathcal{L}_{2\partial}[\phi,g] = \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} g_{ij}\left(\phi^{i}(x)\right) \partial_{\mu}\phi^{i}(x) \partial_{\nu}\phi^{j}(x) , \qquad (2.8)$$

where

$$\phi^{i}(x) := \left(u^{i} \circ \phi\right)(x) . \tag{2.9}$$

In words, the quantity $\phi^i(x)$ returns the values of the local coordinates u^i evaluated at the image of spacetime point x under the map ϕ —that is, the 'field value' at x.

Example (ctd.): SM. Take $M = \mathbb{R}^4$ and u^i to be global Cartesian coordinates thereon. The SM construction takes only the subset of Lagrangian terms that are renormalisable. With this extra condition, symmetry dictates that $g = \delta_{ij} du^i du^j$ is just the flat metric on \mathbb{R}^4 , as anticipated above. This pulls back under $\phi(x)$ to give the usual Higgs kinetic term,

$$\mathcal{L}_{\rm kin} = \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} \delta_{ij} \partial_{\mu} \phi^{i}\left(x\right) \partial_{\nu} \phi^{j}\left(x\right) \,,$$

upon evaluating (2.5).

Example: SMEFT. In the case of SMEFT the most general σ_s -invariant metric can be expressed in terms of two arbitrary functions A(z) and B(z), via [26, 27]

$$g_{ij}\left(u^{i}\right) = A\left(\frac{u \cdot u}{\Lambda^{2}}\right) \,\delta_{ij} + B\left(\frac{u \cdot u}{\Lambda^{2}}\right) \,\delta_{ik}\delta_{jl}\frac{u^{k}u^{l}}{\Lambda^{2}}\,,$$

in our chosen SMEFT coordinate chart, where $v \cdot w := \delta_{ij} v^i w^j$. We have introduced appropriate factors of the formal power counting parameter Λ , which will be identified with the EFT cutoff scale in a physical theory. Here, A(0) = 1 and B(0) = 0 in order to recover the SM in the limit $\Lambda \to \infty$. Substituting this metric into (2.8), or equivalently (2.5), yields the most general set of $\sigma_{\rm S}$ -invariant SMEFT operators with exactly two derivatives.

2.2. Other terms in the scalar EFT

We emphasize that this procedure constructs only a subset of the non-renormalisable EFT Lagrangian, namely all operators with exactly two derivatives (but any number of field insertions), from the metric g on field space M. Other terms in the EFT are, in this picture, included 'by hand', and can be considered as extra structures on M beyond the metric. These other interactions fall into three classes:

- 1. The 'potential' is the part of the Lagrangian with *zero derivatives*; it is the pullback of a σ -invariant function $V(\phi) : M \to \mathbb{R}$ from M to Σ , which is again integrated on Σ using ω_{Σ} to obtain the action contribution; that is, $S[\phi] \supset \int_{\Sigma} \phi^*(V) \omega_{\Sigma}$.
- 2. There are all the local operators appearing in the EFT construction of Callan, Coleman, Wess, and Zumino [11, 69] with *more than two derivatives*. Capturing these operators systematically using geometry is a primary purpose of the present paper.

3. The action might also admit topological terms like the Wess–Zumino–Witten term [70, 71], that are the pullback of (possibly locally-defined) differential forms from M to Σ , then integrated directly on Σ . These require only a topology on each space. Invariance under σ is rather more subtle here than for local operators [72], especially when the map ϕ is topologically non-trivial; a large class of such terms are given by σ -invariant differential cocycles [73] on M, of degree d + 1 where $d = \dim(\Sigma)$ in general. Examples of such terms abound in Composite Higgs models (which are SMEFT) [74, 75], and e.g. in the condensed matter examples mentioned previously [76, 77].

We largely neglect terms of type (3) in the rest of this paper, focussing rather on the non-topological (i.e. metric-dependent) sector of the EFT. We briefly comment on topological terms in the HEFTs in section 7.4.

2.3. What is a (non-derivative) field redefinition?

One central feature of the geometric formulation of HEFTs has been the identification of (some subset of) field redefinitions, which are symmetries of the partition function and thence of observables (see e.g. [78]), with coordinate transformations on field space M. Specifically, 'non-derivative field redefinitions' of the form $\phi(x) \mapsto \psi(\phi(x))$ have been identified with changes of coordinates. It is not clear how to think about derivative field redefinitions, whereby $\phi \mapsto \psi(\phi, \partial \phi, ...)$, in this geometric picture, since the target space M knows nothing about spacetime derivatives. At this stage, we want to revisit this established lore concerning non-derivative field redefinitions. Our discussion will be fairly pedantic, but in doing so will open the way to a simple geometric picture for more general smooth field redefinitions, even before we consider the jet bundle extension of field space in later Sections.

To begin, we emphasize that we have been careful, so far, to distinguish local coordinates u^i on \mathcal{F}_M from the *field variable* ϕ , which is a map from Σ into M. This is again distinguished from $\phi^i = u^i \circ \phi$, which evaluates the local coordinate values of the field for each spacetime point. A 'change of coordinates', *a.k.a.* a 'coordinate transformation' or a 'change of chart', is, when restricted to \mathcal{F}_M , a map $u^i \to u^{i'}(u^i)$. This is not obviously related to a redefinition of the *field*, which we would more readily identify with some transformation on the map ϕ (inducing a transformation on the ϕ^i). In this Subsection we contrast how these two kinds of transformation, namely a change in coordinates $u^i \to u^{i'}$ vs. a change in map $\phi \to \psi$, affect the Lagrangian that we construct from the metric on M via (2.5). The main concepts presented in this Subsection are illustrated in figure 2.

2.3.1. Change of coordinates. The first key point is simply that the field space metric $g = g_{ij}(u^i) du^i \otimes du^j$ does not change at all under a change of coordinates, when evaluated at the same point *m* in *M*. The components change via appropriate factors of the Jacobian matrix, *viz*.

$$g_{ij} = \frac{\partial u^{k'}}{\partial u^i} \frac{\partial u^{l'}}{\partial u^j} g'_{kl}, \qquad (2.10)$$

which is compensated by the variation of the 1-forms

$$\mathrm{d}u'^i = \frac{\partial u'^i}{\partial u^k} \mathrm{d}u^k. \tag{2.11}$$

This is just the statement that the metric is a tensor, and so g(m) evaluated at any point $m \in M$ is independent of the choice of the coordinate chart $\{u^i\}$. Once we pullback the metric along the map $\phi(x)$ and form the Lagrangian $\mathcal{L} = (1/2)\langle \eta^{-1}, \phi^*(g) \rangle$, one obtains exactly the same function of the field variable $\phi(x)$, regardless of having done the change of coordinates.

If this argument sounds a little thin, we can make the point totally explicit with an example. Consider a 1-dimensional field space manifold \mathbb{R} , on which we define a local coordinate $\{u\}$. In this coordinate chart, consider a (flat) metric $g = du \otimes du$; in components, $g_{uu} = 1$. Choose a map $\phi : \Sigma \to \mathbb{R}$, namely a scalar field configuration. The Lagrangian formed as in equation (2.5) is then $\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi(x) \partial^{\mu} \phi(x)$, the kinetic energy for a real scalar¹³. Now, let us do a change of coordinates in the target space, and send

$$u \mapsto u' = u^2 \,. \tag{2.12}$$

In the illustration of figure 2, this corresponds to reading off coordinates using the scale on the right side of the plot, rather than the left, for the *same* points on M. The metric expressed in the new coordinate system, but at the same point, is

$$g' = \frac{1}{4u'} du' du' (=g) , \qquad (2.13)$$

and so its components are $g_{u'u'} = 1/(4u')$.

To form the 'new' Lagrangian after doing the coordinate transformation, we then pullback the metric, in the new coordinates, along the same map $\phi(x)$. Note that the map $\phi(x)$ is defined independently of coordinates—it takes points in Σ to points in *M*—but that we evaluate its image in the given coordinate chart. We find the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}[\phi,g] \mapsto \mathcal{L}[\phi,g'] = \frac{1}{2} \langle \eta^{-1}, \phi^*(g') \rangle$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\rho\sigma} \left\langle \partial_\rho \otimes \partial_\sigma, \frac{1}{4(u' \circ \phi)} \partial_\mu (u' \circ \phi) \partial_\nu (u' \circ \phi) \, \mathrm{d}x^\mu \otimes \mathrm{d}x^\nu \right\rangle$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\rho\sigma} \left\langle \partial_\rho \otimes \partial_\sigma, \mathrm{d}x^\mu \otimes \mathrm{d}x^\nu \right\rangle \frac{1}{4\phi^2} \partial_\mu (\phi^2) \partial_\nu (\phi^2)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} \frac{1}{4\phi^2} \left(2\phi \partial_\mu \phi \right) \left(2\phi \partial_\nu \phi \right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \partial_\mu \phi \partial^\mu \phi = \mathcal{L}[\phi,g], \qquad (2.14)$$

the same as before. The tensorial nature of the metric means that, in general, the Lagrangian (2.5) is not changed (as a functional of its argument) by any change of coordinates on M. The freedom to change coordinate charts is akin to a gauge redundancy in this geometric formulation of the theory.

2.3.2. Change of maps. Let us instead consider what happens to the Lagrangian (2.5) when we change field space maps, from $\phi(x)$ to a different map $\psi(x) : \Sigma \to M$. We assume the change in map $\phi \to \psi$ is smooth. Recall that $\phi^i(x) = (u^i \circ \phi)(x)$ denotes the local coordinates of the image of point x under the original map ϕ . A new map ψ sends each x to a different point

¹³ We slightly abuse notation here and let $\phi(x)$ denote both the map itself and the coordinate value $u \circ \phi$; there is no component index because the target space is 1-dimensional.



Figure 2. Illustration of the notion of non-derivative field redefinitions in a toy example describing a single real scalar (take $M = \mathbb{R}$, with coordinate u) in 1d spacetime (take $\Sigma = \mathbb{R}$, with coordinate x). A field configuration is a map from Σ to M; here ϕ (redsolid) and ψ (blue-dashed) denote two such maps. A change of field space coordinates, such as $u \mapsto u' = u^2$, simply corresponds to reading off coordinate values using the right axis rather than the left axis. It does not move points in M, nor change the metric g (or any other tensor) evaluated at any point $m \in M$; if we pull back g to Σ using a fixed map ϕ to form a Lagrangian, we obtain the same result regardless of whether we used the u or u' coordinate chart on M. A (non-derivative) field redefinition is rather a particular change of maps such that $u \circ \psi$ can be expressed as a function of $u \circ \phi$. In the figure, $u \circ \psi = (u \circ \phi)^2$, such that evaluating $\psi(x)$ is equivalent to first evaluating $\phi(x)$, then doing a diffeomorphism f on M that sends a point in M with coordinate u to a different point with coordinate u^2 , expressed in a fixed coordinate chart. Reading off the value of the curve $\psi(x)$ on the left is equivalent to reading off the value of $\phi(x)$ on the right. The figure also illustrates that if $\hat{\phi}$ sends multiple points on Σ to the same point on M, the change of map can be equivalent to a diffeomorphism on M only if ψ preserves this feature.

 $\psi(x) \in M$, for which $\psi^i(x) = (u^i \circ \psi)(x)$ are its local coordinates. The two different maps are indicated in figure 2 by the red-solid and blue-dashed curves.

We again use the simple example of a real scalar field for illustration, with field space $M = \mathbb{R}$, local coordinate *u*, and flat metric $g = du \otimes du$. Consider the particular change of map, defined in terms of coordinate values (in fixed chart $\{u\}$) of field space points,

$$\phi(x) \mapsto \psi(x) \quad | \quad u \circ \psi = (u \circ \phi)^2 . \tag{2.15}$$

(If we continue to abuse notation as above, we would write this simply as $\psi = \phi^2$, denoting both the map and the coordinate value by the same symbol ϕ .) Now, when we pull back the metric g along this new map ψ , the Lagrangian (2.5) is not necessarily the same (even though the metric g is unchanged) because $\phi^*(g) \neq \psi^*(g)$. We obtain

$$\mathcal{L}[\phi,g] \mapsto \mathcal{L}[\psi,g] = \frac{1}{2} \langle \eta^{-1}, \psi^*(g) \rangle$$

= $\frac{1}{2} \eta^{\rho\sigma} \langle \partial_{\rho} \otimes \partial_{\sigma}, \mathrm{d} x^{\mu} \otimes \mathrm{d} x^{\nu} \rangle \ \partial_{\mu} (u \circ \psi) \partial_{\nu} (u \circ \psi)$
= $\frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} \partial_{\mu} (\phi^2) \partial_{\nu} (\phi^2) = 2\phi^2 \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi .$ (2.16)

When expressed in terms of the original field variable, the functional form of the Lagrangian has indeed changed; the key difference to the manipulations in (2.14) is that there is no compensating factor of $1/4\phi^2$ coming from the Jacobian.

Intuitively, the reason we get a different answer is because we pulled back the metric from *different points in field space*, namely those in the image of ψ rather than ϕ ; this is not true for a simple change of coordinates, which does not move points in M but only relabels them. The transformation (2.16) of \mathcal{L} under change of section $\phi \to \psi$ is what one would usually call a 'field redefinition'.

2.3.3. Field space diffeomorphisms. The change of maps $\phi \rightarrow \psi$ that we have performed is, in this case, precisely equivalent to doing a (*local*) field space diffeomorphism f before pulling back the transformed metric $f^*(g)$ along the same section ϕ . Recall that a diffeomorphism is a smooth invertible function between manifolds M and N:

$$f: M \to N. \tag{2.17}$$

In words, every point in the manifold N can be related uniquely to a point in the manifold M; if f moves the points hit by ϕ to the points hit by ψ , then it exactly replicates the effect of changing maps. To relate two maps ϕ and ψ we try to construct a diffeomorphism f to fill in the commutative diagram:

$$\begin{array}{c}
\Sigma \\
\phi \\
\downarrow \\
(M,g) \\
\xrightarrow{\psi} \\
f \\
\downarrow \\
f \\
\downarrow \\
f \\
\downarrow \\
(N,g)
\end{array}$$
(2.18)

so that

$$\psi = f \circ \phi. \tag{2.19}$$

When considering field redefinitions, as we do here, we can take M and N to be the same manifold, and so f becomes a map from M to itself.

It is clear that such a diffeomorphism f cannot be found for *any* pair ϕ and ψ of field space maps. So, when can a change of maps (*a.k.a.* a field redefinition) be realised as a field space diffeomorphism? Consider a map ϕ that sends two spacetime points x and y to the same point in field space, *viz.* $\phi(x) = \phi(y) = m_x$. Then, via (2.19), we can only change to a new map ψ that satisfies $\psi(x) = f(\phi(x)) = f(m_x)$ and $\psi(y) = f(\phi(y)) = f(m_x)$, thus $\psi(x)$ and $\psi(y)$ must also agree (see figure 2 for illustration). This means that ψ must be a function of ϕ . Explicitly, evaluating equation (2.19) on our coordinate chart $\{u^i\}$ on M,

$$u^{i} \circ \psi = u^{i} \circ f \circ \phi = u^{i} \circ f(\phi) , \qquad (2.20)$$

thus the particular change of map induced by a smooth map f can be expressed as

$$\phi^i \mapsto \psi^i = f^i \left(\phi^j \right) \,. \tag{2.21}$$

This is precisely what physicists call a 'non-derivative field redefinition', and applies to the example (2.15) considered above. If we additionally can write

$$\psi^i \mapsto \phi^i = \left(f^{-1}\right)^i \left(\psi^i\right) \tag{2.22}$$

then the change of maps is a diffeomorphism and the theories are equivalent at the level of the manifolds on which they live.

Indeed, if we reconsider the example considered in the previous Subsection, we can see explicitly how one recovers the shift (2.16) in the Lagrangian that we obtained by changing map $\phi \rightarrow \psi$, by instead doing a diffeomorphism $f: M \rightarrow M$ before pulling back along the same map ϕ . The required diffeomorphism¹⁴ is one that sends field space point $m \in \mathbb{R}$ with local coordinate u to the point m' with coordinate u^2 (written in the same coordinate chart); in local coordinates, we might simply write this as $f: u \mapsto u^2$. In figure 2, this can be visualised by interpreting the right axis of the plot as the image of the left axis under f, such that the two axes represent *different* sets of points on M. Under this diffeomorphism the *metric changes*, as

$$g = \mathrm{d} u \otimes \mathrm{d} u \mapsto f^* g = \left(\frac{\partial u \circ f}{\partial u}\right)^2 \mathrm{d} u \otimes \mathrm{d} u = 4u^2 \mathrm{d} u \otimes \mathrm{d} u \,. \tag{2.23}$$

Pulling back f^*g along ϕ then gives the transformed Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}[\phi,g] \mapsto \mathcal{L}[\phi,f^*(g)] = \frac{1}{2} \langle \eta^{-1}, \phi^*(f^*(g)) \rangle$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} 4 (u \circ \phi)^2 \partial_\mu (u \circ \phi) \partial_\nu (u \circ \phi)$$
$$= 2\phi^2 \partial_\mu \phi \partial^\mu \phi = \mathcal{L}[\psi,g], \qquad (2.24)$$

matching the result (2.16) that we obtained by changing maps.

In a similar way, any non-derivative field redefinition of the form (2.21) can be implemented as a smooth map on the field space. The transformed Lagrangian can be equivalently expressed in terms of the transformed map ψ , or in terms of the smooth map f:

$$\mathcal{L} \mapsto \frac{1}{2} \langle \eta^{-1}, \psi^*(g) \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \langle \eta^{-1}, \phi^*(f^*(g)) \rangle.$$
(2.25)

At risk of being overly pedantic, we wish to distinguish a diffeomorphism on M from a change of coordinates, although the two notions are intimately related. A diffeomorphism involves a change of coordinates *plus* a pushforward to the new point; equivalently, a change of coordinates means doing a diffeomorphism, but then pulling back the tensor to be evaluated at the original point.

Finally, we stress that a change of maps $\phi(x) \rightarrow \psi(x)$ is more general than the special case (2.21) that can be captured by field space diffeomorphisms (or even general smooth maps on field space). Differentials of the smooth map ϕ can be used to construct, at least infinitesimally, what one would call 'derivative field redefinitions'.

2.3.4. Local field space diffeomorphisms, and HEFT vs. SMEFT. There is an important subtlety in this discussion that we have so far glossed over, that was hinted at in footnote¹⁴. Namely, it may be the case that the diffeomorphism f is only defined locally, meaning in words that not all points in M correspond to points in N. A particularly relevant physics example of

¹⁴ If the manifold contains a point $m \in M$ with u(m) = 0, then this map is only a *local* diffeomorphism, i.e. a diffeomorphism on a patch that does not include this point, because $f^{-1}: u \to \sqrt{u}$ is not differentiable at m. Alternatively, the map f can be 'promoted' to a proper diffeomorphism by instead taking $M = \mathbb{R}_{>0}$, the positive half-line.

this situation occurs for the map from SMEFT to HEFT, as follows. Let us start with a coordinate system $\{u^1, u^2, u^3, u^4\}$ on a patch $\mathcal{F}_M \subset M$ in which the metric is

$$g_{ij} = \begin{pmatrix} 1 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 1 & 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (2.26)

Pulling this back to Σ along a section ϕ whose components in the chart are $u^i \circ \phi = \phi^i(x)$, we find the familiar 2-derivative Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \eta^{-1}, \phi^* g \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \delta_{ij} \partial_\mu \phi^i \partial^\mu \phi^j$$
(2.27)

of a canonically normalised set of Higgs fields.

Now consider the map $f: \mathcal{F}_M \to \mathcal{F}_N \subset N$ defined by

$$f: \begin{pmatrix} u^{1} \\ u^{2} \\ u^{3} \\ u^{4} \end{pmatrix} \to \left(1 + \frac{u^{4}}{v}\right) \begin{pmatrix} u^{1} \\ u^{2} \\ u^{3} \\ \sqrt{v^{2} - (u^{1})^{2} - (u^{2})^{2} - (u^{3})^{2}} \end{pmatrix}$$
(2.28)

expressed in the same coordinate chart $\{u^i\}$. After doing this smooth mapping, we compute the new metric to be

$$f^*g_{ij} = \begin{pmatrix} \left(1 + \frac{u^4}{v}\right)^2 \left(1 + \frac{(u^1)^2}{v^2 - \vec{u}^2}\right) & \left(1 + \frac{u^4}{v}\right)^2 \frac{u^1 u^2}{v^2 - \vec{u}^2} & \left(1 + \frac{u^4}{v}\right)^2 \frac{u^1 u^3}{v^2 - \vec{u}^2} & 0\\ \left(1 + \frac{u^4}{v}\right)^2 \frac{u^1 u^2}{v^2 - \vec{u}^2} & \left(1 + \frac{u^4}{v}\right)^2 \left(1 + \frac{(u^2)^2}{v^2 - \vec{u}^2}\right) & \left(1 + \frac{u^4}{v}\right)^2 \frac{u^2 u^3}{1 - \vec{u}^2} & 0\\ \left(1 + \frac{u^4}{v}\right)^2 \frac{u^1 u^3}{v^2 - \vec{u}^2} & \left(1 + \frac{u^4}{v}\right)^2 \frac{u^2 u^3}{1 - \vec{u}^2} & \left(1 + \frac{u^4}{v}\right)^2 \left(1 + \frac{(u^3)^2}{1 - \vec{u}^2}\right) & 0\\ 0 & 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

$$(2.29)$$

where $\vec{u} = (u^1, u^2, u^3)$. Once again we can pullback along a section ϕ and contract with η^{-1} to obtain the Lagrangian function

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi^{4} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{4} + \frac{1}{2} \left(1 + \frac{\phi^{4}}{v} \right)^{2} \left(\partial_{\mu} \phi^{1} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{1} + \partial_{\mu} \phi^{2} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{2} + \partial_{\mu} \phi^{3} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{3} \right) + \frac{\left(1 + \phi^{4}/v \right)^{2}}{v^{2} - (\phi^{1})^{2} - (\phi^{2})^{2} - (\phi^{3})^{2}} \left(\phi^{1} \partial_{\mu} \phi^{1} \phi^{2} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{2} + \phi^{1} \partial_{\mu} \phi^{1} \phi^{3} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{3} + \phi^{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi^{2} \phi^{3} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{3} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\left(1 + \phi^{4}/v \right)^{2}}{v^{2} - (\phi^{1})^{2} - (\phi^{2})^{2} - (\phi^{3})^{2}} \left(\left(\phi^{1} \right)^{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi^{1} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{1} + \left(\phi^{2} \right)^{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi^{2} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{2} + \left(\phi^{3} \right)^{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi^{3} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{3} \right).$$
(2.30)

Introducing the notation $\vec{\phi} = (\phi^1, \phi^2, \phi^3)$, this can be written in the more compact form:

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\mu}\phi^{4}\partial^{\mu}\phi^{4} + \frac{1}{2}\left(1 + \frac{\phi^{4}}{v}\right)^{2} \left[\partial_{\mu}\vec{\phi}\cdot\partial^{\mu}\vec{\phi} + \frac{1}{v^{2} - \vec{\phi}^{2}}\left(\vec{\phi}\cdot\partial_{\mu}\vec{\phi}\right)^{2}\right].$$
(2.31)

If we identify ϕ^4 with the physical Higgs boson field and the other ϕ^i with the Goldstones, we see that the Higgs has a canonical kinetic term and does not enter any of the scalar products. Equation (2.31) is in agreement with the results in [22, 79]. The map from SMEFT to HEFT is known to always exist and be smooth at the level of the Lagrangian.

On the other hand, the inverse map (that would take one from HEFT to SMEFT) may have a singularity. The inverse map f^{-1} would be

$$f^{-1}: \begin{pmatrix} u^1 \\ u^2 \\ u^3 \\ u^4 \end{pmatrix} \to \frac{v}{\sqrt{\mathbf{u}^2}} \begin{pmatrix} u^1 \\ u^2 \\ u^3 \\ \frac{\sqrt{\mathbf{u}^2}}{v} \left(\sqrt{\mathbf{u}^2} - v\right) \end{pmatrix}, \qquad (2.32)$$

where $\mathbf{u} = (u^1, u^2, u^3, u^4)$. This is clearly only well defined if $\mathbf{u}^2 \neq 0$.

The map from this Lagrangian back to (2.27) may have a singularity at the origin, in which case f is simply a smooth map on the whole manifold and only becomes a diffeomorphism (which must be invertible) when restricted to a patch that does not contain the origin (the O(4) fixed point). Mathematically speaking, this means that the two manifolds on which SMEFT and HEFT are formulated are indistinguishable *away* from this point. When SMEFT is not enough [33], we really only have a 'smooth map' f from SMEFT to HEFT, which cannot be inverted.

2.4. Geometrizing amplitudes

As we saw in section 2.3.1, a change of coordinates does not change the Lagrangian (whereas, we reiterate, a smooth map does—and the latter is what we mean by a non-derivative field redefinition). The coordinate invariance of the Lagrangian nevertheless remains a useful redundancy to exploit, because it means we are free to pick any valid coordinate system on a given local patch.

In particular, this opens up the choice of 'normal coordinates' in the vicinity of some point *m* in patch $\mathcal{F}_M \subset M$ of field space, defined by the following properties¹⁵:

1. For all $1 \leq i, j \leq n$ we have

$$g_{ij}(m) = \bar{g}_{ij}, \tag{2.34}$$

which is a diagonal matrix whose entries are either +1 or -1, depending on the signature of the metric;

2. For all $1 \leq i, j, k \leq n$ we have

$$\Gamma_{ij}^k(m) = 0; \tag{2.35}$$

¹⁵ Normal coordinates always exist under the conditions we assume. This is because, for any pseudo-Riemannian manifold (M, g) and any point $m \in M$, there exists a neighbourhood $U \subset M$ and a neighbourhood $V \subset T_m M$ such that the map

$$\exp_m: V \to U \tag{2.33}$$

is a diffeomorphism. Using a torsion free connection (such as the Levi-Civita connection) we can construct an isomorphism $T_m M \sim \mathbb{R}^n$ allowing us to consider the triple $\{\exp_m^{-1}, V, U\}$ as a coordinate chart, which we refer to as normal coordinates (see e.g. [80]). The chart is unique up to the choice of isomorphism. 3. For all $1 \leq i, j, k \leq n$ we have

$$\partial_k g_{ij}(m) = 0. \tag{2.36}$$

Using this system of normal coordinates, the metric tensor g_{ij} admits the following expansion around point $m \in \mathcal{F}_M$

$$g = g_{ij}(u) \,\mathrm{d}u^{i} \otimes \mathrm{d}u^{j} = \left(\bar{g}_{ij} + \frac{1}{3}R_{iklj}(m) \,u^{k}u^{l} + \frac{1}{6}R_{iklj;r}(m) \,u^{k}u^{l}u^{r} + \dots\right) \mathrm{d}u^{i} \otimes \mathrm{d}u^{j} \quad (2.37)$$

where the normalization of the first term in the expansion naturally leads to a canonical kinetic term once we fix the signature of the metric.

The choice of normal coordinates is useful because the expansion then naturally organizes itself based on the number of fields, thus allowing for an easy relation to be established between components of the Riemann tensor and *n*-point amplitudes [34, 81]:

- $\delta_{ii} du^i \otimes du^i$ enters in the propagator;
- $\frac{1}{3}R_{iklj}(m)u^ku^l du^i \otimes du^j$ enters in four point amplitudes;
- $\frac{1}{6}R_{ikli;r}(m)u^ku^lu^r du^i \otimes du^j$ enters in five point amplitudes.

In this field space picture, a potential (0-derivative) contribution to the Lagrangian is added to the Lagrangian by hand (see section 2.2), independently of the field space geometry. Choosing coordinates u^i on \mathcal{F}_M such that $u^i \circ m_{\text{vac}} = \vec{0}$, where $m_{\text{vac}} \in M$ is the vacuum point, we have

$$\mathcal{L} = \left(\delta_{ij} + \frac{1}{3}R_{iklj}(0)\phi^k\phi^l + \frac{1}{6}R_{iklj;r}(0)\phi^k\phi^l\phi^r + \dots\right)\partial_\mu\phi^i\partial^\mu\phi^j - \left(\frac{1}{2}\frac{\partial^2 V}{\partial\phi^k\partial\phi^l}(0)\phi^k\phi^l + \frac{1}{6}\frac{\partial^3 V}{\partial\phi^k\partial\phi^l\partial\phi^r}(0)\phi^k\phi^l\phi^r + \dots\right).$$
(2.38)

It can be seen that the contribution to the three point amplitude at this point comes entirely from the potential as a result of the vanishing of the Christoffel symbols [34]. When we eventually pass to the 1-jet bundle, we will see (section 8) how to adapt this story to incorporate higher-derivative terms (and also how, in the jet bundle picture, the potential contribution also comes from components of the metric).

3. From field space to bundles

Before we get into the main business of this paper, namely our consideration of EFT terms with > 2 derivatives, we find it helpful to first generalise slightly the above account of EFTs in terms of field space geometry. The generalisation, which is motivated by locality, is to replace the description in terms of maps (2.1) to a field space *M* by one in terms of fibre bundles, which is almost equivalent but a bit more general¹⁶. While the generalisation to bundles might seem like a technicality here, we will describe several advantages over the field space picture in this section; moreover, the bundle picture provides the starting point for passing to jet bundles when we turn to describe higher-derivative Lagrangians.

¹⁶ JD is grateful to Ben Gripaios and Joseph Tooby-Smith for past discussion and correspondence related to ideas in this section. See also [49].

3.1. Fields as sections of fibre bundles

The idea is simple, but first let us recap some basic concepts. Recall that a fibre bundle is a triple (E, Σ, π) , where

- *E* is called the *total space* of the bundle;
- Σ is called the *base space*. Both *E* and Σ are smooth manifolds;
- The projection map $\pi: E \to \Sigma$ is a surjective submersion;
- *Local trivializations:* for any point $x \in \Sigma$ there exists an open neighbourhood \mathcal{U}_x and a diffeomorphism $\varphi : \pi^{-1}(\mathcal{U}_x) \to \mathcal{U}_x \times F$, where *F* is itself a manifold called the 'fibre', such that the projection π agrees with projection from $\mathcal{U}_x \times F$ onto its first factor. In other words, locally the total space *E* looks like a direct product space, but this need not be true globally.

A *section* of the fibre bundle is then a smooth map $\phi : \Sigma \to E$ such that $\pi \circ \phi = id_{\Sigma}$. A section is like an 'inverse' of the projection map π , taking you from the base space into the total space of the bundle, while preserving the base space point. Identifying the base Σ with spacetime, what a physicist calls a 'field' is thus a section of some bundle over Σ . Sections will moreover play a starring role in defining jet bundles. We denote the set of all sections of π by $\Gamma(\pi)$, and the set of *local* sections whose domains include a point $x \in \Sigma$ by $\Gamma_x(\pi)$. With these definitions, let us return to scalar field theory on target space M.

The sigma model map $\phi(x) : \Sigma \to M$ that we encountered before trivially defines a *section* ϕ of a particular fibre bundle $(\Sigma \times M, \Sigma, \pi)$ with fibre F = M coinciding with the 'field space' of the previous picture, and where the projection is trivially $\pi(x,m) = x \forall m \in M, x \in \Sigma$. This bundle can moreover be equipped with a product metric $\eta \oplus g$, given the metrics η and g on Σ and M respectively (2.6, 2.7). Such a bundle that is globally a direct product is called a trivial bundle, for which ϕ is a global section.

Locality

This field space formulation described in section 2 implicitly assumes that ϕ is a global section of a trivial bundle; but this restriction is unecessarily strong. Given that we, as local physicists exploring our patch of the Universe, can only know about the structure of field space on some open set $\mathcal{U}_{\Sigma} \subset \Sigma$, there is no reason to enforce that the field space bundle, which *locally* has a product structure $\cong \mathcal{U}_{\Sigma} \times M$, has a direct product structure $= \Sigma \times M$ globally. More generally, therefore, one can (and should) allow fibre bundles (E, Σ, π) with fibre F = M that are topologically non-trivial.

We should therefore pass from a description in which the field $\phi(x)$ is a map from Σ to *E* to a slightly more general picture, in which¹⁷:

A scalar field $\phi \in \Gamma_x(\pi)$ is a local section of a fibre bundle (E, Σ, π) with fibre M. (3.1)

Given a patch $\mathcal{U}_{\Sigma} \subset \Sigma$ with local coordinates x^{μ} , one can introduce a local fibred coordinate system (x^{μ}, u^{i}) on $\pi^{-1}(\mathcal{U}_{\Sigma}) \subset E$, that matches our previous choice. To guide the reader, we illustrate the basic 'local product' structure of a fibre bundle and the notion of a section in figure 3(left), for a toy example in which the total space *E* has dimension two.

¹⁷ This viewpoint is emphasized in [49], which adopts an even more general setup, again motivated by locality arguments, whereby the fibre bundle is replaced by a *fibred manifold*. For a fibred manifold, the fibres $\pi^{-1}(x)$ above each spacetime point *x*, which the reader can think of as the 'field space' associated to the point *x*, are not even required to be diffeomorphic to one another. We are happy to limit ourselves to plain old fibre bundles in the present work.



Figure 3. Left: Illustration of a fibre bundle (E, Σ, π) with fibre M, which here we take to be a trivial bundle $(E \cong \Sigma \times M)$ for ease of illustration, on which we have a fibred coordinate system (x, u). This toy example describes a single real scalar (e.g. take $M = \mathbb{R}$) in 1d spacetime (e.g. take $\Sigma = \mathbb{R}$). The field ϕ is a *section* of such a fibre bundle, which in general need not be a trivial bundle. Right: bundle morphisms are pairs of maps (f, \bar{f}) that generically move points on E and Σ respectively, in a way that is compatible with the bundle projection maps. A field redefinition is a change of section. A nonderivative field redefinition is equivalent to a bundle morphism with $\bar{f} = id_{\Sigma}$, as indicated in our sketch by the map f_E , for which the arrows are directed 'vertically'.

Lower derivative Lagrangian terms from geometry

In these coordinates, and starting from metrics η and g on Σ and M respectively (in the field space picture), a natural choice of geometry on E is to take the metric on E to be locally the product metric, $g_E = \eta \oplus g$. Pulling g_E back to Σ along a section ϕ , and contracting with the inverse metric η^{-1} on Σ , via essentially the same formula as (2.5), we get the same 2-derivative Lagrangian (2.8) that we obtained from the metric g in the 'field space maps' picture of section 2, up to a constant shift coming from pulling back the $\eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu}$ part of g_E .

Even though this geometry is a natural choice, one can consider more general geometries on the field space bundle; in particular, consider a metric on the field space bundle E of the form

$$g_E = -\frac{2}{d}V(u)\eta_{\mu\nu}\,\mathrm{d}x^\mu\otimes\mathrm{d}x^\nu + g_{ij}(u)\,\mathrm{d}u^i\otimes\mathrm{d}u^j\,,\tag{3.2}$$

where d is the spacetime dimension (say, d = 4 for the HEFTs). Upon pulling this metric back to spacetime (Σ, η) , which we emphasize is still equipped with the flat geometry of Minkowski space, and contracting with the inverse spacetime metric, we get the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}[\phi,g_E] = \frac{1}{2} \langle \eta^{-1}, \phi^*(g_E) \rangle = \frac{1}{2} g_{ij}(\phi) \partial_\mu \phi^i \partial^\mu \phi^j - V(\phi) .$$
(3.3)

We thus recover the most general scalar EFT Lagrangian with up to 2-derivatives, but including also the 0-derivative potential terms, by passing from geometry on a target space M to a geometry on the fibre bundle E. As an example, this is already enough to capture the whole (renormalisable) Higgs sector of the SM Lagrangian via geometry. We will revisit this feature when we pass to jet bundles later in the paper.

Symmetries on the field space bundle

For the case of SMEFT or HEFT, in this fibred coordinate system (x^{μ}, u^{i}) there is also a natural implementation of the symmetries described in section 2 at the level of field space bundles (E, Σ, π) . The group action on the bundle is, at least locally, simply

$$\left(a^{\mu}, L^{\mu}_{\nu}, O; x^{\mu}, u^{i}\right) \mapsto \left(L^{\mu}_{\nu} x^{\nu} + a^{\mu}, \sigma\left(O, u^{i}\right)\right), \tag{3.4}$$

where one can insert the group action $\sigma = \sigma_S$ or σ_H for SMEFT or HEFT respectively. It is, however, instructive to still think of the spacetime and internal symmetries as two distinct group actions, both in this case of HEFTs and more generally. As we will see in section 3.3.1, we can think of these symmetries as bundle morphisms, and the identification of a symmetry as 'internal' can be given a natural definition in these terms.

3.2. Field redefinitions are changes of section

In addition to the motivation by locality that we have described, plus the straightforward inclusion of lower-derivative Lagrangian terms, passing to this 'field space bundle' formulation of scalar EFTs affords a technical benefit when it comes to describing field redefinitions geometrically. Recall from section 2.3 that, in the 'maps to field space' picture, a non-derivative field redefinition (or change of map $\phi^i \mapsto \psi^i(\phi^j)$) is equivalent to doing a local diffeomorphism on the target space.

Regarding a scalar field to instead be a section ϕ of the bundle (E, Σ, π) , a general field redefinition will be implemented as a smooth change of (local) section

$$\Gamma_x(\pi) \ni \phi \mapsto \psi \in \Gamma_x(\pi). \tag{3.5}$$

This is itself a geometric notion of what it means to do a general field redefinition. A simple example of this is given in section 3.3.4 below. For derivative field redefinitions, however, we are not guaranteed an equivalent description in terms of morphisms of the target space (or bundle), as we study more carefully in the next section.

3.3. Morphisms on the field space bundle

In this 'field space bundle' picture, a more general class of field redefinitions can be described in terms of morphisms of the bundle, than we saw in the case of field space smooth maps, above. To unpack this statement requires a more-or-less formal definition of bundle morphisms, which also provide a natural language for describing e.g. symmetries of the theory.

Suppose we have a fibre bundle $\pi : E \to \Sigma$, in the notation of section 3, and ϕ is a (local) section of that bundle. Given another bundle $\rho : F \to \Omega$, a bundle morphism is a pair of maps $f: E \to F$ and $\overline{f}: \Sigma \to \Omega$ such that

is a commutative diagram. (We could, more generally, consider only a *local* bundle morphism, whereby every element in the commutative diagram is replaced by open submanifolds, but such generality will not add much to the discussion.)

To describe both symmetries and field redefinitions, we are interested in fixing both bundles to be the same, (E, Σ, π) . Figure 3(right) illustrates how a bundle morphism acts in this case, in a 1d example. We are also sometimes interested in fixing the map from the base space to itself to be

$$\bar{f} = \mathrm{id}_{\Sigma} \,. \tag{3.7}$$

(The obvious exception to this will be when we discuss spacetime symmetries below.) The map f_E along the top is an automorphism from the bundle (E, Σ, π) to itself, $f_E : E \to E$. The commutative diagram becomes

$$E \xrightarrow{f_E} E$$

$$\xrightarrow{\pi} \sum_{\Sigma} \swarrow^{\rho}$$
(3.8)

We thus have the relation of maps

$$\pi = \rho \circ f_E. \tag{3.9}$$

This, which follows from assumption (3.7), means that f_E does not move points in the base space, but only moves points in the fibre. In our local fibred coordinate system (x^{μ}, u^i) on E, we have

$$f_E: \left(x^{\mu}, u^{i}\right) \mapsto \left(x^{\mu}, f^{i}\left(x^{\mu}, u^{j}\right)\right).$$

$$(3.10)$$

The map $f^i(x^{\mu}, u^j)$ on the fibre coordinates can be regarded as a family of diffeomorphisms on fibres $\{M_x\}$, for each value of the base point *x*, that is free to vary (smoothly) with *x*.

A pair of local sections $\phi \in \Gamma_x(\pi)$ and $\psi \in \Gamma_x(\rho)$ for these two bundles will also be related by the bundle morphism f_E :

$$\psi = f_E \circ \phi \,. \tag{3.11}$$

In our fixed local fibred coordinate system (x^{μ}, u^{i}) , equation (3.11) implies

$$\psi^{i}(x) = f^{i}(x, \phi^{j}(x)) .$$
(3.12)

This is clearly a generalisation of (2.21) because now the functions f_x^i can vary continuously (and smoothly) with the base point *x*. However, it is perhaps not an especially useful generalisation, given our primary interest is in describing Poincaré-invariant quantum field theory actions—the more general change of section expressed in (3.12) allows for field redefinitions that have explicit spacetime dependence, which typically violate Poincaré symmetry. Next, we discuss how this notion of bundle morphisms applies first to symmetries, and then turn to field redefinitions.

3.3.1 Internal vs spacetime symmetries. We already offered a description of symmetries in the 'field space bundle' formulation of HEFTs, in terms of a group action by Poinc $\times O(4)$ on the bundle *E*. Generally, a group action of Lie group *G* on a manifold *E* is equivalent to specifying a diffeomorphism of *E* for each group element $g \in G$. A symmetry that can be described via such a group action can thus be naturally interpreted in terms of bundle morphisms; moreover, the bundle structure offers an obvious notion of what we mean by saying that a symmetry is 'internal' or otherwise.

In this language, we might say rather abstractly that a *symmetry* is a particular bundle morphism (f, \bar{f}) such that the Lagrangian $\mathcal{L} = (1/2)\langle \eta^{-1}, \phi^*(g) \rangle$ shifts by at most a total derivative¹⁸:

$$\langle \eta^{-1}, \phi^*(f^*-1)g \rangle = \partial_\mu K^\mu.$$
 (3.13)

¹⁸ We also implicitly assume an invariance condition [72] is satisfied for the topological term, if present.

Such a broad definition would account for the fact that (i) there can be many redundancies in the map from metric to Lagrangian (as will become more obvious when we pass to 1-jet bundles, especially in the examples of sections 6 and 7), and (ii) we wish to identify Lagrangians that differ by total derivatives. Both these facts mean that requiring invariance of the metric itself, *viz*.

$$f^*g = g, \tag{3.14}$$

is too strong a condition for a symmetry. Nonetheless, the more general condition (3.13) is rather nasty to implement in practice—indeed, it is not even obvious why the set of morphisms satisfying (3.13) should form a group¹⁹, whereas (diffeo)morphisms satisfying (3.14) clearly do form a group. In practice, the particular symmetries that we consider will be implemented by bundle morphisms that are symmetries of the metric (isometries), satisfying (3.14), so we are happy to proceed with this definition of (a certain class of) symmetry.

Continuing, an *internal symmetry* is then a symmetry that is described by a 'base-point preserving' bundle morphism (f, \bar{f}) of type (3.8), namely for which $\bar{f} = id_{\Sigma}$, which means the group action does not move points in spacetime. More precisely, it moves points in a given fibre M_x to other points in that same fibre M_x . In the case of SMEFT, say, the internal symmetry is unsurprisingly the O(4) group action:

$$\sigma_{\mathbf{S}}: O(4) \times E \to E: \left(O, x^{\mu}, u^{i}\right) \mapsto \left(x^{\mu}, Ou^{i}\right), \tag{3.15}$$

in our local fibred coordinates. This defines a set of base-point preserving bundle morphisms satisfying both the commutative diagram (3.8) and the group multiplication law. In general, an internal symmetry described by a Lie group action by *G* on the bundle *E* corresponds to the set

$$\left\{ \left(f_g, f = \operatorname{id}_{\Sigma} \right) \text{ a bundle morphism } \forall g \in G \, | \, f_{g_1} \circ f_{g_2} = f_{g_1g_2} \, \forall g_1, g_2 \in G \right\}.$$
(3.16)

In our SMEFT example, the morphisms are

$$f_O: \left(x^{\mu}, u^{i}\right) \to \left(x^{\mu}, Ou^{i}\right) \ \forall O \in O\left(4\right).$$

$$(3.17)$$

On the other hand, a *spacetime* symmetry is a map \overline{f} such that (f, \overline{f}) is a bundle morphism that is a symmetry. In our HEFT and SMEFT examples, which have (3 + 1)-d Poincaré invariance, we can take this spacetime symmetry to be defined by the group action on the bundle

$$\rho: \operatorname{Poinc} \times E \to E: \left(a^{\mu}, L^{\mu}_{\nu}, x^{\mu}, u^{i}\right) \mapsto \left(L^{\mu}_{\nu} x^{\nu} + a^{\mu}, u^{i}\right).$$
(3.18)

Again this defines a collection of bundle morphisms, where the important thing is the map on the base of the bundle, $\bar{f}_{a,L}: x^{\mu} \mapsto L^{\mu}_{\nu} x^{\nu} + a^{\mu}$ for every a^{μ} and L^{μ}_{ν} .

¹⁹ Moreover, a definition of 'symmetry' like equation (3.13) is still far from being comprehensive; indeed, finding all symmetries can be an almost overwhelming task even for very simple theories, if a symmetry is broadly defined to be any 'thing that does not change observables'. This would include transformations that act completely trivially, such as the change of coordinates considered in section 2.3.1 above as well as more general redundancies of description such as gauge symmetries, right through to the huge symmetry under field redefinitions that is not seen at the Lagrangian level, but only after doing the path integral. The symmetries we consider here, namely symmetries of the metric on *E* that can be captured by bundle morphisms, lie somewhere between these two extremes. Finally, we remark that in recent years yet further 'generalised' notions of symmetry have been appreciated, which are not seen by their action on any local operators but by their action on extended objects like Wilson lines (see [82, 83] for recent surveys).

It is interesting that, as a collection of bundle morphisms, the internal symmetry is naturally implemented *locally*. The general formula for an 'internal morphism' in the bundle picture is $\sigma : (x^{\mu}, u^{i}) \mapsto (x^{\mu}, O(x).u^{i})$, where O(x) is an O(4)-valued function on spacetime. This suggests there should be a natural notion of gauging in this language (indeed, gauge fields are perhaps the most familiar example of quantum fields being sections on bundles over spacetime). We save a proper treatment of the gauging of internal symmetries, which is of course a crucial element in the electroweak theory, for future work.

3.3.2. Non-derivative field redefinitions (again). Having discussed symmetries, we now return to the issue of field redefinitions, and ask when such transformations can be described by the bundle morphisms defined in section 3.3 above.

Firstly, if we take the maps $f^i(x^{\mu}, u^j)$ in e.g. equation (3.10) to be independent of x, then we have that $u^i \circ \psi = u^i \circ f(\phi)$, equivalent to doing the same 'field space diffeomorphism' everywhere in spacetime, i.e. at every fibre. This special case of bundle morphisms can describe any non-derivative field redefinition, as considered in section 2.3.2. Later, in sections 5.5.3 and 5.5.4, we will see how this is implemented in the more general jet bundle context.

3.3.3. More general field redefinitions?. Consider again the general (base-point preserving) bundle morphism described by equation (3.12). We now examine, for completeness, what kind of field redefinitions can be captured by such bundle morphisms, and whether we get 'anything more' than non-derivative field redefinitions. Recall that we already have a geometric description of arbitrary derivative field redefinitions as arbitrary changes of section $\phi \rightarrow \psi$. We see an explicit example of this below in section 3.3.4.

To study this, let us start from the more general class of Lagrangian captured by our field space bundle geometry, including 0-derivative (potential) terms. We take

$$g_E = -\frac{2}{d}V(u)\eta_{\mu\nu}\,\mathrm{d}x^{\mu}\otimes\mathrm{d}x^{\nu} + g_{ij}(u)\,\mathrm{d}u^i\otimes\mathrm{d}u^j \tag{3.19}$$

as in (3.2), which, pulling back along a section $\phi : \Sigma \to E$, gives the general 2-derivative Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}[\phi, g_E] = \frac{1}{2}g_{ij}(\phi)\partial_{\mu}\phi^i\partial^{\mu}\phi^j - V(\phi)$. If we do an 'internal diffeomorphism' on the bundle of the kind (3.8), which acts as $f_E : (x^{\mu}, u^i) \to (x^{\mu}, f^i(x, u))$ in our local fibred coordinate system, then the metric g_E transforms as

$$g_E \to f_E^* g_E = -\frac{2}{d} V(u \circ f_E) \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + g_{ij} (u \circ f_E) \frac{\partial (u^i \circ f_E)}{\partial u^k} \Big|_{x,u} \frac{\partial (u^j \circ f_E)}{\partial u^m} \Big|_{x,u} du^k du^m + g_{ij} (u \circ f_E) \frac{\partial (u^i \circ f_E)}{\partial x^{\mu}} \Big|_{x,u} \frac{\partial (u^j \circ f_E)}{\partial x^{\nu}} \Big|_{x,u} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu}.$$
(3.20)

Upon pulling back along the (same) section ϕ and forming the new Lagrangian, we get

$$\mathcal{L}\left[\phi,g_{E}\right] \mapsto \mathcal{L}\left[\phi,f_{E}^{*}g_{E}\right]$$

$$= \frac{1}{2}g_{ij}\left(f(x,\phi)\right) \left[\partial_{\mu}f^{i}\Big|_{x,u=\phi}\partial^{\mu}f^{j}\Big|_{x,u=\phi} + \frac{\partial f^{i}}{\partial u^{k}}\Big|_{x,u=\phi}\frac{\partial f^{j}}{\partial u^{m}}\Big|_{x,u=\phi}\partial_{\mu}\phi^{k}\partial^{\mu}\phi^{m}\right] - V(f(x,\phi)).$$
(3.21)

While formulae (3.20) and (3.21) may look elaborate, they are essentially the result of applying the chain rule.

The result (3.21) generalises a little the effect of 'field space smooth maps' considered in section 2. There are two main differences: first, the possible dependence of the transformed g_{ij} and V functions on spacetime coordinates x^{μ} ; second, the first term on the RHS which comes from partial differentiation of the functions f^i with respect to spacetime. If we restrict to bundle morphisms that respect Poincaré symmetry, then neither of these generalisations are relevant.

If we further assume the morphism is a 'perturbation' around the trivial morphism, i.e. that it takes the form

$$f^{i}\left(x^{\mu}, u^{j}\right) = u^{i} + \epsilon \lambda^{i}\left(x^{\mu}, u^{j}\right), \qquad \epsilon \ll 1, \qquad (3.22)$$

then we can expand the various functions $g_{ij}(f)$ and V(f) around their 'old values'. For the potential, for example, we can do an ordinary Taylor expansion

$$V(u) \mapsto V(f(x,u)) = V(u) + \epsilon \lambda^{i} \frac{\partial V}{\partial u^{i}} + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{2} \lambda^{i} \lambda^{j} \frac{\partial^{2} V}{\partial u^{i} \partial u^{j}} + \dots, \qquad (3.23)$$

while the various Jacobian factors can also be expanded

$$\frac{\partial f^{i}}{\partial x^{\mu}} = \epsilon \frac{\partial \lambda^{i}}{\partial x^{\mu}}, \qquad \frac{\partial f^{i}}{\partial u^{j}} = \delta^{i}_{j} + \epsilon \frac{\partial \lambda^{i}}{\partial u^{j}}, \qquad (3.24)$$

before substituting into (3.21).

One might wonder whether such a base-point preserving bundle morphism of this kind can ever capture the effects of a derivative field redefinition, which is a change of section $\phi \rightarrow \psi$ such that $u \circ \psi$ is a function of $u \circ \phi$ and its spacetime derivatives. The first point to note is that, starting from the 2-derivative Lagrangian $\mathcal{L}[\phi, g_E]$ above, the transformation (3.21) cannot generate terms with more than 2-derivatives. So, we straightaway learn that this kind of bundle morphism cannot generically capture a derivative field redefinition; at best, one might be able to reproduce the effects of a derivative field redefinition if we truncate the transformed Lagrangian also at two derivatives. We next consider a concrete example, for which such a diffeomorphism can capture the effects of a derivative field redefinitions—but we stress that this example is far from generic.

3.3.4. Example: ϕ^4 theory. Consider a 4d theory of a single real scalar field. In the bundle formulation, we take a trivial bundle $E = \mathbb{R}^{1,3} \times \mathbb{R}_u \xrightarrow{\pi} \mathbb{R}^{1,3}$, on which we specify an initial fibred coordinate system (x^{μ}, u) . We take the metric

$$g_E = -\frac{1}{2} \frac{y u^4}{4!} \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + du du, \qquad y \in \mathbb{R}$$
(3.25)

which is flat in the field space coordinate u, corresponding to a canonical 2-derivative kinetic term. The real parameter y is a coupling constant. Pulling back along a section $\phi : x^{\mu} \rightarrow (x^{\mu}, \phi(x))$, our initial Lagrangian is simply

$$\mathcal{L}[\phi] = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi - \frac{y}{4!} \phi^4, \qquad (3.26)$$

that of ' ϕ^4 theory' in 4d, with potential $V(\phi) = (y/4!)\phi^4$.

Now, consider a derivative field redefinition that is defined by a change of section $\phi \rightarrow \psi$ where, in our coordinate system²⁰,

$$x^{\mu} \circ \psi = x^{\mu}, \qquad u \circ \psi = (1 - \epsilon \partial_{\mu} \partial^{\mu}) (u \circ \phi), \qquad (3.27)$$

where $1 \gg \epsilon \in \mathbb{R}$. The first condition ensures the change of section only acts 'internally' on the fibres, as is our assumption throughout. Abusing notation as before and letting ψ (ϕ) also denote the component values of the section ψ (ϕ) in the local fibre coordinate, and letting $\Box := \partial_{\mu} \partial^{\mu}$ as usual, we would write this (in notation more familiar to the physicist) as

$$\phi \mapsto \psi = \phi - \epsilon \Box \phi. \tag{3.28}$$

Pulling back the metric g along ψ rather than ϕ , we obtain the transformed Lagrangian,

$$\mathcal{L}[\psi,g] = \frac{1}{2} \eta^{\rho\sigma} \langle \partial_{\rho} \otimes \partial_{\sigma}, dx^{\mu} \otimes dx^{\nu} \rangle \partial_{\mu} (u \circ \psi) \partial_{\nu} (u \circ \psi) - V(u \circ \psi)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} (\phi - \epsilon \Box \phi) \partial^{\mu} (\phi - \epsilon \Box \phi) - V(\phi - \epsilon \Box \phi)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi)^{2} - \epsilon \partial_{\mu} \Box \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi + \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{2} \partial_{\mu} \Box \phi \partial^{\mu} \Box \phi - V + \epsilon \Box \phi \frac{dV}{d\phi}$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \epsilon^{2} (\Box \phi)^{2} \frac{d^{2}V}{d\phi^{2}} + \mathcal{O}(\epsilon^{3})$$
(3.29)

exactly as one would expect from a derivative field redefinition, where we have here kept the potential $V(\phi)$ general. We stress that there is no obstacle to considering derivative field redefinitions in the geometric picture, once we consider a field redefinition to be a change of section (along which the unchanged metric is pulled back to form the Lagrangian).

Knowing that our bundle geometry construction can only capture Lagrangians with up to 2-derivatives, it is instructive to also expand this only up to 2-derivative terms:

$$\mathcal{L}[\phi, g_E] \mapsto \mathcal{L}[\psi, g_E] = \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial\phi\right)^2 \left(1 - 2\epsilon V^{\prime\prime}(\phi)\right) - V(\phi) + \mathcal{O}(4\partial)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial\phi\right)^2 \left(1 - \epsilon y \phi^2\right) - \frac{y}{4!} \phi^4 + \mathcal{O}(4\partial) , \qquad (3.30)$$

where we have also used IBPs, and the relation

$$\partial_{\mu}F(\phi) = \partial_{\mu}\phi \frac{\mathrm{d}F}{\mathrm{d}\phi}.\tag{3.31}$$

The result, truncating to 2-derivative order, is a ϕ -dependent shift of the kinetic term.

Truncated to this order, the effect of doing this derivative field redefinition can be realised instead via a diffeomorphism on the bundle *E*. Because the field redefinition we seek to replicate is a perturbation around doing nothing, we assume the bundle morphism is also a

²⁰ We choose a field redefinition that is consistent with a Poinc × $O(1)_u \cong$ Poinc × \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry. The field redefinition is consequently second-order in derivatives and 'preserves the number of fields'. This kind of field redefinition, which shifts ϕ by ' $\Box \phi$ ', can be used to eliminate redundancies due to the equations of motion (EOMs), and will play an important role in the examples of higher-derivative Lagrangians that we discuss in section 6.

perturbation around the trivial morphism, of the form (3.22). By Poincaré invariance we also assume the bundle morphism has no explicit dependence on x^{μ} , so we take

$$(x^{\mu}, u) \mapsto (x^{\mu}, u + \epsilon \lambda(u)).$$
(3.32)

Subbing into (3.21), we get

$$\mathcal{L}[\phi, g_E] \mapsto \mathcal{L}[\phi, f_E^* g_E] = \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial\phi\right)^2 \left(1 + 2\epsilon\lambda'\right) - V - \epsilon\lambda V' + \mathcal{O}\left(\epsilon^2\right).$$
(3.33)

Thus, in this example, we can reproduce the effects (3.30) of the derivative field redefinition, truncated to operators with 2 derivatives and up to 4 field insertions, by choosing the function $\lambda = -y\phi^3/6$.

This is far from a generic example; for more general (2-derivative) Lagrangians, derivative field redefinitions cannot be described by base-point preserving bundle morphisms of the kind we have described—but they can always be described as changes of section of the bundle. A relevant example here was discussed in appendix E of [33]; there, starting from a theory with zero Ricci scalar on the field space, a derivative field redefinition in the EFT was performed (motivated by a simple non-derivative rotation in the UV), that was found to introduce a singularity in the Ricci scalar; this could not occur if the metric is pushed forward under a diffeomorphism (since a diffeomorphism must act invertibly on tensors).

3.3.5. A limiting lemma. It is likely not even possible to remedy this by allowing for general bundle morphisms (f, \bar{f}) , as described by (3.8), which have a non-trivial morphism on the base manifold Σ . That is, allowing totally general bundle morphisms (even, in desperation, allowing for generic Poincaré violation) is still not enough to fully capture any old 'derivative change of section'. A big clue to this is the following lemma, which is admittedly proven for the case of vector bundles ([54], lemma 2.2.9):

Lemma 3.1. If (E, π, Σ) and (H, ρ, Σ') are vector bundles and (f, \overline{f}) : $(E, \pi, \Sigma) \to (H, \rho, \Sigma')$ is a vector bundle morphism such that \overline{f} is a diffeomorphism, then $\widetilde{f} : \Gamma((E, \pi, \Sigma)) \to \Gamma((H, \rho, \Sigma'))$ defined by $\widetilde{f}(\phi) = f \circ \phi \circ \overline{f}^{-1}$ is a module homomorphism over the ring isomorphism $\overline{f}^{-1*} : C^{\infty}(\Sigma) \to C^{\infty}(\Sigma')$

Crucially, a 'derivative change of section' such as $\phi(x) \mapsto \psi = \partial_{\mu}\phi(x)$ (abusing notation in the now-familiar way), or indeed the specific change of section (3.27) considered in the previous example, is not a module homomorphism over the ring of smooth functions, because differentiation does not commute with multiplication. The lemma then implies it is not possible to find any bundle morphism (f, \bar{f}) , where \bar{f} is a diffeomorphism, such that $\phi(x) \mapsto \partial_{\mu}\phi(x)$, since that would require the map to be a homomorphism.

In this and the previous section we have carefully reviewed and, we hope, refined the geometric picture of the 2-derivative term in scalar EFTs, and how one can think about field redefinitions geometrically as simply a change of section. In doing so we have laid the groundwork for extending this geometric approach to higher derivative terms. The key objects, mathematically, will be *jet bundles* of the original field space bundle *E*, and metrics that we will define thereon. Since jet bundles might be unfamiliar territory to most effective field theorists, in the next section we review the concept and necessary definitions. Our main reference is the textbook of Saunders [54].

4. Jet Bundles

Starting from the 'field space bundle' (E, Σ, π) , one can construct a sequence of associated manifolds of higher dimension, all themselves fibres bundles, called jet bundles. These jet bundles are indexed by an integer; there is a '1-jet bundle' denoted J^1E , a '2-jet bundle' J^2E , and so on; the '0-jet bundle' is just *E* itself. For our humble physics purposes, *r*-jet bundles with higher *r* will be needed to describe EFTs with more and more derivatives; the 1-jet bundle shall suffice to describe all terms (at least in SMEFT and HEFT) with *up to four derivatives*²¹.

Jets are built up from equivalence classes of sections, as follows. Starting from a fibre bundle (E, Σ, π) , with a local fibred coordinate system (x^{μ}, u^{i}) as introduced in section 3, we say that two local sections $\phi, \psi \in \Gamma_{x}(\pi)$ are 1-equivalent at the base point *x* if both their values and the values of their first derivatives agree there—but ϕ and ψ can disagree in their higher derivatives. Recalling our notation $\phi^{i}(x) := (u^{i} \circ \phi)(x)$ for the 'components' of a section (given local fibre coordinates u^{i}), then $\phi \sim \psi$ iff

$$\phi^{i}(x) = \psi^{i}(x)$$
, and $\frac{\partial \phi^{i}(x)}{\partial x^{\mu}} = \frac{\partial \psi^{i}(x)}{\partial x^{\mu}}$. (4.1)

It is easy to show that this equivalence relation is independent of the choice of coordinate chart on our patch of *E*. The 1-equivalence class containing a representative section ϕ is called the *1-jet of \phiatx*, denoted $j_x^1 \phi$. In a similar way, two local sections are *r*-equivalent at $x \in \Sigma$, for some $r \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$, if their first *r* derivatives agree at *x*; the *r*-equivalence class containing ϕ is the *r*-jet of ϕ at *x*, denoted $j_x^r \phi$.

The 1-jet bundle J^1E is then defined to be the set of 1-equivalence classes of sections,

$$J^{1}E = \left\{ j_{x}^{1}\phi \mid x \in \Sigma, \phi \in \Gamma_{x}(\pi) \right\}, \tag{4.2}$$

which moreover has a natural structure as a differentiable manifold. Continuing in a similar fashion, the *r*-jet bundle $J^r E$ is the set of *r*-equivalence classes of sections—or, more prosaically, is the space of field configurations that agree in their first *r* derivatives. The 0-jet bundle is defined to be $J^0 E = E$ itself.

Focussing our attention on the 1-jet bundle J^1E , from its definition one can define two (ordinary) fibre bundles with total space J^1E . One is a bundle over the original base space Σ , and the other is a bundle over the original bundle E^{22} :

$$\pi_1: J^1 E \to \Sigma: \ j_x^1 \phi \mapsto x, \tag{4.3}$$

$$\pi_{1,0}: J^1 E \to E: \ j^1_x \phi \mapsto \phi(x) \ . \tag{4.4}$$

²¹ The 1-jet bundle also has well-known mathematical physics applications in formal treatments of Lagrangian mechanics. See e.g. [54, 84, 85].

²² More generally, the $J^r E$ bundle can always be modelled as a fibre bundle over base space $J^{r-1}E$, or indeed as a fibre bundle over any $J^{q < r}E$. (There is natural inductive limit of the sequence $\{J^r E\}$ of jet bundles, that defines a space $J^{\infty}E$ [85]. One can model $J^{\infty}E$ by sections that agree as C^{∞} maps—we will not discuss this infinite order jet bundle here.).

These projections are sometimes referred to as the 'source' and 'target' bundles respectively, for obvious reasons. These projections are compatible with the original bundle structure of E, in that they clearly fit into a commutative diagram



involving the original projection $\pi: E \to \Sigma$. Thus, $\pi_1 = \pi \circ \pi_{1,0}$.

Local coordinates on the 1-jet bundle

Recall that we start from local coordinates (x^{μ}, u^{i}) on the fibre bundle *E*, or more precisely on an open set $\pi^{-1}(\mathcal{U}) \subset E$, and that a particular section $\phi : \Sigma \to E$ maps a point $x \in \Sigma$ to the point in *E* with coordinates $(x^{\mu}, \phi^{i}(x^{\mu}))$. The 1-jet bundle $J^{1}E$ then admits a set of induced local coordinates

$$\left(x^{\mu}, u^{i}, u^{i}_{\mu}\right). \tag{4.5}$$

The value of these coordinates at a point $j_x^1 \phi \in J^1 E$ are

$$x^{\mu} \circ j_x^1 \phi = x^{\mu}$$
, (spacetime points) (4.6)

$$u^i \circ j_x^1 \phi = \phi^i(x)$$
, (field values) (4.7)

$$u_{\mu}^{i} \circ j_{x}^{1} \phi = \frac{\partial \phi^{i}}{\partial x^{\mu}} \qquad (\text{first derivatives}). \tag{4.8}$$

Thus, the extra fibre coordinates in the 1-jet bundle (J^1E, Σ, π_1) encode the first derivatives of sections passing through that base point *x*—which is intuitive given the definition of a point $j_x^1\phi \in J^1E$ as the collection of all sections passing through *x* with the same value and first derivative there.

One can model the fibres of the bundle $(J^1E, E, \pi_{1,0})$, on which u^i_{μ} provide fibre coordinates, as vector spaces [85]

$$\pi_{1,0}^{-1}(x \in \Sigma, m \in M_x) \cong T_x^*(\Sigma) \otimes T_m(M) .$$

$$(4.9)$$

This structure is encoded in the placement of indices of the derivative coordinate u^i_{μ} ; it transforms as a vector with respect to its *i* index, and a co-vector with respect to its μ index. We will often call these extra coordinates u^i_{μ} 'derivative coordinates'.

Summarising, the induced fibre coordinates on (J^1E, Σ, π_1) , which evaluate on a section to $(\phi^i, \partial_\mu \phi^i)$, provide the familiar ingredients that we use to write down Lagrangians in field theory. The 1-jet bundle provides a coordinate-free description of this data. The geometry of $\Sigma, J^0E = E$ and J^1E , all of which play a big role in the EFT formalism developed in this paper, is summarized schematically in figure 1.

Lastly, it is easy to find the dimension of the 1-jet manifold. Starting with a general fibre bundle $E \to \Sigma$, with $\text{Dim}\Sigma = d$ and $\text{Dim}E - \text{Dim}\Sigma = n$ (the \mathbb{R} -dimension of the fibre, equivalently the number of real scalar fields), the $\{u_{\mu}^{i}\}$ provide dn extra coordinates. Then

$$\operatorname{Dim}(J^{1}E) = \operatorname{Dim}E + \mathrm{d}n = d + n + \mathrm{d}n.$$
(4.10)

Let's count the dimensions of J^1E for some examples:

- Real scalar field in d dimensions: $Dim(J^1E) = 2d + 1$ (see section 6.2);
- HEFT or SMEFT: $Dim(J^1E) = 24$ (see section 7).

Going further, the dimensions of the jet manifolds J'E quickly blow up when $d = \text{Dim}\Sigma$ is large; in general, it is easy to see that

$$Dim(J^{r}E) = d + n \frac{(d+r)!}{d!r!}.$$
(4.11)

For SMEFT or HEFT, we have $(J^2 E) = 64$ for the 2-jet bundle.

5. Higher-derivative EFTs from Jet Bundle Geometry

The 1-jet bundle, introduced in section 4, defines a bundle over spacetime with local fibre coordinates that we identify with scalar fields and their first derivatives. While these degrees of freedom are treated independently on the jet bundle, we always eventually pull back objects (like metrics) along sections, whereupon the relation between the field and its derivative is enforced (i.e. upon pullback u_{μ}^{i} will 'remember' that it is a derivative of u^{i}).

The key idea, from the EFT perspective, is that we can consider more general geometric structures involving higher-derivatives of fields in this larger space J^1E . In particular, we will see how defining different metrics on J^1E , equivalently 'measures of distance', encodes different scalar EFT Lagrangian with up to 4 spacetime derivatives acting on the fields. In this section we outline how this works, for a general scalar EFT. In Sections 6 and 7, we will apply this to specific examples including the HEFTs, which is our primary interest.

5.1. Defining geometry on the 1-jet bundle

The subject of *geometry* on jet bundles is not so widely explored in the mathematical literature. There are nonetheless 'natural metrics' that are induced on jet bundles $J^r E$, given a metric on the original bundle $E \xrightarrow{\pi} \Sigma$ that we take to be, locally, a product metric $\eta \oplus g$, with η flat (ignoring any potential contribution V(u) for now) and g(u) possibly curved, as described in section 2.1 and 3. To give the reader a flavour for geometry on jet bundles, we begin with a brief sketch of such a natural geometry on $J^1 E^{23}$, and see how it offers a starting point for constructing Lagrangians with 4-derivatives.

We want to define a Riemannian metric on J^1E considered as a manifold. We already saw that J^1E is itself a vector bundle $(J^1E, E, \pi_{1,0})$ with fibre $T_x^*(\Sigma) \otimes T_m(M)$. Defining a metric on J^1E means equipping the tangent bundle $T(J^1E)$ with an inner product

$$g^{(1)}: T(J^{1}E) \times_{J^{1}E} T(J^{1}E) \to \mathbb{R}$$

$$(5.1)$$

that is symmetric and non-degenerate, and that varies smoothly with the base coordinate $j_x^1 \phi$ (in other words, it is a tensor field on $J^1 E$). We use a notation whereby $g^{(r)}$ denotes a metric on

²³ Contact forms provide another source of natural geometries on jet bundles, which can also be used to define a class of 4-derivative EFT Lagrangians using the ideas in this paper.

the r-jet bundle J^rE. Now, the tangent bundle $T(J^1E)$ is isomorphic to the pullback bundle²⁴

$$T(J^{1}E) \cong \pi^{*} \left(J^{1}E \oplus TE \right) .$$
(5.2)

We can therefore build a (fibre-wise) inner product on $T(J^1E)$ (i.e. a metric on J^1E) out of (fibre-wise) inner products on the bundles J^1E and TE. The latter is just the metric on E, which we already stipulated is (locally) the product metric $\eta \oplus g$. The former is not much more complicated, given the fibre is $T_x^*(\Sigma) \otimes T_{\phi}(X)$; we define the inner product via η^{-1} and g. Note the *inverse* spacetime metric appears here, because we are contracting co-vectors with respect to spacetime, but vectors with respect to the target space.

Putting things together, we can express this 'natural' choice of metric, which recall is the one built from the metrics η and g that we already have at our disposal, in our local coordinate system:

$$g^{(1)} = \Lambda^4 \eta_{\mu\nu} \, \mathrm{d}x^{\mu} \otimes \mathrm{d}x^{\nu} + g_{ij}(u) \, \mathrm{d}u^i \otimes \mathrm{d}u^j + \frac{1}{\Lambda^2} \eta^{\mu\nu} g_{ij}(u) \, \mathrm{d}u^i_{\mu} \otimes \mathrm{d}u^j_{\nu}.$$
 (5.3)

We have introduced appropriate factors of Λ to give everything consistent dimensions.

5.2. Our first four-derivative Lagrangian

Now, starting from this metric on the jet bundle J^1E , which we intrepret as a 'derivativegeneralisation of field space', one can construct a Lagrangian using exactly the same recipe that we described for the 2-derivative Lagrangian in section 2.1. The only difference is that we now need to pull the metric $g^{(1)}$ all the way back to spacetime, and so we should use a section $j^1\phi$ of the fibre bundle (J^1E, Σ, π_1) introduced above.

In particular, given an original section ϕ of E (i.e. a scalar field configuration), let

$$j^{1}\phi \in \Gamma_{x}(\pi_{1}) \tag{5.4}$$

be its 'prolongation' to the 1-jet bundle, defined as the section of π_1 that passes through the 1-jet $j_x^1 \phi^{25}$. Evaluating on the coordinate chart, its components are simply

$$x^{\mu} \circ j^{1}\phi = x^{\mu}, \qquad u^{i} \circ j^{1}\phi = \phi^{i}(x), \qquad u^{i}_{\mu} \circ j^{1}\phi = \frac{\partial \phi^{i}}{\partial x^{\mu}}\Big|_{x}, \tag{5.5}$$

from (4.8).

We define the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{4\partial}\left[\phi,g^{(1)}\right] := \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \eta^{-1}, \left(j^{1}\phi\right)^{*}g^{(1)}\right\rangle,$$
(5.6)

²⁴ To show (5.2), we need some theorems concerning the structure of the tangent bundle of such a vector bundle. There is a short exact sequence of smooth vector bundles on *E*, namely $0 \rightarrow VE \rightarrow TE \rightarrow HE \rightarrow 0$, where the sub-bundle $VE := \ker d\pi$ is called the 'vertical bundle', and the quotient bundle HE = TE/VE is called the 'horizontal bundle'. Both these bundles are isomorphic to pullback bundles along π^* ; we have $VE \cong \pi^*E$, and $HE \cong \pi^*TY$, which gives rise to the isomorphism (5.2).

²⁵ Note that not every section of the 1-jet bundle $\pi_1: J^1 E \to \Sigma$ is a prolongation of a section ϕ of $\pi: E \to \Sigma$, where the latter is for us identified with a scalar field configuration. We are only interested in sections obtained in this way.

which we regard as a functional of the original section ϕ . Assuming the system of local coordinates set out in equations (4.5)–(4.8), this gives the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}_{4\partial}\left[\phi,g^{(1)}\right] = \frac{1}{2}\eta^{\mu\nu}g_{ij}\left(\phi\left(x\right)\right)\partial_{\mu}\phi^{i}\partial_{\nu}\phi^{j} + \frac{1}{2\Lambda^{2}}\eta^{\rho\sigma}\eta^{\mu\nu}g_{ij}\left(\phi\left(x\right)\right)\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\mu}\phi^{i}\partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\nu}\phi^{j}, \quad (5.7)$$

up to a cosmological constant term coming from the first term in (5.3) that we can neglect when doing flat-space quantum field theory (although its natural appearance seems intriguing nonetheless).

Let us pause to make some further comments. First and foremost, we have shown that defining a geometry on the 1-jet bundle naturally 'refines' our original 2-derivative Lagrangian, as constructed from field space geometry in section 2.1, by a particular 4-derivative 'correction' term that is also geometric in origin. This is already, to our knowledge, a novel result in the context of EFT.

We can try to unpack the particular Lagrangian that we have obtained, which is clearly not yet general, in the case of the HEFTs. Let us therefore take Σ to be flat 4d spacetime and the target space *M* is a real 4-manifold equipped with the *SO*(4) group action σ_S for SMEFT, say. We can, for illustration, keep only terms in the Lagrangian (5.7) that have *two field* insertions. This is equivalent to taking only the leading term in the expansion of the original σ_S -invariant metric,

$$g_{ij}\left(u^{i}\right) = \delta_{ij} + \dots \tag{5.8}$$

In this limit, and contracting the various indices, the Lagrangian (5.7) becomes

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\mu} \phi + \frac{1}{2\Lambda^{2}} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} \phi + \mathcal{O}\left(\phi^{4}\right).$$
(5.9)

Interestingly, we recover the most general SMEFT Lagrangian with *up to two fields and up to four derivatives*. The SM can, as for the purely 2-derivative case, be obtained by taking the cut-off scale $\Lambda \rightarrow \infty$, which decouples all the non-renormalisable operators from the EFT.

5.3. General geometries for general Lagrangians

In the previous two Subsections, we considered a metric on J^1E that is 'natural', mathematically, given the geometry we started with on the field space bundle *E*. We found that this metric delivered a 4-derivative EFT Lagrangian, via the 'obvious map' to Lagrangians specified by equation (5.6). Unsurprisingly, if we start from such a naturally induced metric on J^1E , this will only ever get us a 4-derivative term whose form is determined by the 2-derivative terms already present in the action. For a general EFT description, we of course want to consider 4derivative terms that are independent of the 2-derivative terms. This suggests that our geometry on the 1-jet bundle J^1E should introduce *new* structures not already present in the geometry of the field space bundle *E*.

This poses no problem, and in a sense simplifies the picture. One can shortcut the mathematical niceties of section 5.1, and instead take a more pedestrian approach that we are used to as physicists; to wit, we should consider the *most general geometry on the 1-jet bundle that is consistent with symmetry*. This is, after all, the most natural approach to take in the spirit of EFT!

General Poincaré invariant 1-jet metrics

We will, however, make rather stringent assumptions about the structure and symmetry of spacetime, to simplify our discussion (and specialise to those EFTs we are most interested in as high-energy physicists). As previously, we fix spacetime to be $\Sigma = \mathbb{R}^{1,3}$, flat Minkowski in *d* spacetime dimensions with metric $\eta = \eta_{\mu\nu} dx^{\mu} \otimes dx^{\nu} = dt^2 - d\vec{x} \cdot d\vec{x}^{26}$. We moreover enforce Poincaré symmetry on the jet bundle geometry. In practice, this means we must contract all μ indices (that derive from both the base space coordinates x^{μ} and the derivative coordinates u_{μ}^{i}) to make Lorentz invariants, but we do not form contractions with x^{μ} vectors since that would break translations (nor can any explicit *x* dependence appear in the metric components). We will discuss symmetries on the jet bundle again in section 5.5, using the language of bundle morphisms (building on section 3.3).

So, let us write down the most general such metric, in our local coordinates. We keep all terms, including 'cross-terms' that mix different types of jet bundle coordinates:

$$g^{(1)} = \begin{pmatrix} dx^{\mu} & du^{i} & du^{i}_{\mu} \end{pmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} g^{(1)} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} dx^{\nu} \\ du^{j} \\ du^{j}_{\nu} \end{pmatrix}, \\ \begin{bmatrix} g^{(1)} \end{bmatrix} = \begin{pmatrix} \Lambda^{4}g_{\mu\nu}(\dots) & \Lambda^{2}g_{\mu j}(\dots) & g^{\nu}_{\mu j}(\dots) \\ \Lambda^{2}g_{\nu i}(\dots) & g_{i j}(\dots) & \frac{1}{\Lambda}g^{\nu}_{i j}(\dots) \\ g^{\mu}_{\nu i}(\dots) & \frac{1}{\Lambda}g^{\mu}_{i j}(\dots) & \frac{1}{\Lambda^{2}}g^{\mu\nu}_{i j}(\dots) \end{pmatrix}.$$
(5.10)

Because the derivative coordinates themselves have *pairs* of indices, one upstairs and one downstairs, it is convenient to use the same index notation for the components of the metric; thus, a component such as g_{ij}^{μ} or $g_{ij}^{\mu\nu}$ still has two downstairs jet bundle indices (i.e. all metric components are of course components of a (0, 2) tensor, never a 3- or 4-tensor), but taken with respect to one (or two) derivative coordinates respectively. The (...) record the fact that, in general and before imposing any symmetry, each metric component is a functions of *all* the jet bundle coordinates—including the 'derivative coordinates'. Symmetry will of course restrict the form of these components dramatically.

Upon pulling back a general metric of the form (5.10) along a section $j^1\phi$ of the jet bundle (J^1E, Σ, π_1) and forming the Lagrangian (5.6), one obtains the following Lagrangian terms:

$$\mathcal{L}\left[\phi,g^{(1)}\right] = \eta^{\rho\sigma} \left[\frac{1}{2}\Lambda^{4}\delta^{\mu}_{\rho}\delta^{\nu}_{\sigma}g_{\mu\nu}\left(\phi,\partial\phi\right) + \Lambda^{2}\delta^{\mu}_{\rho}g_{\mu j}\left(\phi,\partial\phi\right)\partial_{\sigma}\phi^{j} + \Lambda\delta^{\mu}_{\rho}g^{\nu}_{\mu j}\left(\phi,\partial\phi\right)\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\nu}\phi^{i} + \frac{1}{2}g_{i j}\left(\phi,\partial\phi\right)\partial_{\rho}\phi^{i}\partial_{\sigma}\phi^{j} + \frac{1}{2\Lambda}g^{\mu}_{i j}\left(\phi,\partial\phi\right)\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\mu}\phi^{i}\partial_{\sigma}\phi^{j} + \frac{1}{2\Lambda}g^{\nu}_{i j}\left(\phi,\partial\phi\right)\partial_{\rho}\phi^{i}\partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\nu}\phi^{j} + \frac{1}{2\Lambda^{2}}g^{\mu\nu}_{i j}\left(\phi,\partial\phi\right)\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\mu}\phi^{i}\partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\nu}\phi^{j}\right].$$
(5.11)

Let us unpack this general form of the Lagrangian a little. First, we highlight in magenta the piece of this Lagrangian that is captured by the usual field space geometry picture,

²⁶ Lest there is any confusion, the scalar field theory Lagrangian will be defined in terms of a geometry on the 1-jet bundle $\pi_1 : J^1 E \to \Sigma$, and we equip $J^1 E$ with a geometry (i.e. a metric $g^{(1)}$) that is independent of the geometry on spacetime. In particular, the metric components in the 'base space directions' of $J^1 E$ need not agree with those components of η , the metric on Σ .

as in equation (2.8). In fact, this g_{ij} term is *already more general* than the 2-derivative Lagrangian (2.8), because the component function $g_{ij}(\phi, \partial \phi)$ is itself a function of first derivatives, and so this term already includes a subset of 4-derivative EFT operators (and indeed operators with > 4 derivatives), not just 2-derivative operators.

Another important remark to make is that we also capture terms with *fewer* than 2-derivatives from this geometry, coming from the first two terms on the RHS of (5.11) – we already saw this feature in section 3 when describing the 2-derivative EFT using the field space bundle picture (which is equivalent to formulating the theory geometrically on the '0-jet bundle' $J^0 E = E$). In particular, the first term

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \eta^{\mu\nu} \Lambda^4 g_{\mu\nu} \left(\phi, \partial \phi \right) \tag{5.12}$$

can encode an arbitrary scalar potential contribution; taking $g_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{d}\eta_{\mu\nu}V(\phi/\Lambda) + \dots$, and Taylor expanding, the preceding equation becomes

$$\mathcal{L} \supset \Lambda^4 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} V_n \left(\frac{\phi}{\Lambda}\right)^n.$$
(5.13)

In the case of SMEFT or HEFT, when we impose O(4) symmetry and so forbid terms with odd powers of ϕ , this contains the (super-)renormalisable terms $c + \mu^2 \phi^2 - \lambda \phi^4$ appearing in the SM, where $c = \Lambda^4 V_0$, $\mu^2 = \Lambda^2 V_2$ and $\lambda = -V_4^{27}$. We emphasize that, in the usual geometric approaches, the scalar potential does not have a geometric origin but rather is added as an extra ingredient in defining the EFT—see our discussion in section 2.2.

Let us return to non-renormalisable operators, with more derivatives. Because all of the metric components in (5.11) are arbitrary functions of ϕ and $\partial \phi$, the Lagrangian (5.11) contains operators with arbitrary numbers of derivatives—but not all such terms—in a similar way to the usual geometric Lagrangian (2.8) containing operators with arbitrary numbers of fields. The more precise statement here is that the 1-jet bundle geometric Lagrangian (5.11) yields operators with

$$D \leqslant N+2 \tag{5.14}$$

where *D* is the number of derivatives in the operator, and *N* is the number of fields. The reason for the +2 on the RHS of (5.14) is the same reason that the ordinary field space geometry (equivalently, the J^0E case) describes 2-derivative terms, namely because there are already two derivatives due to g being a (0, 2) tensor.

We do not claim, in this fully general EFT without any symmetries, that we capture *all* operators satisfying (5.14); to answer this would require careful counting of non-redundant operators with unbounded mass dimension (since N can be taken arbitrarily large), which is clearly difficult. Adapting Hilbert series techniques (see e.g. [86, 87]) to jet bundle 'field space' might provide helpful tools for tackling such completeness questions (should they be interesting). A more practical approach is to truncate the general Lagrangian (5.11) and count e.g. all operators with a maximum number of derivatives. For the 1-jet bundle, we are able to count operators in the examples considered in section 6 and section 7, including for HEFT and SMEFT, accounting for all IBPs redundancies; in all cases, we find the complete basis of operators with up to 4-derivatives is covered by the Lagrangian (5.11). In fact, we prove in

²⁷ Of course, tiny values are required for V_0 and V_2 , given any viable EFT cutoff scale Λ ; this manifests the (tree-level) cosmological constant and electroweak hierarchy problems.

general that by pulling back a 1-jet bundle metric one obtains a complete non-redundant basis of 0-, 2-, and 4-derivative operators for any scalar EFT. See appendix **B**.

Passing to higher jet bundles, one captures more and more operators (with more and more derivatives, relative to the number of fields); specifically, for an *r*-jet bundle geometry, one can obtain operators with

$$D \leqslant rN + 2 \tag{5.15}$$

number of derivatives; those operators with (r-1)N < D-2 < rN would *not* have already been captured by the (r-1)-jet bundle geometry. We thus see how going to higher jet bundles systematically captures more and more operators in the EFT, and so provides a natural organising principle for the EFT expansion. Indeed, one can prove that the *r*-jet bundle geometry can capture a complete basis of operators in a general scalar EFT with up to 2(r+1) derivatives again, see appendix B.

We will use 1-jet bundles to study several examples of scalar field theories in section 6, culminating in a geometric formulation of the HEFTs, including all operators containing up to 4 derivatives, in section 7. Before we get into the nitty gritty of these examples, in the remainder of this section we want to dig a bit deeper into how field redefinitions might be described in this context, and how the various notions of 'bundle morphism' described in section 3.3 lift to the 1-jet bundle description. This will also allow a more general formulation of symmetries on the jet bundles.

5.4. Field redefinitions are (prolonged) changes of section

To recap, in the 'bundle formulation' of a scalar field theory that we described in section 3, we identified scalar fields with local sections $\phi \in \Gamma_x(\pi)$ of bundles (E, Σ, π) over spacetime Σ (3.1). A field redefinition, in general, was identified as a change of section $\phi \mapsto \psi \in \Gamma_x(\pi)$. Furthermore, for the special class of field redefinitions that are 'non-derivative', this is equivalent to doing a base-point preserving bundle morphism $(f, \overline{f}) = (f_E : E \to E, id_\Sigma : \Sigma \to \Sigma)$.

Upon passing to the 1-jet bundle (J^1, Σ, π_1) , which we suggest provides the right geometric ingredients for constructing EFT Lagrangians with more derivatives, the section ϕ is promoted to its prolongation $j^1\phi \in \Gamma_x(\pi_1)$, a section of the 1-jet bundle. This is uniquely determined by the original section ϕ , simply by $j^1\phi(x) = j_x^1\phi$, the 1-jet of ϕ at x. The natural notion of a 'field redefinition' in this picture is therefore sending

$$j^1\phi\mapsto j^1\psi,$$
 (5.16)

the result of which is also a section of the 1-jet bundle π_1 . We can think of this as a 'prolongation' of the field redefinition $\phi \rightarrow \psi$. Since the Lagrangian will be defined by pulling back objects (a metric) from (J^1E, Σ, π_1) along a section, this tells us how we can implement the field redefinition at the level of the Lagrangian—it is straightforward to check that the Lagrangian transforms in the 'right way' (see section 5.5.4 for some more-or-less trivial examples). We believe this can accommodate any (possibly derivatively-dependent, but sufficiently smooth) field redefinition.

5.5. Morphisms on the jet bundle

The notion of bundle morphisms that we gave in section 3.3, and used to describe nonderivative field redefinitions and (internal and spacetime) symmetries, can be promoted to a
notion of morphism on the 1-jet bundle (which extends suitably to higher *r*-jet bundles), which we describe in this section.

5.5.1. Prolongation of bundle morphisms. We start with the notion of bundle morphism (f, f) introduced in equation (3.6), where we straightaway fix both bundles to have the same base and total space. Going to the 1-jet bundle J^1E , the prolongated morphism j^1f is defined by its action on points in the jet bundle J^1E , which recall are jets $j_x^1\phi$, by [54]

$$j^{1}\left(f,\overline{f}\right)\left(j_{x}^{1}\phi\right) = j^{1}_{\overline{f}(x)}\left(f\circ\phi\circ\overline{f}^{-1}\right)$$
(5.17)

where \bar{f}^{-1} is the inverse of \bar{f} , which we assume to be a (local) diffeomorphism. The commutative diagram (3.6) is extended to

$$J^{1}E \xrightarrow{j^{1}f} J^{1}E$$

$$\downarrow^{\pi_{1,0}} \qquad \downarrow^{\rho_{1,0}}$$

$$E \xrightarrow{f} E$$

$$\downarrow^{\pi} \qquad \downarrow^{\rho}$$

$$\Sigma \xrightarrow{\bar{f}} \Sigma$$

$$(5.18)$$

Specialising to the case of bundle morphisms that act trivially on the base (3.8), i.e. taking $\bar{f} = id_{\Sigma}$, Equation (5.17) simplifies to

$$j^{1}(f)(j^{1}_{x}\phi) = j^{1}_{x}(f \circ \phi).$$
(5.19)

The commutative diagram (5.18) then simplifies to

$$J^{1}E \xrightarrow{j^{1}f} J^{1}E$$

$$\downarrow^{\pi_{1,0}} \qquad \downarrow^{\rho_{1,0}}$$

$$E \xrightarrow{f} E$$

$$\Sigma \xrightarrow{\rho} \qquad (5.20)$$

Recall $\pi_1 = \pi_{1,0} \circ \pi$ and likewise $\rho_1 = \rho_{1,0} \circ \rho$. For two sections $j^1 \phi \in \Gamma_x(\pi_1)$ and $j^1 \psi \in \Gamma_x(\rho_1)$, the 'prolonged' commutative diagram implies the relation

$$j^1\psi = j^1f \circ j^1\phi \tag{5.21}$$

between sections, analogous to (3.11).

We can obtain the coordinate representation of the prolongated diffeomorphism $j^1 f$ by taking the composition with the various coordinate functions. For the original base and 'field space coordinates' x^{μ} and u^i , we get

$$x^{\mu} \circ j^{1} f = x^{\mu} \circ \rho_{1} \circ j^{1} f = x^{\mu},$$
(5.22)

$$u^{i} \circ j^{1} f = u^{i} \circ \rho_{1,0} \circ j^{1} f = u^{i} \circ f.$$
(5.23)

That is, the prolongated morphism $j^1 f$ acts exactly as f on the x^{μ} and u^i components (remembering our restriction that the bundle morphism f acts trivially on the base space). Lastly, for

the derivative coordinates u_{μ}^{i} , we can deduce their transformation under $j^{1}f$ by considering the action on a particular jet $j_{x}^{1}\phi^{28}$:

$$\begin{aligned} \left(u_{\mu}^{i}\circ j^{1}f\right)\left(j_{x}^{1}\phi\right) &= \partial_{\mu}\left(u^{i}\circ(f\circ\phi)\right)\Big|_{x} \\ &= \partial_{\mu}\left(u^{i}\circ f\right)\Big|_{x} + \partial_{\mu}\left(u^{j}\circ\phi\right)\Big|_{x}\frac{\partial\left(u^{i}\circ f\right)}{\partial u^{j}}\Big|_{x} \\ &= \partial_{\mu}\left(u^{i}\circ f\right)\Big|_{x} + u_{\mu}^{j}\frac{\partial\left(u^{i}\circ f\right)}{\partial u^{j}}\Big|_{x}. \end{aligned}$$

$$(5.24)$$

One can think of this as a 'total derivative' of the transformed coordinate functions $u^i \circ f$; it follows essentially from applying the chain rule. To summarize, we can write the prolongated bundle morphism as:

$$j^{1}f:\left(x^{\mu},u^{i},u^{i}_{\mu}\right)\mapsto\left(x^{\mu},f^{i},\partial_{\mu}f^{i}+u^{j}_{\mu}\partial_{j}f^{i}\right),$$
(5.25)

in our local fibred coordinates, where $f^i(x^{\mu}, u^j) = u^i \circ f$ as in section 3.3.

The construction we have described for prolonging a bundle morphism from $\pi : E \to \Sigma$ to its 1-jet bundle $\pi_1 : J^1 \to \Sigma$ can be extended straightforwardly to the higher-jet bundles. Since on the physics side we focus on J^1E in this paper, we omit details of this construction here.

5.5.2. Prolonging internal and spacetime symmetries to the 1-jet bundle. In section 3.3.1 we defined notions of internal and spacetime symmetries as bundle morphisms satisfying particular conditions. Namely, all symmetries leave the Lagrangian invariant; internal symmetries are base-point preserving bundle morphisms, which in local coordinates can be expressed as $f_g: (x^{\mu}, u^i) \mapsto (x^{\mu}, f^i_g(u^i, x^{\mu}))$; spacetime symmetries have a non-trivial action on the base space Σ of the bundle. We discussed the particular cases of the HEFTs in section 3.3.1.

How do these symmetries act on the 1-jet bundle? Having phrased symmetries in the above language of bundle morphisms, there is an obvious way to 'lift' them to the 1- and higher-jet bundles using the notion of prolongation, that we have introduced in this section.

Prolonging an internal symmetry

For an internal symmetry, we can directly apply the formula (5.25) for the prolongation of a base-point preserving bundle morphism, which we have for each group element $g \in G$, our symmetry Lie group. The set of prolonged symmetry morphisms are²⁹

$$j^{1}f_{g}:\left(x^{\mu},u^{i},u^{i}_{\mu}\right)\mapsto\left(x^{\mu},f^{i}_{g},\partial_{\mu}f^{i}_{g}+u^{j}_{\mu}\partial_{j}f^{i}_{g}\right),\quad\forall g\in G$$
(5.26)

For the SMEFT/HEFT symmetries, we can, at least in a coordinate patch, write $f_{O \in O(4)} = \sigma(O, u^i)$, for $\sigma = \sigma_S$ or σ_H in the case of SMEFT or HEFT respectively. Let us unpack this further in the case of SMEFT, for illustration, in which the group action in our coordinate chart of choice is linear:

$$f^i = O^i_j u^j, (5.27)$$

²⁸ We reiterate that all formulae here are for the specific subset of bundle morphisms that act trivially on the base.
²⁹ As usual, all morphisms and prolongations thereof are understood to be only *local* here; the formulae we write are valid only in certain open submanifolds coordinatized by certain charts; in other words, all manifolds appearing in commutative diagrams such as (5.20) should be understood as open submanifolds of the objects written.

where O_j^i is a constant O(4) matrix in the fundamental representation. Notice that, in addition to being an *internal* symmetry, it is also a *global* symmetry, in the usual physicist's sense, which is a restricted kind of base-point preserving morphism. (It is the same restriction we have often imposed when viewing field redefinitions as morphisms, where we appealed to Poincaré invariance as our justification.) Thus, $\partial_{\mu} f^i = 0$ while $\partial_j f^i = O_j^i$. The prolongation of the internal O(4) symmetries to the 1-jet bundle is thus given by the set of morphisms:

$$\{j^{1}f_{O}: (x^{\mu}, u^{i}, u^{i}_{\mu}) \mapsto (x^{\mu}, O^{i}_{j}u^{j}, O^{i}_{j}u^{j}_{\mu}) \qquad \forall O \in O(4)\}.$$
(5.28)

exactly as one would naïvely expect. In practice, this means that one forms O(4)-invariants (say, when constructing invariant metrics on the 1-jet bundle, and thence invariant Lagrangians) by contracting the upper case *i* indices wherever they appear both in the u^i coordinates *and* in the derivative coordinates u^i_{μ} . The simplicity of this group action, which could hardly have been otherwise, will be frequently invoked in section 7 when we finally turn to constructing the 4-derivative HEFT Lagrangians.

Prolonging a spacetime symmetry

Starting from the field space bundle (E, Σ, π) , a spacetime symmetry is a collection of bundle morphisms (f, \bar{f}) for which \bar{f} is a non-trivial diffeomorphism on the base space. The Poincaré group action for our Lorentz-invariant EFTs is still specified by equation (3.18). The prolonging of a spacetime symmetry requires the more general version shown in equations (5.17) and (5.18). This requires the generalisation of equations (5.22)–(5.24) to the case where \bar{f} is non-trivial. (We refer the interested reader to section 4.2 of the book [54] for these more general formulae, which we only use explicitly here). The prolongation of the Poincaré symmetry morphisms (3.18) gives:

$$\left\{j^{1}f_{a,L}:\left(x^{\mu},u^{i},u^{i}_{\mu}\right)\mapsto\left(L^{\mu}_{\nu}x^{\nu}+a^{\mu},u^{i},\left(L^{-1}\right)^{\nu}_{\mu}u^{i}_{\nu}\right)\qquad\forall(a,L)\in O\left(1,3\right)\right\}.$$
(5.29)

Notice that while the Poincaré action is non-linear on the x^{μ} coordinates, including the effects of translations, this does not appear in the group action on the derivative coordinates upon prolonging the symmetry. Moreover, notice that it is the inverse matrix L^{-1} that appears multiplying the derivative coordinates. Again, as for the O(4) internal indices, the straightforward action of the prolonged spacetime symmetry on the derivative coordinates means that we can treat the μ index exactly as we would any other Lorentz index when forming Lorentz-invariant contractions; namely, we should contract with the Minkowski metric $\eta^{\mu\nu}$ on spacetime, as we do everywhere in the examples that follow in sections 6 and 7.

5.5.3. Non-derivative field redefinitions (last time!). Again, analogous to the situation we described in section 3.3, not any change of prolonged section $j^1\phi \rightarrow j^1\psi$ can be obtained by prolonging a bundle morphism, as in (5.20). Indeed, the same considerations of section 3.3, noting in particular the lemma discussed in section 3.3.5, suggest that a morphism j^1f on the 1-jet bundle cannot reproduce the effects of a derivative field redefinition (except under special circumstances, analogous to those considered in example 3.3.4)³⁰, but can reproduce the effects of non-derivative field redefinitions. It is important to check, as we do in this Subsection, that

 $^{^{30}}$ Later in section 6.2, we will perform an analogous exercise to that in section 3.3.4; for a scalar field theory at the 4-derivative level, which is described by geometry on the 1-jet bundle, we ask when (if ever) a prolonged bundle morphism can reproduce the effects of a *derivative* field redefinition.

non-derivative field redefinitions are still implemented consistently by prolonging the bundle morphism f to $i^1 f$.

Recall that a general Lagrangian (with up to 4 derivatives) is, in this formulation, obtained by pulling back a metric $g^{(1)}$ from the 1-jet bundle to Σ along a section $j^1 \phi \in \Gamma_x(\pi_1)$, given an initial section $\phi \in \Gamma_x(\pi)$, before contracting with the inverse metric on spacetime:

$$\mathcal{L}\left[\phi,g^{(1)}\right] = \frac{1}{2} \langle \eta^{-1}, \left(j^{1}\phi\right)^{*} g^{(1)} \rangle.$$

Doing a prolongated bundle morphism $j^1 f: J^1 E \to J^1 E$ on the 1-jet bundle, obtained from a morphism $f: E \to E$ via (5.20), which is itself a diffeomorphism on $J^1 E$ considered as a manifold, the metric changes via the usual transformation law

$$g^{(1)} = g_{IJ}^{(1)}(\mathbf{x}) \, \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}^{I} \otimes \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}^{J} \mapsto \left(j^{1}f\right)^{*} g^{(1)} = g_{KL}^{(1)}\left(\mathbf{x} \circ j^{1}f\right) \frac{\partial \mathbf{j}^{1} \mathbf{f}^{K}}{\partial \mathbf{x}^{I}} \frac{\partial \mathbf{j}^{1} \mathbf{f}^{L}}{\partial \mathbf{x}^{J}} \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}^{I} \otimes \mathrm{d}\mathbf{x}^{J},$$
(5.30)

where we employ a compact notation in which

$$\left\{\mathbf{x}^{I}\right\} = \left\{x^{\mu}, u^{i}, x^{i}_{\mu}\right\}$$
(5.31)

runs over all the 1-jet bundle coordinates, and here $\mathbf{j}^{\mathbf{1}} \mathbf{f}^{l} = \mathbf{x}^{l} \circ j^{1} f$. When we pull back the transformed metric along the *original* section $j^{1}\phi$, we get

$$(j^{1}\phi)^{*}(j^{1}f)^{*}(g^{(1)}) = g_{KL}^{(1)}(\mathbf{x}\circ j^{1}f\circ j^{1}\phi) \frac{\partial(\mathbf{x}^{K}\circ j^{1}f\circ j^{1}\phi)}{\partial\mathbf{x}^{I}} \frac{\partial(\mathbf{x}^{L}\circ j^{1}f\circ j^{1}\phi)}{\partial\mathbf{x}^{J}} \times d(\mathbf{x}^{I}\circ j^{1}\phi) \otimes d(\mathbf{x}^{I}\circ j^{1}\phi) .$$

$$(5.32)$$

This can be expanded out in the various pieces, analogous to the expansion (5.11), using equations (5.25) and (5.5) to evaluate objects like $\mathbf{x} \circ j^1 f \circ j^1 \phi$, but the result would be very cumbersome and so we do not write it explicitly.

5.5.4. Example: free particle quantum mechanics. To see a more explicit expression, it is helpful to lose this full generality and consider a specific example. We consider the quantum mechanics of a single real scalar field, described by a 1d sigma model on $M = \mathbb{R}$ (we will treat this example in full generality in section 6.1), for which we view a field as a section ϕ of a bundle ($E \cong \mathbb{R}_t \times \mathbb{R}_u, \mathbb{R}_t, \pi : (t, u) \mapsto t$). The 1-jet bundle is just 3-dimensional, on which we specify an initial fibred coordinate system (t, u, u_t) . We start from the simplest viable Lagrangian, just $\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^2$ that describes a free particle. As mentioned at the end of section 6.1, one valid choice of metric is³¹

$$g^{(1)} = u \,\mathrm{d}t \,\mathrm{d}u_t + 2 \,\mathrm{d}u \,\mathrm{d}u \,. \tag{5.33}$$

³¹ One cannot take $g^{(1)} = dtdt + dudu$ on the 1-jet bundle, because that is not invertible and so does not define a metric.

To recap, given a section $\phi: t \mapsto (t, \phi(t))$ which we prolong, this gives the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}\left[\phi, g^{(1)}\right] = \frac{1}{2} \langle \eta^{-1}, \left(j^{1}\phi\right)^{*} g^{(1)} \rangle = \frac{1}{2} \phi \,\ddot{\phi} + \dot{\phi}^{2} \sim \frac{1}{2} \dot{\phi}^{2}$$
(5.34)

after using IBPs.

Now, consider the base-point preserving bundle morphism

$$f:(t,u)\mapsto(t,u^2), \tag{5.35}$$

which, similar to the field theory example considered in section 2.3, implements a nonderivative field redefinition sending our initial section ϕ to a section ψ whose components satisfy $\psi = \phi^2$. Applying equation (5.25), the prolongation of this morphism to the 1-jet bundle is

$$j^{1}f:(t,u,u_{t})\mapsto\left(t,u^{2},2uu_{t}\right),$$
(5.36)

as expected from the chain rule. Now apply this morphism to the metric $g^{(1)}$, using (5.30), to obtain

$$g^{(1)} \mapsto \left(j^{1} f\right)^{*} g^{(1)} = 2u^{2} u_{t} dt \, du + 2u^{3} dt \, du_{t} + 8u^{2} du \, du \,.$$
(5.37)

Finally, pulling this back and forming the transformed Lagrangian gives

$$\mathcal{L}\left[\phi, \left(j^{1}f\right)^{*}g^{(1)}\right] = \frac{1}{2}\langle\eta^{-1}, \left(j^{1}\phi\right)^{*}\left(j^{1}f\right)^{*}g^{(1)}\rangle = \phi^{2}\dot{\phi}^{2} + \phi^{3}\ddot{\phi} + 4\phi^{2}\dot{\phi}^{2} \stackrel{\text{IBPs}}{\sim} 2\phi^{2}\dot{\phi}^{2}, \quad (5.38)$$

after doing IBPs. We see that the formulae for prolonging the bundle morphism to the 1jet, where the original morphism corresponds to a particular non-derivative field redefinition, gives the consistent transformation of the Lagrangian when computed using a 1-jet metric. We expect the same applies for any non-derivative field redefinition, which we would write as $\phi \mapsto \psi = \phi^2$ at the level of coordinates implemented via the general formula (5.25), and for general Lagrangians (with up to 4-derivatives).

Derivative field redefinitions

We emphasize that, mirroring our discussion in section 3.3 of 2-derivative Lagrangians using the field space bundle picture, one can always implement more general derivative field redefinitions just by pulling back the metric $g^{(1)}$ along a different section $j^{1}\psi$, as described in section 5.4; but, in this more general situation, one loses the equivalent description in terms of a prolongated morphism on the jet bundle.

We can exhibit this by considering an explicit derivative field redefinition, still in the context of this QM example for simplicity. Consider a change of section $\phi \rightarrow \psi$ which, in components, is defined by $\phi \rightarrow \psi = \phi - \epsilon \ddot{\phi}$, analogous to the field theory example (3.27). Starting from the same metric (3.27) describing the free particle (when pulled back along $j^{1}\phi$), but pulling back along the different section ψ , we get

$$\mathcal{L}\left[\phi,g^{(1)}\right] \mapsto \mathcal{L}\left[\psi,g^{(1)}\right] = \frac{1}{2} \langle \eta^{-1}, \left(j^{1}\psi\right)^{*} g^{(1)} \rangle$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \langle \partial_{t} \otimes \partial_{t}, dt \otimes dt \rangle \left(\left(u \circ j^{1}\psi\right) \partial_{t} \left(u_{t} \circ j^{1}\psi\right) + 2\partial_{t} \left(u \circ j^{1}\psi\right) \partial_{t} \left(u \circ j^{1}\psi\right)\right)$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \left(\phi - a\ddot{\phi}\right) \partial_{t} \left(\dot{\phi} - a\ddot{\phi}\right) + \partial_{t} \left(\phi - a\ddot{\phi}\right)^{2}$$

$$= \frac{1}{2} \left(\phi\ddot{\phi} - a\ddot{\phi}^{2} - a\phi\ddot{\phi} + a^{2}\ddot{\phi}\ddot{\phi}\right) + \left(\dot{\phi} - a\ddot{\phi}\right)^{2} \overset{\text{IBPs}}{\sim} \frac{1}{2} \left(\dot{\phi} - a\ddot{\phi}\right)^{2}.$$
(5.39)

As for the example considered above in section 3.3.4, the formulae for implementing this field redefinition are essentially trivial. Changing section corresponds to 'subbing in' $\mathbf{x} \circ \psi$ everywhere in place of $\mathbf{x} \circ \phi$, which are precisely the manipulations one would do to 'change fields' at the level of the Lagrangian.

6. Examples

In this section we consider concrete examples of scalar field theories, to better acquaint the reader with the jet bundle formalism described in section 4, and the notion of geometry thereon (section 5). The examples start simple and increase in complexity.

6.1. Quantum mechanics on the line

We begin with an example that could not be much simpler, namely the quantum mechanics of a point particle moving on the real line $M \cong \mathbb{R}$, which is described by a (0+1)-dimensional sigma model on \mathbb{R} . The 1-jet bundle is here only 3-dimensional, meaning it is feasible to write down metrics explicitly and thereby get a feel for the general formalism.

It is worth remarking that, in 0 + 1 dimensions, the scalar field ϕ has negative (classical) mass dimension, and so operators with more insertions of the field ϕ become more and more relevant (in contrast to the story we are used to in 3 + 1 dimensions). Therefore, the 'EFT expansion' we consider in this section should be regarded as a formal construction, in which we expand in both number of fields and number of derivatives, not to be interpreted as an expansion in increasingly irrelevant operators.

The sigma model field is simply a real function $\phi : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R} : t \mapsto \phi(t)$. For our symmetries, we take a pair of $O(1) \cong \mathbb{Z}_2$ factors that act as inversions on both the source and target lines:

$$T: t \mapsto -t, \qquad (\text{time reversal}), \qquad (6.1)$$
$$P: \phi \mapsto -\phi, \qquad (\text{parity}). \qquad (6.2)$$

This defines a simple toy quantum field theory to which we can apply the jet bundle formalism, which nonetheless is structurally similar to the HEFTs; the $O(1)_t \times O(1)_u$ symmetry, like the $O(3,1)_{\Sigma} \times O(4)_M$ of the HEFT or SMEFT, allows only terms with even numbers of derivatives, and even numbers of fields.

The first step is to pass from the formulation in terms of maps to field space $M \cong \mathbb{R}$, to the formulation in which the scalar field is a section of a bundle *E*. For simplicity, let us take the field space bundle here to be (globally) a product manifold, $E = \mathbb{R}_t \times \mathbb{R}_u \to \mathbb{R}_t$, on which our field

$$\phi: t \mapsto (t, \phi(t)) \tag{6.3}$$

is a section. The 1-jet bundle $J^{1}E$ can then be modelled as the real 3-manifold

$$J^{1}E \cong T^{*}\mathbb{R}_{t} \times \mathbb{R}_{u}, \tag{6.4}$$

with local fibred coordinate system

$$y^{I} = \{t, u, u_{t}\}.$$
(6.5)

Along the section $j^1 \phi$ of $J^1 E \to \Sigma$, these coordinates evaluate to

$$t \circ j^{1} \phi = t, \tag{6.6}$$

$$u \circ j^{1} \phi = \phi(t), \qquad (6.7)$$

$$u_t \circ j^1 \phi = \phi(t) . \tag{6.8}$$

Following our general formalism, an invariant metric on this 1-jet bundle can be used to define a general 4-derivative Lagrangian for this system.

Before writing down the 1-jet metric, it is helpful to know where we want to end up: using the usual procedure, let us first write down the most general Lagrangian for this toy EFT with up to 4-derivatives in a non-redundant basis, consistent with our pair of O(1) symmetries. At the 2-derivative level, there are two independent operators $\phi \ddot{\phi}$ and $\dot{\phi}^2$, one of which can be removed (we remove $\phi \ddot{\phi}$) by an IBP relation. At the 4-derivative level, there are 5 operators and 3 IBP relations. We choose to remove the operators ϕ and $\phi \dot{\phi}$, which cannot in fact be written using the 1-jet bundle (they contain too many derivatives acting on a single field), plus the operator $\ddot{\phi} \dot{\phi} \dot{\phi}$, to leave a non-redundant basis spanned by the 4-derivative operators $\dot{\phi}^4$ and $\ddot{\phi}^2$. In general all these operators (including the 0-derivative constant piece) are multiplied by arbitrary even functions of ϕ .

Now let us see how to recover this general Lagrangian using the 1-jet bundle described above. We write down the most general metric

$$g = g_{IJ} \mathrm{d} y^I \otimes \mathrm{d} y^J \tag{6.9}$$

on J^1E that is consistent with our $O(1)_t \times O(1)_u$ global symmetry. We truncate each metric component to include all contributions that will pull back to Lagrangian terms with up to and including four time derivatives. We have:

$$g_{u_i u_i} = A\left(u\right),\tag{6.10}$$

$$g_{uu_t} = u_t u B(u), \tag{6.11}$$

$$g_{uu} = C(u) + u_t^2 D(u), \qquad (6.12)$$

$$g_{tu_t} = uE(u) + uu_t^2 F(u),$$
(6.13)

$$g_{tu} = u_t G(u) + u_t^3 H(u),$$
 (6.14)

$$g_{tt} = -2V(u) + u_t^2 J(u) + u_t^4 K(u), \qquad (6.15)$$

where A(u), ... V(u) are even functions of u, as dictated by our symmetry. Written as a symmetric matrix of components:

$$[g_{IJ}] = \begin{pmatrix} -2V + u_t^2 J + u_t^4 K & u_t G + u_t^3 H & uE + uu_t^2 F \\ \cdot & C + u_t^2 D & uu_t B \\ \cdot & \cdot & A \end{pmatrix},$$
(6.16)

in our local fibred coordinates (6.5).

To form a Lagrangian, we pull back this metric along the section $j^{1}\phi$, and contract with the inverse metric on the 1d spacetime:

$$\mathcal{L}\left[\phi,g\right] = \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \eta^{-1}, \left(j^{1}\phi\right)^{*}g\right\rangle.$$
(6.17)

Here, the inverse metric is just

$$\eta^{-1} = \partial_t \otimes \partial_t.$$

The resulting object is a scalar function on the worldline, i.e. a function of t, that is our Lagrangian. We get

$$\mathcal{L}[\phi,g] = \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \eta^{-1}, \left(j^{1}\phi\right)^{*}g \right\rangle = \frac{1}{2} g_{tt} + g_{tu}\dot{\phi} + g_{tu}\ddot{\phi} + \frac{1}{2} g_{uu}\dot{\phi}^{2} + g_{uu}\dot{\phi}\ddot{\phi} + \frac{1}{2} g_{u_{t}u_{t}}\ddot{\phi}^{2} \quad (6.18)$$

$$= -V(\phi) + \frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^{2}(C + 2G + J) + \ddot{\phi}\phi E$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^{4}(D + 2H + K) + \ddot{\phi}\dot{\phi}^{2}\phi(B + F) + \frac{1}{2}\ddot{\phi}^{2}A.$$
(6.19)

where V, A, B...K are implicitly understood to be even functions of the field: $V(\phi), A(\phi)$, etc. As anticipated, we do not obtain the operators ϕ and $\phi \phi$ with more than two derivatives on a single field, but this is not an issue because those operators can be removed from the Lagrangian using IBPs.

We do, however, obtain 2 (3) operator structures with 2 (4) derivatives, only 1 (2) of which are independent, as discussed. The extra operators can be removed via IBP:

$$\ddot{\phi}\phi E = -\dot{\phi}^2 E - \dot{\phi}\phi \,\partial_t E = -\dot{\phi}^2 E - \dot{\phi}\phi \,2\phi\dot{\phi}\frac{\mathrm{d}E}{\mathrm{d}(\phi^2)} = -\dot{\phi}^2\left(E + 2\phi^2 E'\right)\,,\qquad(6.20)$$

$$\ddot{\phi}\dot{\phi}^{2}\phi\left(B+F\right) = -\frac{1}{3}\dot{\phi}^{4}\left(B+F+2\phi^{2}\left(B'+F'\right)\right),$$
(6.21)

where $E' = dE/d(\phi^2)$ and analogously for B', F'. With this notation, B', E', F' are even functions of ϕ . The Lagrangian (6.18) can now be written in a non-redundant basis:

$$\mathcal{L}[\phi,g] = IBP \circ \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \eta^{-1}, \left(j^{1}\phi\right)^{*}g \right\rangle$$

$$= -V + \frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^{2} \left(C + 2G + J - 2E - 4\phi^{2}E'\right)$$

$$+ \dot{\phi}^{4} \left(\frac{1}{2} \left(D + K\right) + H - \frac{1}{3} \left(B + F\right) - \frac{2}{3}\phi^{2} \left(B' + F'\right)\right) + \frac{1}{2}\ddot{\phi}^{2}A.$$
(6.23)

In fact we know a little more; the 2-derivative term must be non-vanishing, and its leading order piece is fixed by canonical normalisation of ϕ . We require

$$C(0) + 2G(0) + J(0) - 2E(0) = 1.$$
(6.24)

This defines a map from metric g to $\mathcal{L}[\phi, g]$, the Lagrangian functional (of ϕ), in a particular basis with no residual IBP redundancies. The map is, importantly, surjective, meaning that the most general Lagrangian with up to 4-derivatives can be captured by pulling back a metric on the 1-jet bundle.

The map $g \mapsto \mathcal{L}[\phi, g]$ is not, however, injective. This is a general feature that will recur in every example: there are redundancies in the map from 1-jet metrics to Lagrangians, in the sense that many different metrics map to the same Lagrangian. A natural next step is to try to define equivalence classes of metrics that map to the same Lagrangian (up to a total derivative), in order to fix up a map $\mathcal{L}[\phi, g]$ that is both surjective and injective. Generally, two metrics g and \tilde{g} are equivalent iff

$$\eta^{-1} \left(j^{1} \phi \right)^{*} \left(g - \tilde{g} \right) = \partial_{\mu} K^{\mu} \,. \tag{6.25}$$

However, it is not so straightforward to make a consistent choice of representative for each such equivalence class, as is made apparent even in this toy example where we can explicitly 'read off' the redundancies. For example, one might try to define representative metrics by setting the functions G, J, E to zero (capturing the 2-derivative term via C), and setting H, K, B, and F to zero also (capturing the $\dot{\phi}^4$ term via D). But this can lead to pathologies when trying to describe certain (physically reasonable) Lagrangians, such as the free theory $\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}\dot{\phi}^2$; with the 'representative' above, the 'metric' would have components $[g_{II}] = \text{diag}(0, 1, 0)$, which is singular and so not a metric at all. A valid metric that does map to this Lagrangian, accounting for IBPs in the manner described above, would be $[g_{IJ}] = \text{diag}(u/2, 2, u/2)$.

6.2. Real scalar in 4d

We now consider the case of a single real scalar field in Minkowski spacetime. We consider the scalar field ϕ to be a section of the bundle $\pi : E = \mathbb{R}^{1,3} \times \mathbb{R}_u \to \mathbb{R}^{1,3}$:

$$\phi: x^{\mu} \mapsto (x^{\mu}, \phi(x^{\mu})) . \tag{6.26}$$

We require Poincaré invariance, but do not impose any internal symmetries on the field. The 1-jet bundle J^1E is a real 9-manifold

$$J^{1}E \cong T^{*}\mathbb{R}^{1,3} \times \mathbb{R}_{u}, \qquad (6.27)$$

with local fibred coordinates

$$y^{I} = \{x^{\mu}, u, u_{\mu}\}.$$
 (6.28)

Along the section $j^1 \phi$ of $J^1 E \rightarrow \Sigma$, they evaluate to

 $x^{\mu} \circ j^{1} \phi = x^{\mu}, \tag{6.29}$

 $u \circ j^1 \phi = \phi(x^{\mu}), \tag{6.30}$

$$u_{\mu} \circ j^{1} \phi = \partial_{\mu} \phi \left(x^{\mu} \right). \tag{6.31}$$

condition on the signature of the metric.

Following the same steps as in the previous example, we first write down the Lagrangian we wish to obtain.

In this case, we are after a complete Green's basis for a scalar EFT, i.e. a set of operators that is non-redundant under IBP (but can in general contain redundancies under EOMs), with up to 4 derivatives and arbitrarily large number of field insertions. We also require no more than 2 derivatives acting on each field and that boxes $\Box = \partial_{\mu}\partial^{\mu}$ are absent. The former condition is necessary, because it is not possible to obtain such structures from a 1-jet bundle metric. The complete absence of operators with boxes is not strictly required by the metric structure, but turns out to be a very convenient choice: the Lagrangian obtained pulling back the most general 1-jet bundle metric contains *all* box-less operators with up to 4 derivatives, but only a subset of those with boxes, see section B. Restricting to box-less bases guarantees that the scalar Lagrangian will be manifestly matched by pulling back the 1-jet bundle metric, without further manipulations and without introducing cumbersome evaluations of which operators with boxes can or cannot be obtained. The fact that all operators with boxes can always be removed from a Green's basis is not obvious *a priori*, but can be proven explicitly for any scalar theory at any derivative order, see section B.

In the case of a single real scalar with interactions with up to 4 derivatives, the conditions listed above identify unambiguously³²:

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi \mathcal{F}_{0}(\phi) - \mathcal{V}(\phi) + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{2}} (\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} \phi) \mathcal{F}_{1}(\phi) + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{3}} (\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi \partial^{\nu} \phi) \mathcal{F}_{2}(\phi) + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{4}} (\partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi)^{2} \mathcal{F}_{3}(\phi) .$$
(6.32)

where $\mathcal{F}_0(0) = 1$ to have a canonical kinetic term and in general $\mathcal{F}_i(0) = c_i$ for i = 1, 2, 3, accounting for arbitrary Wilson coefficients³³. The operator bases in equations (6.32) and (6.72) below were cross-checked with BasisGen [89].

The Lagrangian (6.32) can be recovered from a 1-jet bundle metric which is formally similar to the one in the 1d example. The metric components, truncated such that only terms with up to 4 derivatives are generated when pulling back to the Lagrangian, are

$$g_{uu}^{\mu\nu} = \eta^{\mu\nu} A(u) , \qquad (6.33)$$

$$g^{\mu}_{uu} = \frac{\mu^{\nu}}{\Lambda^2} B(u) , \qquad (6.34)$$

$$g_{uu} = C(u) + \frac{u_{\rho}u^{\rho}}{\Lambda^4}D(u) , \qquad (6.35)$$

$$g_{\mu u}^{\nu} = \delta_{\mu}^{\nu} E(u) + \frac{u^{\nu} u_{\mu}}{\Lambda^4} F_1(u) + \delta_{\mu}^{\nu} \frac{u_{\rho} u^{\rho}}{\Lambda^4} F_2(u) , \qquad (6.36)$$

³² With $N \ge 2$ field insertions, there are 2 operator structures with 2 derivatives and 1 IBP. With N = 2 (3) fields, one can write 4 (6) structures with 4 derivatives, related by 3 (4) IBP. With $N \ge 4$ fields, there are 7 structures with 4 derivatives and 4 IBP. The case N = 1 is never relevant as any such operator is automatically a total derivative. The number of independent operators for each field multiplicity is automatically reflected in the Lagrangian (6.32). ³³ We will see in section 8 that the Wilson coefficient $\mathcal{F}_1(0)$ is *not* completely arbitrary, but must satisfy a positivity bound (8.19). In particular, its sign is negative [88]. In the context of our jet bundle geometry, this translates to a

$$g_{\mu u} = \frac{u_{\mu}}{\Lambda^2} G(u) + \frac{u_{\mu} u_{\rho} u^{\rho}}{\Lambda^6} H(u) , \qquad (6.37)$$

$$g_{\mu \nu} = -\frac{\eta_{\mu \nu}}{2} V(u) + \left(\frac{u_{\mu} u_{\nu}}{\Lambda^4} + \frac{\eta_{\mu \nu}}{4} \frac{u_{\rho} u^{\rho}}{\Lambda^4}\right) \frac{J(u)}{2} + \left(\frac{u_{\mu} u_{\nu}}{\Lambda^4} + \frac{\eta_{\mu \nu}}{4} \frac{u_{\rho} u^{\rho}}{\Lambda^4}\right) \frac{u_{\sigma} u^{\sigma}}{\Lambda^4} \frac{K(u)}{2} , \qquad (6.38)$$

where the coordinates u^{μ} are defined by raising indices with the spacetime metric $u^{\mu} = \eta^{\mu\nu} u_{\nu}$ and we have restored the powers of Λ to make the dimensionalities manifest. The functions $V, A \dots K_i$ are defined to be dimensionless, and therefore functions of (u/Λ) . Moving from 1d to 4d Minkowski spacetime, we find a larger number of independent tensor structures: the terms proportional F_1 and F_2 were degenerate in the QM example, but become distinguishable in this case. In equation (6.38) the functions J and K multiply a combination of two Lorentz structures: they were grouped together because they yield the same result upon contracting with $\eta^{\mu\nu}$:

$$\eta^{\mu\nu}u_{\mu}u_{\nu} = u_{\mu}u^{\mu} = \frac{\eta^{\mu\nu}\eta_{\mu\nu}}{4}u_{\rho}u^{\rho}.$$
(6.39)

Pulling back along the section $j^{1}\phi$ and contracting with the inverse metric:

$$\mathcal{L}[\phi,g] = \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \eta^{-1}, \left(j^{1}\phi\right)^{*}g \right\rangle \qquad \text{where} \quad \eta^{-1} = \eta^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{\rho} \otimes \partial_{\sigma}, \qquad (6.40)$$

we get

$$\mathcal{L}[\phi,g] = \frac{\Lambda^4}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} g_{\mu\nu} + \Lambda^2 g_{\mu u} \partial^{\mu} \phi + \Lambda g^{\nu}_{\mu u} \partial^{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi + \frac{1}{2} g_{u u} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi \qquad (6.41)$$

$$+ \frac{g^{\mu}_{u u}}{\Lambda} \partial^{\nu} \phi \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi + \frac{1}{2} \frac{g^{\mu\nu}_{u u}}{\Lambda^2} \partial_{\rho} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\rho} \partial_{\nu} \phi$$

$$= -\Lambda^4 V + \frac{1}{2} (\partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi) (C + 2G + J) + \Lambda \Box \phi E$$

$$+ \frac{(\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} \phi)}{\Lambda^2} \frac{A}{2} + \frac{\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi \partial^{\nu} \phi}{\Lambda^3} (B + F_1) + \frac{(\Box \phi) (\partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi)}{\Lambda^3} F_2$$

$$+ \frac{(\partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi)^2}{\Lambda^4} \frac{D + 2H + K}{2}, \qquad (6.42)$$

where $V, A \dots K$ are understood to be functions of ϕ/Λ .

The terms proportional to E and F_2 contain boxes. Both arise from pulling back the $g^{\nu}_{\mu u}$ metric element, which, at the 1-jet level, is the only one that allows the contraction of two derivatives acting on the same field. As is evident in equation (6.41), box contractions cannot be implemented in any of the other terms. Following the reasoning above and the argument proved in section B, all operators with boxes obtained from the 1-jet bundle are redundant with the box-less ones, and can be removed using IBPs. Let us do this explicitly: if E is a constant, the corresponding term is a total derivative and therefore can be removed. If E is at least linear in ϕ , then it can be recast as:

$$\Box \phi E = -\partial_{\mu} \phi \,\partial^{\mu} E = -\frac{\partial_{\mu} \phi \,\partial^{\mu} \phi}{\Lambda} \frac{\mathrm{d}E}{\mathrm{d}(\phi/\Lambda)} \,. \tag{6.43}$$

The term proportional to F_2 can always be removed via IBP, even if F_2 is a constant:

$$(\Box\phi)\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial^{\mu}\phi F_{2} = -2\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi\partial^{\mu}\phi\partial^{\nu}\phi F_{2} - \frac{\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial^{\mu}\phi\partial_{\nu}\phi\partial^{\nu}\phi}{\Lambda}\frac{\mathrm{d}F_{2}}{\mathrm{d}(\phi/\Lambda)}$$
(6.44)

No further manipulation is required in order to obtain a non-redundant Lagrangian, that manifestly matches equation (6.32):

$$\mathcal{L}[\phi,g] = \text{IBP} \circ \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \eta^{-1}, \left(j^{1}\phi\right)^{*}g \right\rangle$$

$$= -\Lambda^{4}V + \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial^{\mu}\phi\right) \left(C + 2G + J - 2E'\right)$$

$$+ \frac{\left(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi\partial^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}\phi\right)}{\Lambda^{2}}\frac{A}{2} + \frac{\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi\partial^{\mu}\phi\partial^{\nu}\phi}{\Lambda^{3}} \left(B + F_{1} - 2F_{2}\right)$$

$$+ \frac{\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial^{\mu}\phi\right)^{2}}{\Lambda^{4}}\frac{D + 2H + K - 2F_{2}'}{2}, \qquad (6.45)$$

where now $E' = dE/d(\phi/\Lambda)$ and analogously for F_2 . A canonical kinetic term requires

$$C(0) + 2G(0) + J(0) - 2E'(0) = 1.$$
(6.46)

The results obtained for a real scalar in Minkowski spacetime share several features with the case of quantum mechanics on the line: the map from metric to Lagrangian is surjective, and a degeneracy is observed between the same groups of functions, namely (B, F_i) , (C, G, J, E), (D, H, K). The presence of E' alone in this example, rather than both E and E' as in the 1d case, is simply due to the different internal symmetry assumed.

Finally, we comment on the conditions for $g^{(1)}$ with elements (6.33)–(6.38) to be invertible, which is a required to have a valid metric. The necessary condition to have det $[g^{(1)}] \neq 0$ is that at least one of the following 9 polynomials is non-vanishing³⁴:

$$C\left(2E^2 + AV\right),\tag{6.47}$$

$$D\left(8F_2^2 - AK\right),\tag{6.48}$$

$$B(4F_1G - BJ) - 2CF_1^2, (6.49)$$

$$B(4F_1H - BK) - 2DF_1^2, (6.50)$$

$$4D(2E^{2} + AV) + C(16EF_{2} - AJ), \qquad (6.51)$$

$$C(8E^{2} - AK) + D(16EF_{2} - AI) \qquad (6.52)$$

$$C(8F_2^2 - AK) + D(16EF_2 - AJ),$$

$$4E(BG - CF_1) + A(CJ - 2G^2) + B^2V,$$
(6.52)
(6.53)

$$16E(BH - DF_1) + 16F_2(BG - CF_1) + 4A(DJ + CK - 4GH) - B^2J,$$
 (6.54)

$$16F_2(BH - DF_1) + 4A(DK - 2H^2) - B^2K.$$
(6.55)

³⁴ Note that, in general, this requirement does not preclude the possibility of coordinate singularities, i.e. conditions in which the metric is singular only at specific values of the coordinates (u, u_{μ}) , which should be examined case by case.

In the generic case where 4-derivative operators with non-zero Wilson coefficients are present in the Lagrangian, the conditions (6.47)–(6.55) leave large freedom to choose a possible metric that pulls back to equation (6.32). A minimal example is:

$$g_{uu}^{\mu\nu} = 2\eta^{\mu\nu} \mathcal{F}_{1}(u) , \qquad g_{uu}^{\mu} = \frac{u^{\mu}}{\Lambda^{2}} \mathcal{F}_{2}(u) , \qquad g_{uu} = \mathcal{F}_{0}(u) + 2\frac{u_{\mu}u^{\mu}}{\Lambda^{4}} \mathcal{F}_{3}(u) ,$$

$$g_{\mu u}^{\nu} = 0, \qquad g_{\mu u} = 0, \qquad g_{\mu \nu} = -\frac{1}{2}\eta_{\mu\nu}\frac{\mathcal{V}(u)}{\Lambda^{4}} . \qquad (6.56)$$

If we restrict the Lagrangian to the 2- and 0-derivative terms, setting to zero all functions except V, C, E, then the conditions for invertibility collapse into $2CE^2 \neq 0$, which implies that both C and E must be non-vanishing. This indicates that, even though it produces a physically redundant operator, the E term is necessary for the jet-bundle metric to be non-singular for any value of the 4-derivative Wilson coefficients, consistently with what observed in sections 5.5.4 and 6.1. Restricting further to 0-derivatives only is incompatible with both physics (as the kinetic term is removed) and jet-bundle geometry, as the metric would be inevitably singular.

EOM redundancies

The operator basis considered up to this point is non-redundant under IBP, i.e. it is a Green's basis for operators with up to 4 derivatives and arbitrary number of fields. It is interesting to note that the 1-jet bundle geometry automatically accounts for all IBP among operators with up to 4 derivatives, except the residual *E* and F_2 function redundancies³⁵.

When constructing EFTs, we are typically interested in removing EOM redundancies as well. EOM relations express invariance properties of the *S*-matrix. Because this information is not contained in the geometric formulation, they need to be imposed as additional conditions on top of the Lagrangian in equation (6.32).

Formally, the removal of EOM redundancies in an EFT is performed by applying *derivative* field redefinitions on the Lagrangian. Therefore, based on the discussion in section 5, two jet bundle metrics pulling back to EOM-equivalent Lagrangians are in general not related by a morphism. In practice, we do not expect to find an operation on the jet bundle metric that is mathematically equivalent to basis reduction via EOM. Nevertheless, it is instructive to consider the EOM-reduced Lagrangian for the toy example under study, and ask what classes of jet bundle metrics would pull back to it. We will come back to the inadequacy of jet bundle morphisms (even prolonged ones) at the end of this subsection.

To this end, we take a step back and review the construction of the operator basis. This operation is necessary because, being (6.32) 'box-less', EOM redundancies are not manifest. At the same time, we hope to give a useful illustration of the application of derivative field redefinitions in an EFT.

At the 2-derivatives level and with N fields, there are two allowed operators structures:

$$O_1^{(2)} = (\Box \phi) \phi^{N-1}, \qquad \qquad O_2^{(2)} = (\partial_\mu \phi \partial^\mu \phi) \phi^{N-2}, \qquad (6.57)$$

³⁵ The fact that no redundant box-less operators are produced by the jet bundle metric is due to the fact that, in this particular case, there are exactly as many operators with boxes as independent IBP. Therefore the set of *all* box-less operators with up to 4 derivatives forms a complete and non-redundant Green's basis.

which are related by the IBP

$$O_1^{(2)} + (N-2)O_2^{(2)} = 0. (6.58)$$

To obtain (6.32), we have used the IBP to remove $O_1^{(1)}$ for each value of $N \ge 2$. This is always the most convenient choice for N = 2, since in this case $O_2^{(2)}$ is the kinetic term. However, for $N \ge 3$, we can choose to remove $O_2^{(2)}$ via IBP, and then use the EOM to trade $O_1^{(2)}$ for 0derivative interactions, effectively obtaining a basis without any 2-derivative operator, besides the kinetic term. In practice, the EOM removal implies that we start with a Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi - \mathcal{V}(\phi) + \sum_{N=3}^{\infty} \frac{c_{1,N}^{(2)}}{\Lambda^{N-2}} (\Box \phi) \phi^{N-1} + \dots, \qquad (6.59)$$

where the scalar potential is as in equation (5.13) and the dots stand for other operators that are present in general. Then we apply the derivative redefinition

$$\phi \mapsto \phi - \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{\epsilon_k}{\Lambda^{k+2}} \left(\Box \phi\right) \phi^k, \tag{6.60}$$

and truncate again at 2-derivatives:

$$\mathcal{L} \to \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi - \mathcal{V}(\phi) - \frac{d\mathcal{V}(\phi)}{d\phi} \sum_{k} \frac{\epsilon_{k}}{\Lambda^{k+2}} \left(\Box\phi\right) \phi^{k} + \sum_{N=3}^{\infty} \frac{c_{1,N}^{(2)}}{\Lambda^{N-2}} \left(\Box\phi\right) \phi^{N-1} + \dots \quad (6.61)$$

$$=\frac{1}{2}\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial^{\mu}\phi - \mathcal{V}(\phi) + (\Box\phi) \left[-\sum_{n,k} \frac{\epsilon_{k}nV_{n}}{\Lambda^{n+k-2}}\phi^{n+k-1} + \sum_{N=3}^{\infty} \frac{c_{1,N}^{(2)}}{\Lambda^{N-2}}\phi^{N-1} \right] + \dots$$
(6.62)

$$= \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi - \mathcal{V}(\phi) + \sum_{N=3}^{\infty} \left[c_{1,N}^{(2)} - \sum_{n=1}^{N} \epsilon_{N-n} n V_n \right] \frac{\phi^{N-1}}{\Lambda^{N-2}} (\Box \phi) + \dots$$
(6.63)

Choosing the constants ε_k such that $\sum_{n=1}^{N} \epsilon_{N-n} n V_n = c_{1,N}^{(2)}$ removes the infinite tower of $O_1^{(2)}$ operators with $N \ge 3^{36}$.

At the level of 4 derivatives and with N fields, we can write the 7 structures

$$O_{1}^{(4)} = (\Box \Box \phi) \phi^{N-1}, \qquad O_{5}^{(4)} = (\Box \phi) (\partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi) \phi^{N-3}, \qquad (6.64)$$

$$O_2^{(4)} = (\partial_\mu \Box \phi) (\partial^\mu \phi) \phi^{N-2}, \qquad O_6^{(4)} = (\partial_\mu \partial_\nu \phi \partial^\mu \phi \partial^\nu \phi) \phi^{N-3}, \qquad (6.65)$$

$$O_{3}^{(4)} = (\Box\phi) (\Box\phi) \phi^{N-2}, \qquad O_{7}^{(4)} = (\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial^{\mu}\phi)^{2} \phi^{N-4}, \qquad (6.66)$$

$$O_4^{(4)} = (\partial_\mu \partial_\nu \phi) (\partial^\mu \partial^\nu \phi) \phi^{N-2}, \qquad (6.67)$$

³⁶ This is an infinite system of equations, each labeled by *N* and depending on *N* free parameters $\epsilon_0 \dots \epsilon_{N-1}$. It always admits a solution that can be found recursively.

which are related by the 4 IBPs

$$O_1^{(4)} + (N-1) O_2^{(4)} = 0, (6.68)$$

$$O_2^{(4)} + O_3^{(4)} + (N-2)O_5^{(4)} = 0, ag{6.69}$$

$$O_2^{(4)} + O_4^{(4)} + (N-2)O_6^{(4)} = 0, (6.70)$$

$$2O_6^{(4)} + O_5^{(4)} + (N-3)O_7^{(4)} = 0. ag{6.71}$$

To obtain equation (6.32), we used the four IBP to remove the four operators with boxes. On the other hand, the more widely used procedure to construct minimal operator bases is to first use IBP to remove as many operators *without* boxes as possible, and then employ EOMs to reduce box operators to lower derivative structures, by using field redefinitions similar to equation (6.60). With N = 2,3 fields, this procedure reveals that all 4-derivative operators are redundant with lower-derivative ones. However, for $N \ge 4$, the operator $O_7^{(4)}$ cannot be removed, neither with IBP nor with EOMs.

In summary, a IBP+EOM reduced Lagrangian with up to 4 derivatives is

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi - \mathcal{V}(\phi) + \frac{1}{\Lambda^4} \left(\partial_{\mu} \phi \partial^{\mu} \phi \right)^2 \mathcal{F}_3(\phi) , \qquad (6.72)$$

which is simply a subset of the Green's basis in equation (6.32), as expected. This indicates that the EOM-reduced Lagrangian can be obtained by pulling back a correspondingly reduced metric g on the 1-jet bundle. Specifically, equation (6.72) can be obtained requiring

$$C(\phi) + 2G(\phi) + J(\phi) - 2E'(\phi) = 1, \qquad (6.73)$$

$$V(\phi) = \mathcal{V}(\phi) / \Lambda^4 \tag{6.74}$$

$$A\left(\phi\right) = 0\,,\tag{6.75}$$

~

$$B(\phi) + F_1(\phi) - 2F_2(\phi) = 0, \qquad (6.76)$$

$$\frac{1}{2}(D(\phi) + K(\phi)) + H(\phi) - F'_2(\phi) = \mathcal{F}_3(\phi).$$
(6.77)

This still leaves much freedom to identify a suitable metric, that respects the conditions (6.47)–(6.55) as well. A minimal example is

$$g_{uu}^{\mu\nu} = g_{uu}^{\mu} = g_{\mu u} = 0, \qquad g_{uu} = 2\frac{u_{\rho}u^{\rho}}{\Lambda^4}\mathcal{F}_3(u), \qquad (6.78)$$

$$g_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{\eta_{\mu\nu}}{2} \frac{\mathcal{V}(u)}{\Lambda^4}, \qquad g_{\mu u}^{\nu} = -\frac{\delta_{\mu}^{\nu}}{2} \frac{u}{\Lambda}.$$
 (6.79)

Can prolonged bundle morphisms capture 'EOM field redefinitions'?

Derivative field redefinitions of the form

$$\phi \mapsto \psi$$
 such that $u \circ \psi = \psi \left(u \circ \phi, \partial_{\mu} \partial^{\mu} \left(u \circ \phi \right) \right)$, (6.80)

namely in which the new section ψ is a function of ϕ and $\Box \phi$, have played an important role in our discussion of this 4d real scalar example. Before our introduction of jet bundles, in

section 3.3 we discussed to what extent a morphism on the field space bundle (E, Σ, π) , which recall can capture any *non*-derivative field redefinition, can capture the effects of derivative field redefinitions such as this (which we can understand generically to be changes of section). There are indeed fundamental reasons why such morphisms cannot induce derivative maps on sections (see lemma 3.1).

Nonetheless, for the particular example of a 4d real scalar with canonical kinetic term and a ϕ^4 potential, we saw that a bundle morphism of the form $(x^{\mu}, u) \mapsto (x^{\mu}, u + \epsilon\lambda(u))$ can replicate the shift of the Lagrangian under a derivative change of section, $\phi \mapsto \psi = \phi - \epsilon \Box \phi$, at least when the Lagrangian is truncated to remain at 2-derivative order, and keeping only operators with up to 4-fields. One might ask whether similar 'accidents' can happen when we pass to 4-derivative Lagrangians using our 1-jet bundle formalism. In other words, can a morphism on the 1-jet bundle replicate, at the Lagrangian level, the effects of derivative field redefinitions that depend on $\Box \phi$? We here suggest that the answer to this question is no. (More precisely, we expect that such an equivalence will only occur for very special examples, truncated in a particular way.)

To see this, let us consider the effects of a prolongated bundle morphism, as defined in section 5.5, on the 1-jet bundle metrics constructed for the 4d real scalar in this Subsection. We specialise to the case of a base-point preserving 'perturbative morphism' on the bundle E that is consistent with Poincaré symmetry, considered in section 3.3.4, of the form

$$f_E: (x^{\mu}, u) \mapsto (x^{\mu}, f(u)) = (x^{\mu}, u + \epsilon \lambda(u)).$$
(6.81)

Using equation (5.25), the prolongation of this bundle morphism to the 1-jet bundle is

$$j^{1}f_{E}:(x^{\mu},u,u_{\mu})\mapsto\left(x^{\mu},f(u),u_{\mu}\frac{\partial f}{\partial u}\right)=\left(x^{\mu},u+\epsilon\lambda,u_{\mu}+\epsilon u_{\mu}\lambda'\right),\qquad(6.82)$$

where $\lambda' := d\lambda/du$ etc. The coordinate basis 1-forms transform as

$$j^{1}f_{E}: (\mathrm{d}x^{\mu}, \mathrm{d}u, \mathrm{d}u_{\mu}) \mapsto (\mathrm{d}x^{\mu}, \mathrm{d}u(1+\epsilon\lambda'), \mathrm{d}u_{\mu}(1+\epsilon\lambda')+\epsilon u_{\mu}\lambda''\mathrm{d}u), \quad (6.83)$$

from which we can compute the transformation law for the 1-jet bundle metric.

Let us start with the 1-jet metric written in the form of equation (6.56)

$$g^{(1)} = -\frac{\eta^{\mu\nu}}{2} \frac{\mathcal{V}(u)}{\Lambda^4} dx^{\mu} dx^{\nu} + \left(\mathcal{F}_0(u) + \frac{2u_{\mu}u^{\mu}}{\Lambda^4} \mathcal{F}_3(u)\right) du du + \mathcal{F}_2(u) \frac{u^{\mu}}{\Lambda^3} du du_{\mu} + \frac{2\eta^{\mu\nu}}{\Lambda^2} \mathcal{F}_1(u) du_{\mu} du_{\nu}, \qquad (6.84)$$

which pulls back to give the Lagrangian in equation (6.32). Doing our prolongated jet bundle morphism and keeping only terms that are linear in the perturbation ε , we compute the transformed metric to be

$$j^{1}f_{E}^{*}g^{(1)} = -\frac{1}{2}\eta^{\mu\nu}\mathcal{V}(u+\epsilon\lambda)dx^{\mu}dx^{\nu} + \mathcal{F}_{0}(u+\epsilon\lambda)(1+2\epsilon\lambda')dudu + \frac{u_{\mu}u^{\mu}}{\Lambda^{4}}\left[2\mathcal{F}_{3}(u+\epsilon\lambda)(1+4\epsilon\lambda') + \epsilon\mathcal{F}_{2}(u+\epsilon\lambda)\lambda''\right]dudu + \frac{u^{\mu}}{\Lambda^{2}}\left[\mathcal{F}_{2}(u+\epsilon\lambda)(1+3\epsilon\lambda') + 4\epsilon\mathcal{F}_{1}(u+\epsilon\lambda)\lambda''\right]dudu_{\mu} + 2\eta^{\mu\nu}\mathcal{F}_{1}(u+\epsilon\lambda)(1+2\epsilon\lambda')du_{\mu}du_{\nu} + O\left(\epsilon^{2}\right).$$
(6.85)

Expanding also each 'structure function' \mathcal{V} , $\mathcal{F}_{0,1,2,3}$ about *u*, we can capture the effects of this transformation in terms of the following shifts at leading order in ε (the terms neglected are $O(\epsilon^2)$):

$$\mathcal{V} \mapsto \mathcal{V} + \epsilon \lambda \mathcal{V}', \tag{6.86}$$

$$\mathcal{F}_0 \mapsto \mathcal{F}_0 + \epsilon \left(2\lambda' \mathcal{F}_0 + \lambda \mathcal{F}_0' \right), \tag{6.87}$$

$$\mathcal{F}_1 \mapsto \mathcal{F}_1 + \epsilon \left(2\lambda' \mathcal{F}_1 + \lambda \mathcal{F}_1' \right), \tag{6.88}$$

$$\mathcal{F}_2 \mapsto \mathcal{F}_2 + \epsilon \left(3\lambda' \mathcal{F}_2 + 4\lambda'' \mathcal{F}_1 + \lambda \mathcal{F}_2' \right), \tag{6.89}$$

$$\mathcal{F}_{3} \mapsto \mathcal{F}_{3} + \epsilon \left(4\lambda' \mathcal{F}_{3} + \frac{1}{2}\lambda'' \mathcal{F}_{2} + \lambda \mathcal{F}_{3}' \right).$$
(6.90)

If we then pullback this metric to Σ along the original (prolongated) section $j^{1}\phi$, we obtain the transformed Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L}\left[\phi, \left(j^{1}f_{E}\right)^{*}g^{(1)}\right] = \frac{1}{2}\left(\mathcal{F}_{0} + \epsilon\left(2\lambda'\mathcal{F}_{0} + \lambda\mathcal{F}_{0}'\right)\right)\left(\partial\phi\right)^{2} - \left(\mathcal{V} + \epsilon\lambda\mathcal{V}'\right) \\ + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{2}}\left(\mathcal{F}_{1} + \epsilon\left(2\lambda'\mathcal{F}_{1} + \lambda\mathcal{F}_{1}'\right)\right)\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi\partial^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}\phi \\ + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{3}}\left(\mathcal{F}_{2} + \epsilon\left(3\lambda'\mathcal{F}_{2} + 4\lambda''\mathcal{F}_{1} + \lambda\mathcal{F}_{2}'\right)\right)\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi\partial^{\mu}\phi\partial^{\nu}\phi \\ + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{4}}\left(\mathcal{F}_{3} + \epsilon\left(4\lambda'\mathcal{F}_{3} + \frac{1}{2}\lambda''\mathcal{F}_{2} + \lambda\mathcal{F}_{3}'\right)\right)\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial^{\mu}\phi\right)^{2}.$$
 (6.91)

Thus, upon doing the prolongated bundle morphism to transform the metric, we see that the transformation of the Lagrangian has a particularly constrained structure; operators with a certain number D of derivatives (here 0, 2, or 4 due to our symmetry assumptions) mix only into operators with the same value of D.

In contrast, if we were to perform a derivative change of section, we would see operators of lower-derivative-order mix into operators of higher-derivative-order, as in the ϕ^4 example considered in section 3.3.4: for example, it is straightforward to compute that \mathcal{V} 'mixes into' the 2-derivative structure function \mathcal{F}_0 and all three 4-derivative structure functions $\mathcal{F}_{1,2,3}$; the 2derivative term \mathcal{F}_0 likewise mixes into all of $\mathcal{F}_{1,2,3}$. For the 2-derivative toy example considered in section 3.3.4 we exploited the fact that there was only a single such operator mixing, namely of the potential into the 2-derivative term, that could be cancelled by a bundle morphism that shifts the kinetic term (explicitly, this fixed λ in terms of $\partial_u V$) provided the potential were high enough order that we could neglect its own variation. This was a very special situation which enabled the derivative change of section to be matched by a bundle morphism. In this more general 4-derivative example, we must still fix λ by matching the shift of the 2-derivative term (even if that is zero, for example in the case of vanishing potential), but then we cannot hope to simultaneously match the shift in any 4-derivative term that is present. So one cannot even contrive a theory with 2- and 4-derivative terms for which the $\phi \to \psi(\phi, \Box \phi)$ change of section can be described via an (appropriately prolongated) morphism of the jet bundle. Nonetheless, we reiterate that the derivative field redefinition can be implemented as a prolonged change of section, as discussed in section 5.4.

6.3. Two real scalars in 4d, without internal symmetries

We generalize the previous example by introducing two scalar fields ϕ^1, ϕ^2 , without imposing any internal symmetries relating them. The main goals in considering this example are twofold:

(i) to cover a case in which non-trivial field indices appear in the metric, and (ii) to check that the 1-jet bundle gives a complete Green's basis for a theory with multiple fields but without internal symmetries.

The formalism is identical to the previous case, except the 1-jet bundle is now a real 14manifold with local fibred coordinates

$$j^{I} = \left\{ x^{\mu}, u^{i}, u^{i}_{\mu} \right\}, \quad i = 1, 2,$$
(6.92)

that, along the section $j^1\phi$, evaluate to

$$x^{\mu} \circ j^{1} \phi = x^{\mu} \tag{6.93}$$

$$u^i \circ j^1 \phi = \phi^i \left(x^\mu \right) \tag{6.94}$$

$$u^i_{\mu} \circ j^1 \phi = \partial_{\mu} \phi^i(x^{\mu}) \tag{6.95}$$

As in the previous cases, we start by writing the EFT Lagrangian containing a complete and IBP-non-redundant basis with up to 4 derivatives, requesting that no more than 2 derivatives act on each field and that there are no boxes. This identifies the Green's basis:

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \left(\partial_{\mu} \phi^{i} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{j} \right) \mathcal{F}_{ij}^{0} - \mathcal{V} \left(\phi_{1}, \phi_{2} \right) + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{2}} \left(\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi^{i} \partial^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} \phi^{j} \right) \mathcal{F}_{ij}^{1} + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{3}} \left(\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi^{i} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{j} \partial^{\nu} \phi^{k} \right) \mathcal{F}_{ijk}^{2} + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{4}} \left(\partial_{\mu} \phi^{i} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{j} \right) \left(\partial_{\nu} \phi^{k} \partial^{\nu} \phi^{l} \right) \mathcal{F}_{ijkl}^{3}.$$
(6.96)

where, in general, the scalar potential \mathcal{V} and the \mathcal{F} functions have the form

$$\mathcal{F} = f_0 + f_1 \frac{\phi^1}{\Lambda} + f_2 \frac{\phi^2}{\Lambda} + f_{11} \frac{(\phi^1)^2}{\Lambda^2} + \dots = \sum_{a,b=0}^{\infty} f_{\underbrace{1\dots1}_a} \underbrace{2\dots2}_{b} \frac{(\phi^1)^a (\phi^2)^b}{\Lambda^{a+b}}$$
(6.97)

Each such function contains (n + 1) independent index assignments for every number of fields n = a + b. Therefore, accounting for the symmetry in (*ij*), with *N* field insertions in the Lagrangian, the 2-derivative operator has 3(n + 1) = 3(N - 1) independent index assignments. For the 4-derivative operators there are a total of 3(5N - 11) independent assignments for $N \ge 4$. This number is reduced to 12 for N = 3 and to 3 for N = 2, due to the fact that some operator structures are unavailable in these cases. These numbers, as well as the EOM-reduced counting below, have been cross-checked with BasisGen. Canonical kinetic terms require $f_{11}^0 = f_{22}^0 = 1, f_{12}^0 = 0$.

We now turn to the jet bundle metric from which we would like to recover (6.96). The generic metric components, truncated as in the previous examples, are

$$g_{ij}^{\mu\nu} = \eta^{\mu\nu} A_{ij}(u) , \qquad (6.98)$$

$$g_{ij}^{\mu} = \frac{u^{\kappa\mu}}{\Lambda^2} B_{ijk}(u) ,$$
 (6.99)

$$g_{ij} = C_{ij}(u) + \frac{u_{\rho}^{k} u^{l\rho}}{\Lambda^{4}} D_{ijkl}(u) , \qquad (6.100)$$

$$g_{\mu j}^{\nu} = \delta_{\mu}^{\nu} E_{j}(u) + \frac{u^{k\nu} u_{\mu}^{l}}{\Lambda^{4}} F_{1,jkl}(u) + \delta_{\mu}^{\nu} \frac{u_{\rho}^{k} u^{l\rho}}{\Lambda^{4}} F_{2,jkl}(u) , \qquad (6.101)$$

$$g_{\mu j} = \frac{u_{\mu}^{k}}{\Lambda^{2}} G_{jk}(u) + \frac{u_{\mu}^{k} u_{\rho}^{l} u^{m\rho}}{\Lambda^{6}} H_{jklm}(u) , \qquad (6.102)$$

$$g_{\mu\nu} = -\frac{\eta_{\mu\nu}}{2}V(u) + \left(\frac{u_{\mu}^{k}u_{\nu}^{l}}{\Lambda^{4}} + \frac{\eta_{\mu\nu}}{4}\frac{u_{\rho}^{k}u^{l\rho}}{\Lambda^{4}}\right)\frac{J_{kl}(u)}{2} + \left(\frac{u_{\mu}^{k}u_{\nu}^{l}}{\Lambda^{4}} + \frac{\eta_{\mu\nu}}{4}\frac{u_{\rho}^{k}u^{l\rho}}{\Lambda^{4}}\right)\frac{u_{\rho}^{m}u^{n\rho}}{\Lambda^{4}}\frac{K_{klmn}(u)}{2},$$
(6.103)

where $u^{i\mu} = \eta^{\mu\nu} u^i_{\nu}$ and all the functions $V, A \dots K$ are dimensionless functions of (u^i/Λ) . We also assume that the metric is fully symmetric: $g^{\mu\nu}_{ij}, g^{\mu\nu}, g^{\nu}_{\mu j}$ are symmetric in $\mu\nu, g^{\mu\nu}_{ij}, g_{ij}$ are symmetric in ij, and $g^{(\mu)}_{\nu i} = g^{(\nu)}_{\mu j}, g^{\mu}_{ij} = g^{\nu}_{ij}$ upon relabeling the free indices. All repeated indices are understood to be summed over. Because we are not assuming internal symmetries, they simply represent labels on the functions.

Pulling back along the section $j^{1}\phi$ and contracting with the inverse metric

$$\mathcal{L}[\phi,g] = \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \eta^{-1}, \left(j^{1}\phi\right)^{*}g \right\rangle \qquad \text{where} \quad \eta^{-1} = \eta^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{\rho} \otimes \partial_{\sigma}, \quad (6.104)$$

we get

$$\mathcal{L}[\phi,g] = \frac{\Lambda^4}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} g_{\mu\nu} + \Lambda^2 g_{\mu j} \partial^{\mu} \phi^j + \Lambda g^{\nu}_{\mu j} \partial^{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi^j + \frac{1}{2} g_{ij} \partial^{\mu} \phi^i \partial^{\mu} \phi^j \qquad (6.105)$$

$$+ \frac{1}{2} \frac{g^{\mu}_{ij}}{\Lambda} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi^i \partial^{\nu} \phi^j + \frac{1}{2} \frac{g^{\nu}_{ij}}{\Lambda} \partial^{\mu} \phi^i \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi^j + \frac{1}{2} \frac{g^{\mu}_{ij}}{\Lambda^2} \partial_{\rho} \partial_{\mu} \phi^i \partial^{\rho} \partial_{\nu} \phi^j$$

$$= -\Lambda^4 V + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi^i \partial^{\mu} \phi^j (C_{ij} + 2G_{ij} + J_{ij}) + \Lambda \Box \phi^j E_j$$

$$+ \frac{(\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi^i \partial^{\mu} \phi^{\phi})}{\Lambda^2} \frac{A_{ij}}{2} + \frac{\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi^i \partial^{\mu} \phi^j \partial^{\mu} \phi^k}{\Lambda^3} \frac{B_{ijk} + B_{jik} + 2F_{1,ijk}}{2}$$

$$+ \frac{(\Box \phi^i) \partial_{\mu} \phi^j \partial^{\mu} \phi^k}{\Lambda^3} F_{2,ijk}(u) + \frac{(\partial_{\mu} \phi^i \partial^{\mu} \phi^j) (\partial_{\nu} \phi^k \partial^{\nu} \phi^l)}{\Lambda^4} \frac{D_{ijkl} + 2H_{ijkl} + K_{ijkl}}{2}.$$

$$(6.106)$$

This result is again formally equivalent to those obtained in section 6.1 and section 6.2, the only difference being the presence of explicit field indices. The E_j function is required to have a non-singular metric at the 2-derivatives level, but it is redundant via IBP³⁷:

$$\Box \phi^{j} E_{j} = -\frac{\partial_{\mu} \phi^{i} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{j}}{\Lambda} \frac{\mathrm{d} E_{j}}{\mathrm{d} (\phi^{i} / \Lambda)}.$$
(6.107)

The term proportional to the function $F_{2,ijk}$ is also redundant and can be recast as

$$(\Box \phi^{i}) \partial_{\mu} \phi^{j} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{k} F_{2,ijk} = -\left(\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi^{j}\right) \partial^{\mu} \phi^{k} \partial^{\nu} \phi^{i} \left(F_{2,ijk} + F_{2,ikj}\right) - \frac{\left(\partial_{\mu} \phi^{j} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{k}\right) \left(\partial_{\nu} \phi^{i} \partial^{\nu} \phi^{l}\right)}{\Lambda} \frac{\mathrm{d}F_{2,ijk}}{\mathrm{d}\left(\phi^{l}/\Lambda\right)}$$
(6.108)

 $^{^{37}}$ As in the previous example, we find that for any number of fields *N*, there are always as many independent IBPs as operators with boxes. This implies that the set of all box-less operators forms a complete and non-redundant Green's basis.

such that

$$\mathcal{L}[\phi,g] = \text{IBP} \circ \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \eta^{-1}, \left(j^{1}\phi\right)^{*}g \right\rangle$$

$$= -\Lambda^{4}V + \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\mu}\phi^{i}\partial^{\mu}\phi^{j}\left(C_{ij} + 2G_{ij} + J_{ij} - 2\frac{\mathrm{d}E_{j}}{\mathrm{d}(\phi^{i}/\Lambda)}\right)$$

$$+ \frac{\left(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi^{i}\partial^{\mu}\phi^{j}\right)}{\Lambda^{2}}\frac{A_{ij}}{2} + \frac{\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi^{i}\partial^{\mu}\phi^{j}\partial^{\nu}\phi^{k}}{\Lambda^{3}}\left(\frac{B_{ijk} + B_{jik}}{2} + F_{1,ijk} - F_{2,kij} - F_{2,kji}\right)$$

$$+ \frac{\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi^{i}\partial^{\mu}\phi^{j}\right)\left(\partial_{\nu}\phi^{k}\partial^{\nu}\phi^{l}\right)}{\Lambda^{4}}\left(\frac{D_{ijkl} + K_{ijkl}}{2} + H_{ijkl} - \frac{\mathrm{d}F_{2,kij}}{\mathrm{d}(\phi^{l}/\Lambda)}\right).$$
(6.109)
$$(6.109)$$

This Lagrangian manifestly captures the complete Green's basis in equation (6.96).

EOM redundancies

We can repeat the same exercise illustrated in section 6.2 in order to identify a minimal operator basis with up to 4 derivatives, accounting for both IBP and EOM reduction. The procedure is formally equivalent to the one illustrated above, and leads to an analogous result, namely:

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi^{i} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{i} - \mathcal{V}(\phi) + \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi^{2} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{2} \phi^{1} \phi^{1} \mathcal{F}^{0}_{2211}(\phi) + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{4}} \left(\partial_{\mu} \phi^{i} \partial^{\mu} \phi^{j} \right) \left(\partial_{\nu} \phi^{k} \partial^{\nu} \phi^{l} \right) \mathcal{F}^{3}_{ijkl}(\phi) .$$
(6.111)

For N = 2,3 field insertions it is possible to remove all terms with up to 4 derivatives (except the two kinetic ones) and trade them for non-derivative interactions in the potential. For $N \ge 4$, the structure $(\partial \phi)^4$ is always independent. The main difference with the previous examples is that, in addition, (N - 3) index assignments of the 2-derivative operator cannot be removed. Here we chose arbitrarily those starting with (2211).

The Lagrangian in equation (6.111) is a subset of (6.96), and therefore it can be obtained pulling back a 1-jet bundle metric. Comparing to equation (6.110), we see that such a metric should satisfy:

$$A_{ij} = 0,$$
 (6.112)

$$B_{ijk} + B_{jik} + 2F_{1,ijk} - 2F_{2,kij} - 2F_{2,kji} = 0, (6.113)$$

$$V = \frac{\mathcal{V}(\phi)}{\Lambda^4} \tag{6.114}$$

$$C_{ij} + 2G_{ij} + J_{ij} - 2\frac{\mathrm{d}E_j}{\mathrm{d}(\phi^i/\Lambda)} = \delta_{ij} + \delta_{i2}\delta_{j2}(\phi^1)^2 \mathcal{F}^0_{2211}(\phi) , \qquad (6.115)$$

$$\frac{1}{2}\left(D_{ijkl} + K_{ijkl}\right) + H_{ijkl} - \frac{\mathrm{d}F_{2,kij}}{\mathrm{d}\left(\phi^l/\Lambda\right)} = \mathcal{F}^3_{ijkl}\left(\phi\right).$$
(6.116)

7. Four scalars in 4d, with O(4) internal symmetry

We now cover the case of a multiplet of 4 fields in Minkowski space, with an internal O(4) symmetry. This example is representative of SMEFT/HEFT with exact custodial symmetry and in the absence of gauge and fermion fields. The discussion in this section follows the same steps taken in the examples in section 6.

7.1. The EFT Lagrangian up to 4 derivatives

We start by constructing a complete, IBP-non-redundant set of O(4)-symmetric operators with up to 4 derivatives and arbitrary number of fields. We require that no more than 2 derivatives act on each field and the absence of boxes. As in the toy examples, this identifies a unique Lagrangian:

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\mu} \phi \mathcal{F}_{a} + (\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi)^{2} \mathcal{F}_{b} - \mathcal{V} + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{2}} (\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} \phi) \mathcal{F}_{1} + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{4}} (\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi) (\partial^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi) \mathcal{F}_{2} + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{4}} (\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\mu} \phi) (\partial^{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi) \mathcal{F}_{3} + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{4}} (\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi) (\partial^{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\nu} \phi) \mathcal{F}_{4} + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{4}} (\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\mu} \phi)^{2} \mathcal{F}_{5} + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{4}} (\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial_{\nu} \phi)^{2} \mathcal{F}_{6} + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{6}} (\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi) (\partial^{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi) (\partial^{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi) \mathcal{F}_{7} + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{6}} (\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\mu} \phi) (\partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi)^{2} \mathcal{F}_{8} + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{6}} (\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial_{\nu} \phi) (\partial^{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi) (\partial^{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi) \mathcal{F}_{9} + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{8}} (\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi)^{4} \mathcal{F}_{10}.$$
(7.1)

Here the dot indicates the contraction of two 4-vectors: $\phi \cdot \phi = \phi^i \phi^j \delta_{ij}$ and $\mathcal{V}, \mathcal{F}_k$ are generic functions of $(\phi \cdot \phi)/\Lambda^2$. The requirement of a canonical kinetic term translates into $\mathcal{F}_a(0) = 1$. As for the examples in section 6, the basis structure with and without EOM redundancies has been cross-checked with BasisGen. Upon imposing preservation of the custodial symmetry, the number of operators with 2 derivatives + 4 fields, and 4 derivatives + 2 fields in the Green's basis of equation (7.1) matches the number in [90]. The number of operators with 2 derivatives + 4 fields match those in [91]³⁸.

While the connection to (jet) bundle geometry is best studied considering the 4 scalars as the components of a real vector, it can be useful to make contact with the more familiar form in terms of the SU(2) Higgs doublet, by exploiting the isomorphism

$$O(4) \cong \left(\frac{SU(2)_L \times SU(2)_R}{\mathbb{Z}_2}\right) \rtimes \mathbb{Z}_2,$$
(7.2)

where the quotient by \mathbb{Z}_2 identifies the central elements of $SU(2)_L$ and $SU(2)_R$; the part in parentheses is SO(4), which recall is a normal subgroup of O(4).

³⁸ There are 3 custodial-preserving terms in [90]: $O_{H\Box}$, O'_{HD} , O_{DH} . There are 8 in [91]: $O^{(1)}_{\phi^6}$, $O^{(3)}_{\phi^6}$, $O^{(4)}_{\phi^4}$, $O^{(10)}_{\phi^4}$,

Explicit expressions for the operators in (7.1) can be obtained straightforwardly from the following dictionary:

$$\partial_{\mu}\phi\cdot\phi=\partial_{\mu}\left(H^{\dagger}H\right),\tag{7.3}$$

$$\partial_{\mu}\phi \cdot \partial_{\nu}\phi = \left(\partial_{\mu}H^{\dagger}\right)\left(\partial_{\nu}H\right) + \left(\partial_{\nu}H^{\dagger}\right)\left(\partial_{\mu}H\right), \qquad (7.4)$$

$$\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi\cdot\phi = \left(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}H^{\dagger}\right)H + H^{\dagger}\left(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}H\right),\tag{7.5}$$

$$\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi \cdot \partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma}\phi = \left(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}H^{\dagger}\right)\left(\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma}H\right) + \left(\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma}H^{\dagger}\right)\left(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}H\right),\tag{7.6}$$

$$\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi\cdot\partial^{\mu}\phi = \left(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}H^{\dagger}\right)\left(\partial^{\mu}H\right) + \left(\partial^{\mu}H^{\dagger}\right)\left(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}H\right),\tag{7.7}$$

$$\mathcal{F}\left(\phi \cdot \phi/\Lambda^{2}\right) = \mathcal{F}\left(H^{\dagger}H/\Lambda^{2}\right).$$
(7.8)

EOM redundancies

If EOM redundancies are accounted for, the Lagrangian in equation (7.1) can be further reduced. Applying the procedure described in section 6.2, we find that a possible IBP+EOM -non-redundant basis is:

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\mu} \phi + (\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi)^{2} \mathcal{F}_{b} - \mathcal{V} + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{4}} (\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\mu} \phi)^{2} \mathcal{F}_{5} + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{4}} (\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial_{\nu} \phi)^{2} \mathcal{F}_{6} + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{6}} (\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\mu} \phi) (\partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi)^{2} \mathcal{F}_{8} + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{6}} (\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial_{\nu} \phi) (\partial^{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi) (\partial^{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi) \mathcal{F}_{9} + \frac{1}{\Lambda^{8}} (\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi)^{4} \mathcal{F}_{10}.$$
(7.9)

Notice that the function \mathcal{F}_a accompanying the kinetic term has now been removed. This is the case because, with $N \ge 4$ fields it is always possible to map via IBP

$$\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi\partial^{\mu}\phi\right)\left(\phi\cdot\phi\right)^{N-2} = \left(2-N\right)\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi\cdot\phi\right)^{2}\left(\phi\cdot\phi\right)^{N-4} - \left(\Box\phi\cdot\phi\right)\left(\phi\cdot\phi\right)^{N-2},\tag{7.10}$$

and then remove the last term via EOM. Equation (7.9) is consistent with the SMEFT operator bases in the literature: for instance, the Warsaw basis of dimension-6 operators [4] contains 1 custodial-preserving operator with 2 derivatives + 4 fields $(O_{H\square} \sim \mathcal{F}_b)$, and none with 4 derivatives + 2 fields. The Murphy basis of dimension-8 operators [92] also contains 1 operator with 2 derivatives + 6 fields $(Q_{H^6}^{(1)} \sim \mathcal{F}_b)$, and 3 with 4 derivatives + 4 fields. However, only 2 combinations of those $(Q_{H^4}^{(6)} \sim \mathcal{F}_5, (Q_{H^4}^{(1)} + Q_{H^4}^{(2)}) \sim \mathcal{F}_6)$ preserve the custodial symmetry. The interactions in the last two lines of equation (7.9) correspond to dimension-10 and higher operators in SMEFT and were cross-checked against the results of [93].

7.2. The EFT Lagrangian from 1-jet bundle geometry

The full 4-derivative Lagrangian in equation (7.1) can be captured by pulling back to spacetime a metric from the 1-jet bundle J^1E . This is a real 24-manifold, with local fibred coordinates

$$y^{I} = \left\{ x^{\mu}, u^{i}, u^{i}_{\mu} \right\}.$$
(7.11)

The metric components must be representations of O(4), $g^{\mu\nu}$, $g^{\nu}_{\mu j}$, $g^{\mu\nu}_{ij}$ are symmetric in $\mu\nu$ and g_{ij} , $g^{\mu\nu}_{ij}$ are symmetric in ij, while this is not enforced for g^{μ}_{ij} . The generic form is:

$$g_{ij}^{\mu\nu} = \eta^{\mu\nu} \delta_{ij} A_0(u) + \eta^{\mu\nu} \frac{u_i u_j}{\Lambda^2} A_1(u) , \qquad (7.12)$$

$$g_{ij}^{\mu} = \frac{u_i^{\mu} u_j}{\Lambda^3} B_0(u) + \frac{u_i u_j^{\mu}}{\Lambda^3} B_1(u) + \delta_{ij} \frac{u \cdot u^{\mu}}{\Lambda^3} B_2(u) + \frac{u_i u_j (u \cdot u^{\mu})}{\Lambda^5} B_3(u) , \qquad (7.13)$$

$$g_{ij} = \delta_{ij}C_0(u) + \frac{u_i u_j}{\Lambda^2}C_1(u) + \delta_{ij}\frac{u_{\rho} \cdot u^{\rho}}{\Lambda^4}D_0(u) + \frac{u_{i\rho}u_j^{\rho}}{\Lambda^4}D_1(u) + \left[\delta_{ij}\frac{(u \cdot u^{\rho})^2}{\Lambda^6} + \frac{u_i u_j(u_{\rho} \cdot u^{\rho})}{\Lambda^6}\right]\frac{D_2(u)}{2} + \frac{(u_i u_{j\rho} + u_j u_{i\rho})(u \cdot u^{\rho})}{2\Lambda^6}D_3(u) + \frac{u_i u_j(u \cdot u_{\rho})^2}{\Lambda^8}D_4(u),$$
(7.14)

$$g_{\mu j}^{\nu} = \delta_{\mu}^{\nu} \frac{u_{j}}{\Lambda} E(u) + \frac{u_{j} (u^{\nu} \cdot u_{\mu})}{\Lambda^{5}} F_{10}(u) + \frac{u_{j}^{\nu} (u \cdot u_{\mu}) + (u \cdot u^{\nu}) u_{j\mu}}{2\Lambda^{5}} F_{11}(u) + \frac{u_{j} (u \cdot u^{\nu}) (u \cdot u_{\mu})}{\Lambda^{7}} F_{12}(u) + \delta_{\mu}^{\nu} \frac{u_{j} (u_{\rho} \cdot u^{\rho})}{\Lambda^{5}} F_{20}(u) + \delta_{\mu}^{\nu} \frac{u_{j\rho} (u \cdot u^{\rho})}{\Lambda^{5}} F_{21}(u) + \delta_{\mu}^{\nu} \frac{u_{j} (u \cdot u^{\rho})^{2}}{\Lambda^{7}} F_{22}(u),$$
(7.15)

$$\begin{split} g_{\mu j} &= \frac{u_{j \mu}}{\Lambda^2} G_0(u) + \frac{u_j(u \cdot u_{\mu})}{\Lambda^4} G_1(u) + \frac{u_{j \mu}(u_{\rho} \cdot u^{\rho})}{\Lambda^6} H_0(u) \\ &+ \frac{u_{j \rho}(u_{\mu} \cdot u^{\rho})}{\Lambda^6} H_1(u) + \left[\frac{u_j(u \cdot u_{\mu})(u_{\rho} \cdot u^{\rho})}{\Lambda^8} + \frac{u_{j \mu}(u \cdot u_{\rho})^2}{\Lambda^8} \right] \frac{H_2(u)}{2} \\ &+ \left[\frac{u_j(u_{\mu} \cdot u_{\rho})(u \cdot u^{\rho})}{\Lambda^8} + \frac{u_{j \rho}(u \cdot u_{\mu})(u \cdot u^{\rho})}{\Lambda^8} \right] \frac{H_3(u)}{2} + \frac{u_j(u \cdot u_{\mu})(u \cdot u_{\rho})^2}{\Lambda^{10}} H_4(u), \quad (7.16) \\ g_{\mu\nu} &= -\frac{1}{2} \eta_{\mu\nu} V(u) + \left[\frac{(u_{\mu} \cdot u_{\nu})}{\Lambda^4} + \frac{\eta_{\mu\nu}}{4} \frac{(u_{\rho} \cdot u^{\rho})}{\Lambda^4} \right] \frac{J_0(u)}{2} \\ &+ \left[\frac{(u \cdot u_{\mu})(u \cdot u_{\nu})}{\Lambda^6} + \frac{\eta_{\mu\nu}}{4} \frac{(u \cdot u_{\rho})^2}{\Lambda^6} \right] \frac{J_1(u)}{2} + \left[\frac{(u_{\mu} \cdot u_{\nu})}{\Lambda^4} + \frac{\eta_{\mu\nu}}{4} \frac{(u_{\rho} \cdot u^{\rho})}{\Lambda^4} \right] \frac{u_{\sigma} \cdot u^{\sigma}}{\Lambda^4} \frac{K_0(u)}{2} \\ &+ \left[\frac{(u \cdot u_{\mu})(u^{\sigma} \cdot u_{\nu})}{\Lambda^{10}} + \frac{\eta_{\mu\nu}}{4} \frac{(u \cdot u_{\rho})^2(u_{\sigma} \cdot u^{\sigma})}{\Lambda^{10}} + \frac{(u \cdot u_{\nu})(u \cdot u_{\sigma})^2}{\Lambda^3} \right] \frac{K_2(u)}{3} \\ &+ \left[\frac{(u \cdot u_{\mu})(u^{\sigma} \cdot u_{\nu}) + (u^{\sigma} \cdot u_{\mu})(u \cdot u_{\nu})}{2\Lambda^7} + \frac{\eta_{\mu\nu}}{4} \frac{(u \cdot u_{\rho})(u^{\sigma} \cdot u^{\rho})}{\Lambda^6} \right] \frac{(u \cdot u_{\rho})^2}{\Lambda^6} \frac{K_4(u)}{2}, \quad (7.17) \end{split}$$

where $V, A_n \dots K_n$ are functions of $(u \cdot u)/\Lambda^2$, we implicitly defined $u_i = \delta_{ik} u^k$ and the dot denotes a contraction of internal indices. We can also take $g_{\nu i} = g_{\mu j}, g_{\nu i}^{\mu} = g_{\mu j}^{\nu}, g_{i j}^{\nu} = g_{i j}^{\mu}$ upon index relabeling and we grouped together structures that yield identical results upon mapping to the Lagrangian.

Pulling back along the section $j^{1}\phi$ and contracting with the inverse metric

$$\mathcal{L}[\phi,g] = \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \eta^{-1}, \left(j^{1}\phi\right)^{*}g \right\rangle \qquad \text{where} \quad \eta^{-1} = \eta^{\rho\sigma}\partial_{\rho} \otimes \partial_{\sigma}, \quad (7.18)$$

we get

$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{L}[\phi,g] &= \frac{\Lambda^4}{2} \eta^{\mu\nu} g_{\mu\nu} + \Lambda^2 g_{\mu j} \partial^{\mu} \phi^j + \Lambda g_{\mu j}^{\nu} \partial^{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi^j + \frac{1}{2} g_{ij} \partial^{\mu} \phi^i \partial^{\mu} \phi^j \qquad (7.19) \\ &+ \frac{1}{2} \frac{g_{ij}^{\mu}}{\Lambda} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi^i \partial^{\nu} \phi^j + \frac{1}{2} \frac{g_{ij}^{\nu}}{\Lambda} \partial^{\mu} \phi^i \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi^j + \frac{1}{2} \frac{g_{ij}^{\mu\nu}}{\Lambda^2} \partial_{\rho} \partial_{\mu} \phi^j \partial^{\rho} \partial_{\nu} \phi^j \\ &= (\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\mu} \phi) \frac{C_0 + 2G_0 + J_0}{2} + \frac{(\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi)^2}{\Lambda^2} \frac{C_1 + 2G_1 + J_1}{2} + (\Box \phi \cdot \phi) E - \Lambda^4 V \\ &+ \frac{(\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} \phi)}{\Lambda^2} \frac{A_0}{2} + \frac{(\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi) (\partial^{\mu} \partial^{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi)}{\Lambda^4} \frac{A_1}{2} \\ &+ \frac{(\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\mu} \phi) (\partial^{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi)}{\Lambda^4} \frac{B_0 + B_1 + 2B_2 + 2F_{11}}{2} \\ &+ \frac{(\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi) (\partial^{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\nu} \phi)}{\Lambda^4} B_0 + B_1 + 2F_{10}} \\ &+ \frac{(\Box \phi \cdot \partial) (\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\mu} \phi)}{\Lambda^4} F_{20} + \frac{(\Box \phi \cdot \partial_{\mu} \phi) (\partial^{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi)}{\Lambda^4} F_{21} \\ &+ \frac{(\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi) (\partial^{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi) (\partial^{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi)}{\Lambda^6} (B_3 + F_{12}) + \frac{(\Box \phi \cdot \phi) (\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi)^2}{\Lambda^6} F_{22} \\ &+ \frac{(\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\mu} \phi) (\partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi)^2}{\Lambda^6} \frac{D_2 + 2H_2 + K_2}{2} \\ &+ \frac{(\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial_{\mu} \phi) (\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi) (\partial^{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi)}{\Lambda^6} \frac{D_3 + 2H_3 + K_3}{2} \\ &+ \frac{(\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi) \partial^{\mu} \Phi \cdot \partial(\partial^{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi)}{\Lambda^8} \frac{D_4 + 2H_4 + K_4}{2}. \end{aligned}$$

The Lagrangian obtained from the 1-jet metric manifestly matches the complete Green's basis of operators with up to 4 derivatives and arbitrary number of fields, presented in equation (7.1). The only leftover IBP redundancies are in the E, F_{20} , F_{21} and F_{22} terms, that can be recast as³⁹

$$(\Box\phi\cdot\phi)E = -\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi\cdot\partial^{\mu}\phi\right)E - 2\frac{\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi\cdot\phi\right)\left(\partial^{\mu}\phi\cdot\phi\right)}{\Lambda^{2}}\frac{\mathrm{d}E}{\mathrm{d}\left(\phi\cdot\phi/\Lambda^{2}\right)},\tag{7.21}$$

$$(\Box\phi\cdot\phi)\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi\cdot\partial^{\mu}\phi\right)F_{20} = -\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi\cdot\partial^{\mu}\phi\right)^{2}F_{20} - 2\left(\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\mu}\phi\cdot\partial^{\mu}\phi\right)\left(\partial^{\nu}\phi\cdot\phi\right)F_{20} - \frac{2\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi\cdot\partial^{\mu}\phi\right)\left(\partial_{\nu}\phi\cdot\phi\right)\left(\partial^{\nu}\phi\cdot\phi\right)}{\Lambda^{2}}\frac{\mathrm{d}F_{20}}{\mathrm{d}\left(\phi\cdot\phi/\Lambda^{2}\right)}$$
(7.22)

³⁹ As in all the previous examples, we find as many independent IBP as operators with boxes, at each fields and derivatives multiplicity (up to 4). Therefore the set of all box-less operators forms a Green's basis.

$$(\Box \phi \cdot \partial_{\mu} \phi) \left(\partial^{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi\right) F_{21} = -\left(\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\nu} \phi\right) \left(\partial^{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi\right) F_{21} - \left(\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi\right) \left(\partial^{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\nu} \phi\right) F_{21} - \left(\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial_{\nu} \phi\right)^{2} F_{21} - \frac{2\left(\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial_{\nu} \phi\right) \left(\partial^{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi\right) \left(\partial^{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi\right)}{\Lambda^{2}} \frac{dF_{21}}{d\left(\phi \cdot \phi/\Lambda^{2}\right)}$$
(7.23)
$$(\Box \phi \cdot \phi) \left(\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi\right)^{2} F_{22} = -\left(\partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \partial^{\nu} \phi\right) \left(\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi\right)^{2} F_{22} - 2\left(\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi\right) \left(\partial^{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi\right) \left(\partial^{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi\right) F_{22} - 2\left(\partial_{\mu} \phi \cdot \partial_{\nu} \phi\right) \left(\partial^{\mu} \phi \cdot \phi\right)^{2} \left(\partial_{\nu} \phi \cdot \phi\right)^{2} \frac{dF_{22}}{d\left(\phi \cdot \phi/\Lambda^{2}\right)}$$
(7.24)

such that

$$\begin{split} \mathcal{L}[\phi,g] &= \mathrm{IBP} \circ \frac{1}{2} \left\langle \eta^{-1}, \left(j^{1}\phi\right)^{*}g \right\rangle \end{split} \tag{7.25} \\ &= \left(\partial_{\mu}\phi \cdot \partial^{\mu}\phi\right) \frac{C_{0} + 2G_{0} + J_{0} - 2E}{2} + \frac{\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi \cdot \phi\right)^{2}}{\Lambda^{2}} \frac{C_{1} + 2G_{1} + J_{1} - 4E'}{2} - \Lambda^{4}V \\ &+ \frac{\left(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi \cdot \partial^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}\phi\right)}{\Lambda^{2}} \frac{A_{0}}{2} + \frac{\left(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi \cdot \phi\right)\left(\partial^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}\phi \cdot \phi\right)}{\Lambda^{4}} \frac{A_{1}}{2} \\ &+ \frac{\left(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi \cdot \partial^{\mu}\phi\right)\left(\partial^{\nu}\phi \cdot \phi\right)}{\Lambda^{4}} \frac{B_{0} + B_{1} + 2B_{2} + 2F_{11} - 4F_{20} - 2F_{21}}{2} \\ &+ \frac{\left(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi \cdot \phi\right)\left(\partial^{\mu}\phi \cdot \partial^{\nu}\phi\right)}{\Lambda^{4}} \frac{B_{0} + B_{1} + 2F_{10} - 2F_{21}}{2} \\ &+ \frac{\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi \cdot \partial^{\mu}\phi\right)^{2}}{\Lambda^{4}} \frac{D_{0} + 2H_{0} + K_{10} - 2F_{20}}{2} + \frac{\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi \cdot \partial_{\nu}\phi\right)^{2}}{\Lambda^{4}} \frac{D_{1} + 2H_{1} + K_{1} - 2F_{21}}{2} \\ &+ \frac{\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi \cdot \partial^{\mu}\phi\right)\left(\partial_{\nu}\phi \cdot \phi\right)^{2}}{\Lambda^{6}} \frac{D_{2} + 2H_{2} + K_{2} - 4F_{20}' - 2F_{22}}{2} \\ &+ \frac{\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi \cdot \partial_{\nu}\phi\right)\left(\partial^{\mu}\phi \cdot \phi\right)\left(\partial^{\nu}\phi \cdot \phi\right)}{\Lambda^{6}} \frac{D_{3} + 2H_{3} + K_{3} - 4F_{21}' - 4F_{22}}{2} \\ &+ \frac{\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi \cdot \phi\right)^{4}}{\Lambda^{8}} \frac{D_{4} + 2H_{4} + K_{4} - 4F_{22}'}{2}, \end{aligned} \tag{7.26}$$

where $E' = dE/d(\phi \cdot \phi/\Lambda^2)$ and analogously for the other functions.

7.3. Beyond the custodial limit

In actual SMEFT/HEFT, the symmetry O(4) is not exact: the electroweak vacuum preserves only a $O(3) \sim SU(2)_{L+R}/\mathbb{Z}_2$ subgroup, namely the custodial symmetry. This is however broken explicitly by the gauging of the hypercharge U(1), which (in the absence of fermions) coincides with the group spanned by the 3rd generator of $SU(2)_R$. While invariance under the gauged $SU(2)_L \times U(1)$ subgroup must clearly be respected, it is generally possible to include operators that are not invariant under the groups spanned by the first two generators of $SU(2)_R$, and therefore break the custodial O(3).

We can ask whether custodial-violating effects can be described in the jet bundle formalism. Indeed, custodial-violating terms can be added to the 1-jet metric without posing any problem. More in general, any internal symmetry structure of the Lagrangian can always be accommodated in the 1-jet bundle by choosing suitable metric entries. Even situations with no symmetry at all can be reproduced, as illustrated in the two scalars example in section 6.3. In the specific case of SMEFT/HEFT custodial violation, they can be introduced allowing for contractions with the 3rd generator of $SU(2)_R$: given two O(4) vectors u^i, v^j ,

$$u \cdot v = u^i v^j \delta_{ij}$$
 is custodial preserving,
 $u t^{3R} v = u^i v^j t^{3R}_{ij}$ is custodial violating. (7.27)

If O(4) vectors ϕ^i , i = 1...4 are defined such that the mapping to SU(2) doublets is

$$H = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \begin{pmatrix} \phi^2 + i\phi^1 \\ \phi^4 - i\phi^3 \end{pmatrix},$$
(7.28)

then an explicit form for t_{ii}^{3R} is

$$t^{3R} = \frac{1}{2} \begin{pmatrix} 1 & & \\ -1 & & \\ & & -1 \\ & & 1 \end{pmatrix}.$$
 (7.29)

While in this work we do not aim at constructing a complete and non-redundant basis including this class of operators, a generalization would be straightforward. As a practical example, the metric terms

$$g_{ij} = t_{ik}^{3R} t_{jl}^{3R} \frac{u^k u^l}{\Lambda^2}, \qquad \qquad g_{\mu\nu} = t_{ik}^{3R} t_{jl}^{3R} \frac{u^i_{\nu} u^{j\nu} u^k_{\rho} u^{l\rho}}{\Lambda^8}, \qquad (7.30)$$

pull back respectively to the custodial-violating dimension-6 and dimension-8 operators

$$\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi t^{3R}\phi\right)^{2} = \left(\partial_{\mu}H^{\dagger}H\right)\left(H^{\dagger}\partial^{\mu}H\right), \qquad (7.31)$$

$$\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi \cdot t^{3R} \cdot \partial_{\nu}\phi\right)^{2} = \left(\partial_{\mu}H^{\dagger}\partial_{\nu}H - \partial_{\nu}H^{\dagger}\partial_{\mu}H\right)^{2}, \qquad (7.32)$$

after using our usual prescription for constructing the Lagrangian.

7.4. Topological terms

In section 2.2 we mentioned the possibility of topological terms in scalar EFTs. The HEFTs we consider in this section admit such topological terms (with a similar story playing out for an O(N)-invariant theory of N real scalars in d = N spacetime dimensions). We briefly digress in this Subsection to sketch the construction of these topological terms, for the 4d O(4)-invariant theory of 4 real scalars considered in this section. Given such terms are not the focus of our geometric jet bundle formalism—the topological terms are, after all, those that explicitly do *not* require a geometry—our discussion here is neither rigorous nor general. But we believe it is sufficient for the particular example we consider, up to the omission of possible torsion effects that cannot naïvely be captured by differential forms (but can be captured, for example, by differential cohomology [73]).

To understand these topological terms, it is enough to stick with the field space bundle (E, Σ, π) introduced in section 3, i.e. we do not need to pass to the 1-jet bundle J^1E . Locally, we adopt our usual fibred coordinate system (x^{μ}, u^i) and choose a section $\phi \in \Gamma_x(\pi)$ with

which to pull back objects. The topological term is proportional to the following operator in the Lagrangian⁴⁰:

$$\mathcal{O}_{\rm top} \propto \frac{1}{\Lambda^4} \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \epsilon_{ijkl} \partial^\mu \phi^i \partial^\nu \phi^j \partial^\rho \phi^k \partial^\sigma \phi^l \,. \tag{7.33}$$

The corresponding term in the action is 'topological' because it is in fact the integral of an O(4)-invariant differential form. This means it is independent of any metric—even that on spacetime which appears in all other Lagrangian terms captured by our construction. Here the differential form in question is a 4-form $A \in \Omega^4(E)$ that is closed (dA = 0) but need not be exact (its integral over a closed submanifold can be non-zero), which can be written in our local coordinate chart as

$$A|_{\mathcal{U}_{\Sigma}\times\mathcal{F}_{M}} = \mathrm{d}u^{1}\wedge\mathrm{d}u^{2}\wedge\mathrm{d}u^{3}\wedge\mathrm{d}u^{4}.$$

$$(7.34)$$

The corresponding action is obtained by pulling back along the section ϕ and integrating,

$$S_{\text{top}} = \frac{\theta}{2\pi V} \int_{\Sigma} \phi^* A, \qquad \theta \in \mathbb{R}/2\pi \mathbb{Z},$$
(7.35)

which will give the operator structure \mathcal{O}_{top} . Here $V \propto \Lambda^4$ is an appropriate normalisation factor whose precise value is subtle, but which can be roughly thought of as the (dimensionful) 'volume' of a typical fibre M, such that the action is dimensionless and the coupling constant θ is 2π periodic, analogous to a 'theta-angle' in gauge theories such as QCD.

Because the 4-form A that we pull back and integrate is closed, it is locally (but not necessarily global) exact by the Poincaré lemma. This means that, on our local coordinate patch, the Lagrangian term \mathcal{O}_{top} is a total derivative. This term in the action therefore gives no contribution to the classical EOMs, nor does it contribute to any Feynman diagrams. We therefore choose to neglect such terms in our main discussion—but we caution that this does not preclude their having physical effects *non*-perturbatively⁴¹.

The same is true for a (seemingly) more general class of terms that we can try to build using the ε tensor. For example, consider a more general operator structure of the form

$$\mathcal{O}_{top}^{(1)} = \frac{1}{\Lambda^4} f\!\left(\frac{\phi \cdot \phi}{\Lambda^2}\right) \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma} \epsilon_{ijkl} \partial^\mu \phi^i \partial^\nu \phi^j \partial^\rho \phi^k \partial^\sigma \phi^l, \qquad (7.36)$$

for any suitably smooth function with compact support f(x). This is again topological, obtained by pulling back a differential form $A^{(1)}$ along the section ϕ , where $A^{(1)}$ has the (local) form

$$A^{(1)}|_{\mathcal{U}_{\Sigma}\times\mathcal{F}_{M}} = f\left(\frac{u\cdot u}{\Lambda^{2}}\right) du^{1} \wedge du^{2} \wedge du^{3} \wedge du^{4}.$$

$$(7.37)$$

⁴⁰ Note that δ_{ij} and ε_{ijkl} are the only O(4) invariant tensors we can use to contract fundamental O(N) indices to form singlets. While the Kronecker-delta is used ubiquitously in our constructions of invariant metric terms and EFT operators, the epsilon tensor appears only in the topological terms discussed in this Subsection, and so it does not appear when formulating our EFTs perturbatively.

⁴¹ Indeed, depending on the topology of the field space fibre *M*, and because *A* is not exact, the topological term can seemingly be activated by instantons, corresponding to maps in non-trivial homotopy classes in $\pi_4(M)$. For example, if $M = S^4$ as in the Minimal Composite Higgs model [94], we have $\pi_4(S^4) = \mathbb{Z}$ characterised by maps of different integer winding number. A scaling argument [75, appendix A] suggests these instanton effects are expected to be important close to the UV cut-off scale (in contrast to the more familiar story for 4d gauge theory, where instantons give important effects in the IR).

Again, it is easy to verify that the differential form $A^{(1)}$ is closed, *viz*. $dA^{(1)} \propto f'u^i du^i \wedge A = 0$, where f' = df/dx, and where the last equality holds because $du^i \wedge du^i$ (no sum) vanishes for any $i \in \{1, ..., 4\}$. Therefore, again by the Poincaré lemma, any operator like $\mathcal{O}_{top}^{(1)}$ is also a total derivative⁴².

8. From jets to amplitudes

To conclude the paper, in this section we seek to connect the higher-derivative EFT Lagrangians that we have constructed using geometry on 1-jet bundles with physical observables—namely, some basic amplitudes in these scalar theories. Our study here is far from comprehensive, but we nonetheless already see some advantages of going to the jet bundle geometry.

8.1. Normal coordinates on the jet bundle (and why they fail)

In section 2.4 we reviewed the use of normal coordinates in the geometric formulation of EFTs, showcasing their ability to relate amplitudes to geometric invariants by offering an efficient coordinate system in which to expand the metric around a particular point.

In this paper, we have re-formulated scalar EFTs first using bundles (E, Σ, π) , which (besides other general advantages) allows one to incorporate the 0-derivative potential terms into the metric, alongside the 2-derivative terms. Additionally, the bundle construction provides a starting point for passing to higher jet bundles which allow one to further incorporate higher-derivative terms into geometry. In particular, we have seen in detail that geometry on the 1-jet bundle J^1E allows one to capture the full 4-derivative EFT. A natural question to ask is whether normal coordinates can be used to expand our jet bundle metric, in a similar fashion to the 2-derivative case considered in section 2.4, in an effort to obtain generalised formulae relating *n*-point correlators to components of the jet bundle Riemann tensor.

It turns out that such an attempt would be doomed to fail, in general. This is because, even though normal coordinates still exist (since the total spaces of the various bundles we consider are themselves pseudo-Riemannian manifolds), the map to normal coordinates is not guaranteed to respect the bundle structure of $(E, \Sigma, \pi)^{43}$, likewise of the 1-jet bundle. The additional structure of a bundle (E, Σ, π) is crucial to our formulation of the EFT, and this bundle structure imposes some restrictions. In particular, the fields are defined to be sections of the bundle, $\phi \in \Gamma(\pi)$. Any physically meaningful transformation that we can do must therefore map the bundle to another bundle; if not, then we can no longer even define fields (because we will have lost the notion of sections). For example, we have already discussed how field redefinitions, including derivative field redefinitions, may be defined as suitable changes of section, $\phi \to \psi$ with $\phi, \psi \in \Gamma(\pi)$; the non-derivative field redefinitions can moreover be identified with bundle

⁴² One might ask if there are any other contractions we can play with using the ε tensor that give terms which are *not* total derivatives, and the answer is no. For example, one might consider an operator structure $\mathcal{O}_{top}^{(2)} = \epsilon_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}\epsilon_{ijkl}\phi^i\partial^{\nu}\phi^j\partial^{\rho}\phi^k\partial^{\sigma}\phi^l\partial^{\mu}\phi^m\phi^m$. But $\mathcal{O}_{top}^{(2)}d^4x \propto \phi^*(\epsilon_{ijkl}u^i du^j \wedge du^k \wedge du^l) \wedge du^m u^m = (u^1 du^2 \wedge du^3 \wedge du^4) \wedge du^1 u^1 + \text{perms} \propto (u \cdot u) du^1 \wedge du^2 \wedge du^3 \wedge du^4$, and so this is the same form as $A^{(1)}$. Finally, we remark that a differential form like $A^{(1)}$, for non-constant function *f*, will likely be not just closed but also exact, in which case it has no effects even in the presence of instanton configurations, since it evaluates identically to zero on any closed manifold.

⁴³ A simple but technical explanation lies in the fact that the map to normal coordinates around a point $m \in E$ is defined by the exponential from some neighbourhood $V \subset T_m E$ to $U \subset E$, as described above in footnote ¹⁴. But for the transformation to preserve the fibres, we require $V \subset \pi^*(T_{\pi(m)}\Sigma)$, which is not necessarily true.

morphisms $(E, \Sigma, \pi) \to (F, \Omega, \rho)$, which induce maps $\Gamma(\pi) \to \Gamma(\rho)$ at the level of sections. In either case, it is straightforward to see that the condition $x^{\mu} \circ \phi = x^{\mu}$ on our local fibred coordinate system (x^{μ}, u^{i}) , and the simple requirement that any section is locally an inverse of the projection π , restricts us to transformations that act on coordinates as

$$\begin{aligned} x^{\mu} &\mapsto x'^{\mu}(x^{\nu}) , \\ u^{i} &\mapsto u'^{i} \left(x^{\nu}, u^{j} \right) . \end{aligned}$$
(8.1)

This is manifestly true in the case of non-derivative redefinitions, as can be seen from the commutative diagram in (3.6), but should hold more generally for any physical 'transformation' of the bundle (E, Σ, π) that we use to define our EFT.

The map to normal coordinates can violate the basic requirement (8.1) for preserving the (essential) bundle structure. To illustrate this, we consider two counter-examples in which one cannot satisfy the conditions for normal coordinates while preserving the bundle structure, both in the case of a single real scalar in 4d (the subject of section 6.2).

Counter-example: condition 1 for normal coordinates. Recall from section 2.4 that the first condition (2.34) for normal coordinates is that the metric is diagonal (with entries further normalised to ± 1 , determining the signature). Given an initial set of coordinates $x^{I} = (x^{\mu}, u, u_{\mu})$ on the 1-jet bundle, there are choices of invariant metrics written in those coordinates that are not diagonal (with off-diagonal elements indeed being necessary to match onto certain EFTs via our construction of the Lagrangian). This means that to pass to coordinates satisfying condition 1, we need to first do a rotation, and this rotation can mix x^{μ} with the other coordinates, violating (8.1).

For an explicit example, using the general expressions (6.33)–(6.38) for the invariant metric in the case of one real scalar in 4d, and evaluating at a point $p \in J^1 E$ such that $u(p) = 0 = u_\mu(p)$, we see that the metric tensor $g_{IJ}(p)$ takes the following block form

$$g_{IJ} = \begin{pmatrix} \eta_{\mu\nu}V(0) & 0 & \delta^{\mu}_{\nu}E(0) \\ 0 & C(0) & 0 \\ \delta^{\mu}_{\nu}E(0) & 0 & \eta^{\mu\nu}A(0) \end{pmatrix}$$
(8.2)

Assuming that none of the component functions vanish, it is clear that diagonalizing the metric requires a rotation of the form $(x^{\mu}, u_{\mu}) \mapsto O(x^{\mu}, u_{\mu})$ which mixes x^{μ} with u_{μ} , thus violating the bundle condition (8.1).

Now, the attentive reader might retort that, for the EFT described by this metric (with all functions non-zero), the function E(0) appearing on the off-diagonal is actually redundant, in that it pulls back to the $\Box \phi$ operator that is equivalent to the kinetic term after using IBPs; so if we take E(0) to zero, the metric is already (block) diagonal without the need to mix x^{μ} with other coordinates. However, there are EFTs where we *need* to keep the E(0) function; in particular, if A(0) = 0, in which case the EFT is purely 2-derivative and the E(0) term is required for invertibility of the metric. In that case, diagonalising the metric clearly requires a non-trivial rotation $(x^{\mu}, u_{\mu}) \mapsto O(x^{\mu}, u_{\mu})$, violating the bundle condition.

Counter-example: condition 3 for normal coordinates. We now suppose that one has a metric for which condition 1 is already satisfied, for example by taking the metric (8.2) and setting E(0) = 0 and $A(0) \neq 0$, and try to thence find coordinates that further satisfy condition 3 (2.36). The determination of the explicit coordinate transformation that takes us to normal coordinates on the total space can be found order-by-order via an iterative procedure, but for

our demonstration it will suffice to stop at the first order, at which point the obstruction shall already arise.

We start with a local fibred coordinate system $x^{I} = (x^{\mu}, u, u_{\mu})$ on a local patch of the 1jet manifold. To try to construct normal coordinates in a perturbative fashion, consider a new coordinate system $y^{I} = (y^{\mu}, v, v_{\mu})$, defined by $x^{I} = y^{I} + a_{JK}^{I}y^{J}y^{K}$, where a_{JK}^{I} is a tensor of constants satisfying $a_{JK}^{I} = a_{KJ}^{I}$. When evaluating the metric components \bar{g}_{IJ} in the y_{I} coordinate system, at the origin in these coordinates, we have

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial y^{K}} \bar{g}_{IJ}(0) = \frac{\partial}{\partial y^{K}} \left(\frac{\partial x^{R}}{\partial y^{I}} \frac{\partial x^{S}}{\partial y^{J}} g_{RS} \right) \Big|_{y=0}$$
$$= a_{IK}^{R} g_{RJ}(0) + a_{JK}^{S} g_{IS}(0) + \frac{\partial}{\partial x^{K}} g_{IJ}(0).$$
(8.3)

We see that the number of indices and the symmetries of a_{JK}^I and $\frac{\partial}{\partial x^K}g_{IJ}(0)$ match. This implies it is possible to choose the components a_{JK}^I such that $\frac{\partial}{\partial y^K}\bar{g}_{IJ}(0) = 0$, thus satisfying a necessary condition for normal coordinates (see section 2.4), by requiring

$$\frac{\partial}{\partial x^K}g_{IJ}(0) = -\left(a_{IK}^R g_{RJ}(0) + a_{JK}^R g_{RI}(0)\right).$$
(8.4)

From (8.4) we see that $a_{JK}^I = -\Gamma_{JK}^I(0)$, where the symmetries dictate that there are 18 different structures. The Christoffel symbols (with respect to the original x^I coordinates) are as usual given by

$$\Gamma_{JK}^{I} = \frac{1}{2} g^{IM} \left(g_{MJ,K} + g_{MK,J} - g_{JK,M} \right).$$
(8.5)

For our particular example, using the general expressions in equations (6.33)–(6.38) for the metric components and lowering all indices of the Christoffel symbols, we find

$$\begin{split} \Gamma_{\rho\mu\nu}(0) &= 0, \quad \Gamma_{\rho\muu}(0) = -\frac{1}{2}\partial_{u}V(0), \quad \Gamma_{\rhouu}(0) = 0, \\ \Gamma_{\rho\muu}^{\nu}(0) &= 0, \quad \Gamma_{\rhouu}^{\mu}(0) = \frac{1}{2}\delta_{\rho}^{\mu}\left(\frac{1}{\Lambda^{2}}G(0) + \partial_{u}E(0)\right), \quad \Gamma_{\rhouu}^{\mu\nu}(0) = 0, \\ \Gamma_{uuu}(0) &= \frac{1}{2}\partial_{\mu}C(0), \quad \Gamma_{uu\mu}(0) = 0, \quad \Gamma_{u\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}\partial_{u}V(0), \\ \Gamma_{uuu}^{\mu}(0) &= 0, \quad \Gamma_{u\muu}^{\nu}(0) = \frac{1}{2}\delta_{\mu}^{\nu}\left(\frac{1}{\Lambda^{2}}G(0) - \partial_{u}E(0)\right), \\ \Gamma_{uuu}^{\mu\nu}(0) &= \eta^{\mu\nu}\left(\frac{1}{\Lambda^{2}}B(0) - \frac{1}{2}\partial_{u}A(0)\right), \\ \Gamma_{uuu}^{\mu\nu}(0) &= 0, \quad \Gamma_{uu\nu}^{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}\eta^{\mu\nu}\partial_{u}A(0), \quad \Gamma_{uu\rho}^{\mu\nu}(0) = 0 \\ \Gamma_{uuu}^{\mu}(0) &= 0, \quad \Gamma_{u\nu\rho}^{\mu}(0) = 0, \quad \Gamma_{uu\nu}^{\mu}(0) = \frac{1}{2}\delta_{\nu}^{\mu}\left(\frac{1}{\Lambda^{2}}B(0) + \partial_{u}E(0) - \frac{1}{\Lambda^{2}}G(0)\right). \end{split}$$
(8.6)

Now let us consider a section $j^1\psi$, obtained by prolongation of a section $\psi \in \Gamma(\pi)$, with

$$y^{\mu} \circ j^{1} \psi = y^{\mu}$$

$$v \circ j^{1} \psi = \psi$$

$$v_{\mu} \circ j^{1} \psi = \frac{\partial \psi}{\partial y^{\mu}}$$
(8.7)

But when evaluated on the coordinate map x^{μ} , this section yields

$$\begin{aligned} x^{\mu} \circ j^{1}\psi &= (y^{\mu} - \frac{1}{2}g^{\mu L}(0)\Gamma_{LJK}(0)y^{J}y^{K}) \circ j^{1}\psi \\ &= (y^{\mu} - \frac{1}{2}(g^{\mu\nu}(0)\Gamma_{\nu JK}(0) + g^{\mu\mu}_{\nu}(0)\Gamma^{\nu}_{uJK}(0))y^{J}y^{K}) \circ j^{1}\psi \\ &= (y^{\mu} - (g^{\mu\nu}(0)\Gamma_{\nu\rho\mu}(0)y^{\rho}v + g^{\mu\nu}(0)\Gamma^{\rho}_{\nu\mu\mu}(0)v_{\rho}v \\ &+ g^{\mu\mu}_{\nu}(0)\Gamma^{\nu\rho}_{uuu}(0))vv_{\rho} + g^{\mu\mu}_{\nu}(0)\Gamma^{\nu}_{uu\rho}(0))y^{\rho}v) \circ j^{1}\psi \\ &= y^{\mu} - (g^{\rho\nu}(0)\Gamma_{\nu\mu\mu}(0)y^{\mu}\psi + g^{\rho\nu}(0)\Gamma^{\mu}_{uu\mu}(0)\psi\partial_{\mu}\psi \\ &+ g^{\rho\mu}_{\nu}(0)\Gamma^{\nu\mu}_{uuu}(0))\psi\partial_{\mu}\psi + g^{\rho\mu}_{\nu}(0)\Gamma^{\nu}_{uu\mu}(0))y^{\mu}\psi), \end{aligned}$$
(8.8)

thus failing to satisfy the condition (8.1).

This means that the change of coordinates we wish to implement does not preserve the bundle structure that is essential in formulating the EFT^{44} . Of course, one can always find example geometries for which going to normal coordinates does happen to be consistent with the bundle structure; from equation (8.8) it is easy to see that if the Christoffel symbols or metric components appearing were set to zero, then the map to normal coordinates would indeed satisfy (8.1). But this situation is far from generic, meaning that normal coordinates are not especially useful in our formalism.

Another important reason why normal coordinates are not generally useful in our formalism is that passing to normal coordinates would be inconsistent with the inclusion of any nonconstant potential V. This can be seen by supposing that we have gone to normal coordinates, and expanding the metric up to second order, giving

$$g = g_{IJ}(u) \,\mathrm{d}x^I \otimes \mathrm{d}x^J = \left(\bar{g}_{IJ} + \frac{1}{3}R_{IJKL}(m) \,x^K x^L + \dots\right) \mathrm{d}x^I \otimes \mathrm{d}x^J \,. \tag{8.9}$$

If we wish to impose Poincaré invariance, then a term such as $R_{i\mu\nu j}x^{\mu}x^{\nu}du^{i} \otimes du^{j}$ must be set to zero. However, the symmetries of the Riemann tensor state that $R_{i\mu\nu j} = R_{\mu ij\nu}$ and $R_{\mu ij\nu}u^{i}u^{j}dx^{\mu} \otimes dx^{\nu}$ corresponds to the mass term in the Lagrangian. Therefore, the map to normal coordinates in conjunction with Poincaré invariance requires the mass term to vanish

⁴⁴ Lest there is any confusion here, thanks to the coordinate independent nature of the metric tensor it is possible to use normal coordinates to obtain the same result as in any other coordinate chart, since the transformation $g_{IJ}(x) \rightarrow \overline{g}_{IJ}(y)$ is compensated by $dx^I \otimes dx^J \rightarrow dy^J \otimes dy^J$, such that the combination preserves the fibres, although there is little value in using normal coordinates in this way. The map to normal coordinates not being fibre preserving only causes an issue if we try to use it as a smooth map, since then there is no compensating factor.

and it is easy to see that all terms in the potential are forced to vanish beyond the leading order in the expansion.

Before moving on, we wish to make one last comment about normal coordinates in relation to our jet bundle formalism, which is that the *motivation* for passing to normal coordinates is also weaker than it was in the geometric approach that we reviewed in section 2. An important motivation for passing to normal coordinates comes from the inclusion of the potential Vcontributions to the geometric formulae for amplitudes: the problem is that the second derivative of the potential, which enters for example in four point amplitudes, does not in general transform like a tensor on field space manifold M due to the appearance of Christoffel symbols in the expression. Normal coordinates circumvent this non-tensorial behaviour because the Christoffel symbols vanish. In contrast, in our bundle-based reformulation of EFTs the potential is itself coming from components of the metric tensor, rather than being added in by hand, so we never face this issue.

8.2. Expansion of the jet bundle metric

We now show how the metric on the jet bundle may be expanded, explicitly *not* in normal coordinates, but in a way that *is* consistent with the iterated fibre bundle structure. As usual, we work with the local fibred coordinate system $\{x^{\mu}, u^{i}, u^{i}_{\mu}\}$ on a general jet manifold $J^{1}E^{45}$. The choice of origin point in the 1-jet manifold around which we expand the metric will be determined by the section $j^{1}\phi$ according to

$$u^{i}(j^{1}\phi(p)) = 0,$$

$$u^{i}_{\mu}(j^{1}\phi(p)) = 0,$$
(8.10)

i.e. $p \in \Sigma$ is a point in spacetime where the scalar field values ϕ^i , evaluated in our choice of local fibred coordinates, vanish. We can consider a completely general scalar theory, with arbitrary spacetime dimensions *d* and an arbitrary number of fields. While we do not impose any internal symmetries, we will impose Poincaré invariance, which simplifies the expansion substantially since:

- None of the metric tensor components may depend explicitly on x^{μ} , i.e. $\frac{\partial}{\partial x^{\mu}}g_{IJ} = 0 \forall I, J$.
- All spacetime indices must be contracted into singlets, including those labelling derivative coordinates thanks to (5.29), thus any terms in the expansion with an odd number of space-time indices must vanish.

We adopt the following notational conventions for the expansion

$$\bar{g}_{IJ} := g_{IJ}(p)$$
 and $g_{IJ,K} := \frac{\partial}{\partial x^K} g_{IJ}$. (8.11)

⁴⁵ To avoid any confusion in this section, we remind the reader that the coordinates $\{x^{\mu}, u^{i}, u^{i}_{\mu}\}$ are all independent on the jet manifold; in particular $\frac{\partial}{\partial v^{\mu}}u^{i} = 0$ (with no relation to u^{i}_{μ}).

By Taylor expanding the metric and keeping all contributions to operators with up to four derivatives, we find

$$g_{IJ}(x^{K})dx^{J} \otimes dx^{J} = \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \Big(\bar{g}_{\mu\nu,k_{1}...k_{n}} u^{k_{1}} \dots u^{k_{n}} + \bar{g}_{\mu\nu,qrk_{1}...k_{n-2}} u^{q}_{\rho} u^{r}_{\sigma} u^{k_{1}} \dots u^{k_{n-2}} \\ + \bar{g}_{\mu\nu,qrstk_{1}...k_{n-4}} u^{q}_{\rho} u^{r}_{\sigma} u^{s}_{\alpha} u^{t}_{\beta} u^{k_{1}} \dots u^{k_{n-4}} \Big) dx^{\mu} \otimes dx^{\nu} \\ + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \Big(\bar{g}_{ij,k_{1}...k_{n}} u^{k_{1}} \dots u^{k_{n}} + \bar{g}_{ij,qrk_{1}...k_{n-2}} u^{q}_{\rho} u^{r}_{\sigma} u^{k_{1}} \dots u^{k_{n-2}} \Big) du^{i} \otimes du^{j} \\ + \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \bar{g}^{\mu\nu}_{ij,k_{1}...k_{n}} u^{k_{1}} \dots u^{k_{n}} du^{i}_{\mu} \otimes du^{j}_{\nu} \\ + 2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \Big(\bar{g}_{i\mu,qk_{1}...k_{n-1}} u^{q}_{\rho} u^{k_{1}} \dots u^{k_{n-1}} + \bar{g}_{i\mu,qrs_{1}...k_{n-3}} u^{q}_{\rho} u^{r}_{\sigma} u^{s}_{\alpha} u^{k_{1}} \dots u^{k_{n-3}} \Big) du^{i} \otimes dx^{\mu} \\ + 2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \Big(\bar{g}^{\nu}_{i\mu,k_{1}...k_{n}} u^{k_{1}} \dots u^{k_{n}} + \bar{g}^{\nu}_{i\mu,qrk_{1}...k_{n-2}} u^{q}_{\rho} u^{r}_{\sigma} u^{k_{1}} \dots u^{k_{n-3}} \Big) du^{i} \otimes dx^{\mu} \\ + 2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \Big(\bar{g}^{\nu}_{i\mu,k_{1}...k_{n}} u^{k_{1}} \dots u^{k_{n}} + \bar{g}^{\nu}_{i\mu,qrk_{1}...k_{n-2}} u^{q}_{\rho} u^{r}_{\sigma} u^{k_{1}} \dots u^{k_{n-2}} \Big) du^{i}_{\nu} \otimes dx^{\mu} \\ + 2 \sum_{n=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{n!} \bar{g}^{\mu,\rho}_{ij,qk_{1}...k_{n-1}} u^{q}_{\rho} u^{k_{1}} \dots u^{k_{n-1}} du^{i}_{\mu} \otimes du^{j}$$

$$(8.12)$$

where the factors of 2 appearing in front of off-diagonal blocks match our previous conventions.

We re-iterate that, in the field space approach, the potential poses a problem in such an expansion because it does not transform like a tensor. But within the jet bundle approach, the potential is included in a component of the metric tensor, and thus is packaged into an object that transforms covariantly. The derivatives of the metric that appear in the expansion may be re-expressed in terms of Christoffel symbols and curvature invariants if we so desire, but the translation would be tedious and quickly becomes unwieldy as we pass to higher jets.

8.3. Geometrizing amplitudes on the jet bundle

We are now almost ready to extract the lowest degree n-point Feynman rules from the expansion (8.12) by recalling our definition of the Lagrangian

$$\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2} \langle \eta^{-1}, \left(j^{1} \phi \right)^{*} g \rangle \tag{8.13}$$

where composing the section $j^{1}\phi$ with the coordinate charts yields

$$x^{\mu} \circ j^{1}\phi = x^{\mu},$$

$$u^{i} \circ j^{1}\phi = \phi^{i},$$

$$u^{i}_{\mu} \circ j^{1}\phi = \partial_{\mu}\phi^{i}.$$
(8.14)

For the propagator we find

$$i - \dots - j = \frac{i}{\bar{g}_{ij}p^2 + \frac{\eta^{\mu\nu}}{2}\bar{g}_{\mu\nu,ij}^{\ \rho\sigma}p_{\rho}p_{\sigma} + 2\left(\bar{g}_{i\,\mu,j}^{\ \nu} - \bar{g}_{i\,\mu,j}^{\nu}\right)p_{\nu}p^{\mu} + \frac{\eta^{\mu\nu}}{2}\bar{g}_{\mu\nu,ij} + \bar{g}_{ij}^{\mu\nu}p^2p_{\mu}p_{\nu}}$$
(8.15)

Requiring a canonical 2-derivative term enforces the relation

$$\bar{g}_{ij} + \frac{1}{2d} \eta^{\mu\nu} \eta_{\rho\sigma} \bar{g}^{\ \rho\sigma}_{\mu\nu,ij} + \frac{2}{d} \delta^{\mu}_{\nu} \left(\bar{g}^{\ \nu}_{i\,\mu,j} - \bar{g}^{\nu}_{i\,\mu,j} \right) = \delta_{ij} \,, \tag{8.16}$$

reproducing e.g. (6.73), which can be thought of as a physics constraint on the jet bundle geometry. More precisely, for a metric that describes a physical EFT, we must be able to find a section ϕ such that the kinetic term is canonically normalised in this way, and it is implicit that we have already performed this change of section.

For $\bar{g}_{ij}^{\mu\nu} \neq 0$, avoiding tachyonic instabilities in the propagator [88] additionally requires that

$$\eta_{\mu\nu}\bar{g}_{ij}^{\mu\nu} = \begin{pmatrix} \lambda_1 & 0 & \dots & 0\\ 0 & \lambda_2 & \dots & 0\\ \dots & \dots & \dots & \dots\\ 0 & 0 & \dots & \lambda_n \end{pmatrix}, \quad \lambda_i < 0 \ \forall i \in \{1, \dots, n = \dim(M)\},$$
(8.17)

Again, it is implicit that we have done a derivative field redefinition, or change of section, to further bring $\eta_{\mu\nu}\bar{g}_{ij}^{\mu\nu}$ into diagonal form, which is always possible up to order p^6 corrections.

This inequality partly fixes the *signature* of the jet bundle metric (in the derivative-coordinate directions), and is the manifestation of *positivity* in our geometric formulation. For example, in the case of a single real scalar in 4d (section 6.2), and using the parametrization (6.56), the above conditions become simply

$$\mathcal{F}_0(0) = 1 \quad (2\text{-derivative term}), \tag{8.18}$$

$$\mathcal{F}_1(0) < 0 \quad (4\text{-derivative term}), \tag{8.19}$$

with the latter being a known positivity bound [88].

Continuing, the 3-point Feynman rule is⁴⁶

$$a_{1}, p_{1}$$

$$a_{2}, p_{2} = i \left(\frac{1}{12} \bar{g}_{\mu\nu,a_{1}a_{2}a_{3}} \eta^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{12} \eta^{\mu\nu} \sum_{q,r} \bar{g}_{\mu\nu,a_{q}a_{r}a_{X}}(p_{q})_{\alpha}(p_{r})_{\beta} - \frac{1}{12} \sum_{q,r} p_{q} \cdot p_{r} \bar{g}_{a_{q}a_{r},a_{X}} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{q,r} p_{q} \cdot p_{r} \bar{g}_{a_{q}a_{r},a_{X}} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{q,r} \bar{g}_{a_{q}\mu,a_{r}a_{X}}(p_{q})_{\alpha}(p_{r})^{\mu} - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{q,r} \bar{g}_{a_{q}\mu,a_{r}a_{X}}(p_{q})_{\nu}(p_{q})^{\mu} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{q,r} \bar{g}_{a_{q}a_{r},a_{X}}(p_{q} \cdot p_{r})(p_{q})_{\mu}(p_{r})_{\nu} + \sum_{q,r,s} \bar{g}_{a_{q}a_{r},a_{s}}(p_{q} \cdot p_{r})(p_{q})_{\mu}(p_{s})_{\nu} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{q,r,s} \bar{g}_{a_{q}\mu,a_{r}a_{s}}(p_{q})_{\alpha}(p_{r})_{\beta}(p_{s})_{\nu}(p_{s})^{\mu} \right).$$
(8.20)

⁴⁶ In these expressions for the Feynman rules, a 'dot product' denotes a contraction in spacetime indices, i.e. $p_q \cdot p_r := \eta^{\mu\nu}(p_q)_{\mu}(p_r)_{\nu}$. Furthermore, Lorentz symmetry, together with the symmetry properties of the metric, fixes the spacetime structure of metric components. For example, $\bar{g}_{\mu\nu,ijk}^{\ \alpha\beta}\eta^{\mu\nu} \sim \eta^{\alpha\beta}$ and $\bar{g}_{i\mu,jk}^{\ \alpha} \sim \delta^{\alpha}_{\mu}$.

The 4-point Feynman rule is

 $a_1 \quad n_1$

$$a_{1}, p_{1} \qquad a_{3}, p_{3} = i \left(\frac{1}{48} \bar{g}_{\mu\nu,a_{1}a_{2}a_{3}a_{4}} \eta^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{48} \bar{g}_{\mu\nu,a_{1}a_{2}a_{3}a_{4}} \eta^{\mu\nu} - \frac{1}{48} \eta^{\mu\nu} \sum_{q,r} \bar{g}_{\mu\nu,a_{q}a_{r}a_{X}a_{Y}}(p_{q})_{\alpha}(p_{r})_{\beta} - \frac{1}{4} \sum_{q,r} \bar{g}_{aqar,a_{X}a_{Y}}p_{q} \cdot p_{r} - \frac{1}{6} \sum_{q,r} \bar{g}_{aq\mu,a_{r}a_{X}a_{Y}}(p_{q})^{\mu}(p_{r})_{\nu} - \frac{1}{6} \sum_{q} \bar{g}_{aq\mu,a_{x}a_{Y}a_{Z}}(p_{q})^{\mu}(p_{q})_{\nu} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{q,r} \bar{g}_{aqar,a_{X}a_{Y}}(p_{q} \cdot p_{r})(p_{q})_{\mu}(p_{r})_{\nu} + \frac{1}{48} \sum_{q,r,s,t} \bar{g}_{aqar,a_{s}a_{t}}(p_{q} \cdot p_{r})(p_{s})_{\alpha}(p_{t})_{\beta} + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{q,r,s,t} \bar{g}_{aqar,a_{s}a_{t}}(p_{q} \cdot p_{r})(p_{s})_{\alpha}(p_{t})_{\beta} + \frac{1}{6} \sum_{q,r,s,t} \bar{g}_{aq\mu,a_{r}a_{s}a_{t}}(p_{q})^{\mu}(p_{r})_{\nu}(p_{s})_{\alpha}(p_{t})_{\beta} + \frac{1}{6} \sum_{q,r,s,t} \bar{g}_{aq\mu,a_{r}a_{s}a_{t}}(p_{q})^{\mu}(p_{r})_{\nu}(p_{s})_{\beta} + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{q,r,s} \bar{g}_{aq\mu,a_{r}a_{s}a_{t}}(p_{q} \cdot p_{r})(p_{q})_{\mu}(p_{s})_{\nu} \right).$$

$$(8.21)$$

To explain a little our notation here: sums over two indices run over values $1 \le q < r \le n$, where *n* is the number of 'points' in the amplitude; a sum over *n* indices runs over all possible permutations, e.g. $(q,r,s) \in \sigma(123)$ when appearing in 3-point amplitudes, and $(q,r,s,t) \in \sigma(123)$ $\sigma(1234)$ in 4-point amplitudes; lastly, the sums over three indices in equation (8.21) for the 4point amplitude run over all possible combinations of three unique values out of four objects (a total of 12 combinations). All momenta are taken to be incoming. Indices of the form a_X, a_Y, a_Z take values different to those appearing in the sum. For example in $\sum_{q,r} \bar{g}_{\mu\nu,a_q a_r a_x} \stackrel{\alpha \beta}{\to}$ we always have $X \neq q$ and $X \neq r$.

8.4. Comment on the role of geometric invariants

We conclude with a brief discussion of the role of curvature invariants on the jet manifold, and their possible relevance to scattering amplitudes. For any (pseudo)-Riemannian metric that we define on the jet manifold we can calculate the curvature tensors associated to its Levi-Civita connection. The Riemann tensor, Ricci tensor, and Ricci scalar of a given metric are all objects we can compute on the jet manifold. All of them can only be related to physical fields after being pulled back along a section $i^{l}\phi$ of the jet bundle, to form a Lagrangian functional of ϕ .

Since a smooth map moves points around on the manifold, it should be clear that none of these object are invariant under one. We have seen many examples of this throughout the paper. For the Riemann and Ricci tensors, the story is the same one we saw back in section 2, whereby a smooth map changes the metric tensor g (see e.g. equation (5.32)). The story for the Ricci scalar (which has no 'components') is perhaps more subtle and thus deserving of a closer look. The isometry invariance of the Ricci scalar (as is relevant, for example, in showing
that it is invariant under coordinate transformations) follows simply from the manipulations

$$f^*R\left((f^*)^{-1}g\right) = R\left(f^*\left(f^*\right)^{-1}g\right) = R(g).$$
(8.22)

In contrast, under a smooth map f (that actually moves points, rather than just relabelling them) we do not have the compensating factor of $(f^*)^{-1}$, thus giving

$$f^*R(g) = R(f^*g) \neq R(g)$$
, (8.23)

unless, of course, the smooth map f is itself an isometry with respect to the metric g (in this case it would be a 'non-trivial isometry', like the internal O(4) symmetry we have discussed in the context of the HEFTs). If we further take the smooth map f to be a diffeomorphism, which we have seen in preceding Sections can replicate a *non-derivative field redefinition*, then f will generally change the values of the curvature invariants—but the requirement that f and f^{-1} be well defined and differentiable ensures that a singularity cannot be introduced by f. This helps to make sense of the criterion suggested in [33] for determining whether SMEFT is enough.

More generally, a field redefinition can be viewed as a change of section, which is more general than a diffeomorphism (indeed, it cannot in general be implemented as a bundle morphism, as discussed quite generally in section 3.3.5). Such a derivative change of section *can* introduce a singularity into any of the curvature invariants, which is precisely the case in the example discussed in appendix E of [33]. Finally, we observe that a change of basis at the level of the Lagrangian is typically done through a field redefinition involving derivatives (such as the ' $\Box \phi$ '-dependent redefinitions we frequently encountered in this paper), which can completely change the values of curvature invariants, and potentially even introduce singularities. This makes the use of curvature invariants a somewhat unreliable (i.e. fundamentally basis-dependent) way of comparing theories at the level of the Lagrangian⁴⁷.

9. Conclusion

In this paper we used geometry on jet bundles, which are a sequence of manifolds that one can construct given a set of scalar fields ϕ^i for which spacetime derivatives $\partial_{\mu_1...\mu_r}\phi^i$ are treated as independent coordinates, as a source of Lagrangians defining scalar field theories. In particular, we showed that Lagrangians containing operators with up to 4 spacetime derivatives can be obtained by pulling back a metric on the appropriate 1-jet bundle given the field content of the theory. The jet bundle geometry is taken to be the most general geometry that is invariant under the symmetries of the EFT, which we saw are naturally extended (or 'prolongated') to the jet bundle.

In all the examples we have explored (sections 6 and 7), the Lagrangian obtained by pulling back the 1-jet bundle metric contains a complete basis of operators up to 4 derivatives, where all IBP redundancies have been removed. The IBP redundancies are accounted for automatically in the formalism, meaning that the jet bundle metric naturally pulls back to a Lagrangian without $\Box \phi$ terms—one could say that the jet bundle metric naturally takes us to the most general possible EFT Lagrangian (with up to 4-derivatives) expressed in a Green's basis. On the other hand, EOM redundancies, which stem from invariance of the *S*-matrix under certain derivative field redefinitions, can be identified and implemented, but in a more ad hoc fashion.

⁴⁷ We nonetheless offer some related comments concerning curvature invariants, and their role in detecting a certain subset of redundancies in our metric to Lagrangian maps, in appendix A.

An important thing to stress, in our view, is that the map from 1-jet metrics to 4-derivative EFT Lagrangians surjects, in the sense that one can find metrics that map to every possible EFT. We suspect that this statement can be generalized to invariant Lagrangians with up to 2(r+1) derivatives, in correspondence with invariant metrics on the *r*-jet bundle—but we leave a proof to future work.

Along the way, we hope to have clarified various issues related to field redefinitions, which we understand to be smooth changes of (possibly prolongated) section of the (jet) bundle. This applies to both non-derivative and derivative field redefinitions. In the former case, one is afforded an equivalent description in terms of bundle morphisms, which means the field redefinition can be implemented by doing a diffeomorphism on the jet bundle metric. We find no such correspondence between derivative changes of section and bundle morphisms.

Finally, we expand our metric in the vicinity of a point in the 1-jet bundle. Translating this to the Lagrangian, we organise an expansion of \mathcal{L} in terms higher- and higher-point interactions, inspired by the ideas of [34], keeping all interactions with up to 4 derivatives. This facilitates a connection between components of the 1-jet bundle metric (and its derivatives) and propagators/amplitudes of the EFT. We do not elucidate this correspondence comprehensively in this paper, but we already highlight some nice features—for example, we obtain the lowest-point correlation functions explicitly, and infer e.g. how positivity (unitarity) constrains the signature of the jet bundle metric.

In the future, we aim to investigate more systematically the structure of amplitudes in this jet-bundle formalism, especially in the important case of the HEFTs. Other elements that we plan to incorporate into our jet bundle formalism, to describe higher-derivative EFTs geometrically, include the incorporation of fermions, and the (partial) gauging of symmetries—both of which are necessary to connect with the rich phenomenology of the EFTs that describe elementary particles at the energy frontier.

Data availability statement

No new data were created or analysed in this study.

Acknowledgments

J D is grateful to Ben Gripaios and Joseph Tooby-Smith for passing on their knowledge of jet bundles a number of years ago. J D further thanks J Tooby-Smith for comments on the first version of this manuscript, and Nakarin Lohitsiri for discussions. I B thanks J C Criado, R V Harlander and M Schaaf for their support with the validation of the dimension-10 and 12 SMEFT bases. We thank Javier Lizana, Ken Mimasu, Dave Sutherland, Tevong You, and other participants of the HEFT 2023 workshop, for helpful discussions. We are also grateful to Nathaniel Craig and Yu-Tse Lee for their patience in waiting for us to complete a draft of our manuscript, and to coordinate with their release of [50]. The work of J D is funded by the European Research Council (ERC) under the European Union's Horizon 2020 research and innovation programme under Grant Agreement 833280 (FLAY), and by the Swiss National Science Foundation (SNF) under Contract 200020-204428. I B and M A acknowledge funding from SNF through the PRIMA Grant No. 201508.

Appendix A. Diagnosing redundancies in the metric using invariants

Although the geometric invariants are unlikely to be useful when it comes to distinguishing Lagrangians, they do have an application when it comes to redundancies at the level of the metric.

Our expression for the Lagrangian is coordinate free, which has the benefit of allowing us to express the metric in our preferred coordinate system, but introduces ambiguities as it is difficult at a first glance to determine whether two metrics g and g' will yield the same Lagrangian. We saw earlier that a coordinate transformation leaves the Lagrangian unchanged, thus if we can show that g and g' are related by a coordinate transformation, then we know that they will generate the same Lagrangian. Writing down the most general coordinate transformation is quite challenging and quickly becomes unreasonable as the dimension of our jet manifold increases. Comparing scalar geometric invariants gives an approach to see if two metrics are dissimilar [95].

Scalar geometric invariants are coordinate independent, but they are typically expressed in coordinates making them difficult to compare directly. However, an alternative approach exists. One can start by calculating several scalar invariants, such as:

- Ricci scalar: $\mathcal{R}_1 = g^{\mu\nu}g^{\rho\sigma}R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$ Kretschmann scalar: $\mathcal{R}_2 = R^{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}R_{\mu\nu\rho\sigma}$ Cubic curvature invariant: $\mathcal{R}_3 = R^{\mu\nu}_{\alpha\beta}R^{\alpha\beta}_{\rho\sigma}R^{\rho\sigma}_{\mu\nu}$

Then one can establish functional relations among these invariants. If at any point the functional relations of the two metrics disagree, then we conclude that they are not related by a coordinate transformation. However, agreement in all computed functional relations is not proof that the metrics are related by a transformation, since there is an infinite number of scalar invariants.

In equation (6.16) we saw that several components of the metric pullback to the same term resulting in redundancies in the final expression. To identify the terms that could be removed by a coordinate transformation it is not enough to compare scalar invariants, rather we need a way to prove that two metrics generate the same geometry, which can be done using the Cartan-Karlhede algorithm [95–99].

The first step in applying the formalism is to choose a symmetric metric with constant signature (e.g. $\delta_{ij}, \eta_{ij}, \dots$) and introduce a frame of vector fields $\{e_a = e_a^i \partial_i\}$ such that

$$g_{ij}e_a^i e_b^j = \delta_{ab} \tag{A.1}$$

the choice of frame is not unique since

$$e_i^a \to e_i^{\prime a} = \Lambda_b^a e_i^b \tag{A.2}$$

with

$$\delta_{ab}\Lambda^a_c\Lambda^b_d = \delta_{cd} \tag{A.3}$$

is also a valid frame of vector fields.

The matrices Λ form a Lie group with dimension $\frac{n(n-1)}{2}$. Now we compute the Riemann tensor and project it along these frames looking for the subgroup H_0 of matrices that preserve the form of the Riemann tensor

$$R_{abcd} = R'_{\alpha\beta\gamma\delta} \tag{A.4}$$

and determine the number τ_0 of independent parameters upon which the components of the Riemann tensor depend.

Afterwards we repeat the procedure for the covariant derivatives of the Riemann tensor and determine subgroups H_1, H_2, \ldots as well as numbers of independent variables τ_1, τ_2, \ldots stopping once we have reached an order q at which $H_q = H_{q-1}$ and $\tau_q = \tau_{q-1}$. If a frame exists at this order such that all the derivatives of Riemann tensor for each of the two metrics g and g' agree then we conclude that they are equivalent and produce the same geometry and thus yield the same Lagrangian upon pullback.

The redundancies captured by this algorithm are only the ones that could be removed by a coordinate transformation. Redundancies that need to be removed via IBPs relations and field redefinitions are only seen after pullback and thus are not related to coordinate transformations.

Appendix B. Higher jet bundles for higher derivatives: a completeness proof

One of the main points of this paper is that scalar EFTs with up to 4 derivatives admit a geometric interpretation on a 1-jet bundle. More precisely, we showed in a number of explicit examples that the Lagrangian obtained pulling back to spacetime a 1-jet bundle metric always contains a redundant set of effective operators with 0, 2 and 4 derivatives, that can be reduced down to a minimal basis by applying a small number of IBP (and EOM, if desired) relations.

In this appendix we provide a general proof that the Lagrangian obtained by pulling back to spacetime the most general *r*-jet bundle metric always contains a redundant set of effective operators with up to 2(r+1) derivatives and arbitrary number of field insertions. Moreover, within this set, it is always possible to identify a complete and non-redundant Green's basis that does not contain operators with boxes.

This result proves that the empirical observations in sections 6 and 7 generalize to any scalar theory, and that operators with 6 or more derivatives also admit a geometric interpretation in terms of higher-jet bundle metrics. The proof formally holds for a Lorentz-invariant scalar EFT in any number of spacetime dimensions (with Lorentz indices being everywhere contracted via the Minkowski metric, as justified generally in section 5.5.2), although the interpretation of the EFT expansion is of course different in different dimensions⁴⁸.

Our argument consists of two points, that we prove individually below:

- 1. Consider pure scalar interactions among N fields and with a total of 2(r+1) derivatives. It is always possible to construct a complete and IBP-non-redundant basis of operators at this order, that does not contain operators with boxes, nor operators with more than (r+1) derivatives acting on a single field.
- 2. Any operator containing an arbitrary number of scalar fields N and up to 2(r+1) derivatives, such that no more than (r+1) derivatives act on one field and that boxes are absent, can be obtained by pulling back to spacetime the most general metric of a *r*-jet bundle.

Put together, these statements imply that a non-redundant Green's basis can always be found within the set of box-less operators with N fields and up to 2(r+1) derivatives produced by the r-jet bundle metric. Vice versa, any arbitrary scalar EFT Lagrangian always admits a geometric interpretation on the appropriate jet bundle.

⁴⁸ For example, in the special case of 2d EFTs, the scalar field is dimensionless and so the counting of derivatives coincides precisely with the mass dimension counting of EFT operators.

In practice, the metric will always produce a redundant Lagrangian, that contains all possible box-less structures with up to 2(r+1) derivatives, plus some (but not all!) of those with boxes. In general, there will be several options to reduce the resulting operator set down to a minimal basis. Here we choose, as an algorithmic rule, to remove all operators with boxes. This choice is convenient for a number of reasons: (i) statement 1. above guarantees that boxes can always be safely removed in any scalar theory at any order; (ii) statement 2. above ensures that a box-less basis will be obtained directly from the jet bundle metric, without requiring manipulations at the Lagrangian level; (iii) empirically we find that this choice removes most ambiguities in the basis construction. In fact, in all the examples considered, there turned out to be a unique basis satisfying the box-less requirement; (iv) any alternative choice aimed at retaining operators with boxes would need to distinguish between box operators that can and cannot be obtained from the metric, making the construction more cumbersome.

In the statements above we are also requesting the absence of operators with more than half of the derivatives (r+1) acting on a single field. This condition is strictly necessary in order to obtain the Lagrangian from a *r*-jet bundle. In principle one could have evaded this rule by choosing a higher-jet bundle, which however would have also produced terms with more than 2(r+1) derivatives. It is interesting that the minimal (and more natural) choice of a *r*-jet bundle suffices to produce a complete basis.

In the next two subsections we provide proofs of points 1. and 2. above. The results in this appendix hold independently of the number of scalar flavours present and on whether an internal symmetry is imposed or not, as they are insensitive to the presence of flavour indices on the scalar fields. Arbitrary contractions of internal indices can always be inserted appropriately in the metric functions.

B.1. Proof of point 1

Operators with more than (r + 1) derivatives on a single field can always be removed by trivially moving derivatives across the operator via IBP, until there is a maximum of (r + 1) derivatives on each field⁴⁹. Therefore they are always redundant.

Operators with boxes acting on one or more fields can also be removed similarly, by using IBP to move one of the two derivatives contracted in a box to other fields. This operation requires to apply, in sequence, an IBP for each box, e.g.

$$(\partial_{\mu}\Box\phi^{i_1}) (\Box\phi^{i_2}) (\partial^{\mu}\phi^{i_3}) A (\phi) = - (\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\rho}\phi^{i_1}) (\Box\phi^{i_2}) (\partial^{\mu}\phi^{i_3}) (\partial^{\rho}A (\phi)) + \dots$$

$$= (\partial_{\sigma}\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\rho}\phi^{i_1}) (\partial^{\sigma}\phi^{i_2}) (\partial^{\mu}\phi^{i_3}) (\partial^{\rho}A (\phi)) + \dots$$
(B.1)

where A is some analytic function of the fields, i_k is a potential flavour index carried by the k-th field, and the dots stand for other terms stemming from the IBPs. A key point is that this operation can never reintroduce boxes because, at each step, it moves a derivative with a different Lorentz index. Therefore operators with boxes can always be fully removed from an operator basis.

To conclude our proof, we need to check that the two redundancy classes can be treated independently, i.e. that the IBPs used to remove boxes do not re-introduce operators with more than (r + 1) derivatives on a single field. Let us consider an operator with N fields and 2(r + 1) derivatives, such that d_k derivatives act on the kth field, and they are contracted to form b_k boxes, with $2b_k \leq d_k$.

⁴⁹ Of course, this requires at least 2 fields to be inserted in one operator. On the other hand, a term with 1 field only would automatically be a total derivative.

The boxes can be removed with a sequence of IBPs as shown above. They send

$$d_k \to d_k - b_k + s$$
, with $0 \leqslant s \leqslant \sum_{j \neq k} b_j$. (B.2)

The term $-b_k$ accounts for the fact that, for every box on the *k*th field, one derivative is removed and placed elsewhere. In addition, the *k*th field receives *s* derivatives coming from other boxes in the product. IBPs replace the initial operator with a sum over several terms, in which *s* takes all possible values in a range from 0 to the total number of boxes originally acting on fields other than the *k*-th. The latter number is bounded by

$$\sum_{i \neq k} b_j \leqslant \frac{2(r+1) - d_k - (d_k - 2b_k)}{2} = r - d_k + b_k + 1.$$
(B.3)

The numerator on the righthand side counts how many Lorentz indices on $\phi_{j\neq k}$ can be contracted into boxes: there are at most $2(r+1) - d_k$, from which we need to subtract $(d_k - 2b_k)$ that must be contracted with open derivatives on ϕ_k . Putting together (B.2) and (B.3) we see that

$$d_k - b_k + s \leqslant d_k - b_k + \sum_{j \neq k} b_j \leqslant r + 1.$$
(B.4)

This proves that the IBP required to remove boxes can never reintroduce terms with more than r + 1 derivatives on one field. Therefore both classes of operators can always be fully removed using IBPs, i.e. it is always possible to construct a complete and non-redundant Green's basis of operators that does not contain either.

B.2. Proof of point 2

To prove point 2, we write down the most general r-jet bundle metric, extending equation (5.10):

$$g^{(r)} = \left(dx^{\mu} \quad du^{i} \quad du^{i}_{\mu_{1}} \quad du^{i}_{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}} \quad \cdots \quad du^{i}_{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{r}} \right) \begin{bmatrix} g^{(r)} \end{bmatrix} \begin{pmatrix} dx^{\nu} \\ du^{j} \\ du^{j}_{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}} \\ \vdots \\ du^{j}_{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}} \\ \vdots \\ du^{j}_{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}} \\ \vdots \\ du^{j}_{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}} \\ \vdots \\ du^{j}_{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}} \\ g^{\mu_{1}} \quad g^{\mu_{1}}_{ij} \quad g^{\nu_{1}}_{ij} \quad g^{\nu_{1}\nu_{2}}_{ij} \quad \cdots \quad g^{\nu_{1}\dots\nu_{r}}_{ij} \\ g^{\mu_{1}}_{\nu_{i}} \quad g^{\mu_{1}}_{ij} \quad g^{\mu_{1}\nu_{2}}_{ij} \quad g^{\mu_{1}\nu_{2}}_{ij} \quad \cdots \quad g^{\nu_{1}\dots\nu_{r}}_{ij} \\ g^{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}}_{\nu_{i}} \quad g^{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}}_{ij} \quad g^{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\nu_{1}}_{ij} \quad g^{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\nu_{1}\nu_{2}}_{ij} \quad \cdots \quad g^{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\nu_{1}\dots\nu_{r}}_{ij} \\ \vdots \quad \vdots \quad \vdots \quad \vdots \quad \ddots \quad \vdots \\ g^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{r}}_{\nu_{i}} \quad g^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{r}}_{ij} \quad g^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{r}\nu_{1}}_{ij} \quad g^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{r}\nu_{1}\nu_{2}}_{ij} \quad \cdots \quad g^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{r}\nu_{2}\dots\nu_{r}}_{ij} \end{pmatrix},$$
(B.6)

where implicitly all the metric entries are functions of $u^i, u^i_{\mu_1}, \dots, u^i_{\mu_1,\dots,\mu_r}$ and we can assume

$$g_{\nu i} = g_{\mu j}, \qquad g_{\mu j}^{\nu_1 \dots \nu_s} = g_{\nu i}^{\mu_1 \dots \mu_s}, \qquad (B.7)$$

upon relabeling indices, by symmetry of the metric tensor.

Pulling this metric back to spacetime along $j^{1}\phi$ and contracting with η^{-1} gives

$$\mathcal{L}\left[\phi,g^{(r)}\right] = \frac{1}{2}\eta^{\mu\nu}g_{\mu\nu} + \frac{1}{2}g_{ij}\left(\partial_{\mu}\phi^{i}\right)\left(\partial^{\mu}\phi^{j}\right) + g_{\mu j}\left(\partial^{\mu}\phi^{j}\right) + \sum_{s=1}^{r}g_{\mu j}^{\nu_{1}\dots\nu_{s}}\left(\partial^{\mu}\partial_{\nu_{1}}\dots\partial_{\nu_{s}}\phi^{j}\right) \\ + \frac{1}{2}g_{ij}^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{s}}\left(\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\mu_{1}}\dots\partial_{\mu_{s}}\phi^{i}\right)\left(\partial^{\rho}\phi^{j}\right) + \frac{1}{2}g_{ij}^{\nu_{1}\dots\nu_{s}}\left(\partial_{\rho}\phi^{i}\right)\left(\partial^{\rho}\partial_{\nu_{1}}\dots\partial_{\nu_{s}}\phi^{j}\right) \\ + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{m=1}^{r}\sum_{s=1}^{r}g_{ij}^{\mu_{1}\dots\mu_{m}\nu_{1}\dots\nu_{s}}\left(\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\mu_{1}}\dots\partial_{\mu_{m}}\phi^{i}\right)\left(\partial^{\rho}\partial_{\nu_{1}}\dots\partial_{\nu_{s}}\phi^{j}\right).$$
(B.8)

At this point it easy to show that any effective operator with exactly 2(r+1) derivatives and an arbitrary number of fields *N* can be matched to at least one of the terms in equation (B.8).

To do so, it is convenient to classify the operators according to the number of derivatives acting on each field, namely a string

$$d_1 d_2 \dots d_N$$
, such that $\sum_k d_k = 2(r+1)$, (B.9)

that we take to be sorted from largest to smallest d_k . In practice, the operator classes are labeled by the integer partitions of 2(r+1) into at most N terms, and that do not contain numbers higher than (r+1). For instance, with 8 derivatives and 4 fields, there are 8 classes:

Each class can be easily put in correspondence with a metric element. For instance, operators of class (r+1)(r+1)0... can be obtained by pulling back $g_{ij}^{\mu_1...\mu_r\nu_1...\nu_r}$. In general, operators of each class can be obtained by pulling back multiple metric elements, that give identical expressions. To prove our hypothesis, it is enough to find one example for each, which is particularly simple in this notation:

$$\begin{array}{ll} g_{ij}^{\mu_1...\mu_{m-1}\nu_1...\nu_{s-1}} \to & ms \dots & 2 \leqslant m, s \leqslant r+1, \\ g_{ij}^{\mu_1...\mu_{s-1}} \to & s1 \dots & 2 \leqslant s \leqslant r+1, \\ g_{ii} \to & 111 \dots \end{array}$$

where the dots stand for factors in the integer decomposition of 2(r+1) - m - s. For instance, considering the example above with r = 3, N = 4:

$$g_{ij}^{\mu_1\mu_2\mu_3\nu_1\nu_2\nu_3} \to 4400, \qquad g_{ij}^{\mu_1\mu_2\mu_3\nu_1\nu_2} \to 4310, \qquad g_{ij}^{\mu_1\mu_2\mu_3\nu_1} \to 4220, 4221, \\ g_{ij}^{\mu_1\mu_2\nu_1\nu_2} \to 3320, 3311, \qquad g_{ij}^{\mu_1\mu_2\nu_1} \to 3221, \qquad g_{ij}^{\mu_1\nu_1} \to 2222.$$
(B.12)

This correspondence assumes that the metric entries are general functions of $u^i, u^i_{\mu}, \dots u^i_{\mu_1\dots\mu_r}$, such that insertions of fields and derivatives in the (N-2) rightmost terms in the string can be obtained by extracting the appropriate dependence of the metric on these variables. Let

us translate this into concrete examples for the cases in (B.12). For simplicity, we omit the dependence on Λ and take the case of a single real scalar:

$$g_{uu}^{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}\nu_{1}\nu_{2}\nu_{3}} = \eta^{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}}\eta^{\mu_{2}\nu_{2}}\eta^{\mu_{3}\nu_{3}}u^{2} + \dots \rightarrow (\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma}\phi)(\partial^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}\partial^{\rho}\partial^{\sigma}\phi)\phi^{2}, \quad (B.13)$$

$$g_{uu}^{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}\nu_{1}} = \eta^{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}}\eta^{\mu_{2}\nu_{2}}u^{\mu_{3}}u + \dots \rightarrow (\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma}\phi)(\partial^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}\phi)(\partial^{\sigma}\phi)\phi, \quad (B.14)$$

$$g_{uu}^{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}\nu_{1}} = \eta^{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}}u^{\mu_{2}\mu_{3}}u + \dots \rightarrow (\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma}\phi)(\partial^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}\phi)(\partial^{\rho}\partial^{\sigma}\phi)\phi, \quad (B.15)$$

$$g_{uu}^{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}\nu_{1}} = \eta^{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}}u^{\mu_{2}}u^{\mu_{3}}u + \dots \rightarrow (\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma}\phi)(\partial^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}\phi)(\partial^{\rho}\phi)(\partial^{\sigma}\phi)\phi, \quad (B.16)$$

$$g_{uu}^{\mu_{1}\mu_{2}\mu_{3}\nu_{1}} = \eta^{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}}u^{\mu_{2}\sigma}u_{\sigma} + \dots \rightarrow (\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\rho}\phi)(\partial^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}\phi)(\partial^{\rho}\partial^{\sigma}\phi)(\partial_{\sigma}\phi), \quad (B.17)$$

$$g_{uu}^{\mu_{1}\nu_{1}} = u^{\mu_{1}\sigma}u_{\sigma}^{\nu_{1}} + \dots \rightarrow (\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi)(\partial^{\mu}\partial^{\rho}\phi)(\partial_{\rho}\partial_{\sigma}\phi)(\partial^{\nu}\partial^{\sigma}\phi). \quad (B.18)$$

With a larger number of field insertions, more classes are present and metric terms with fewer Lorentz indices become relevant as well, e.g.:

$$g_{uu}^{\mu_1\mu_2\mu_3} = u^{\mu_1}u^{\mu_2}u^{\mu_3} + \dots \qquad \rightarrow \qquad (\partial_\mu\partial_\nu\partial_\rho\partial_\sigma\phi)(\partial^\mu\phi)(\partial^\nu\phi)(\partial^\rho\phi)(\partial^\sigma\phi), \quad (B.19)$$

$$g_{\mu\mu} = (u_{\rho})^6 + \dots \qquad \rightarrow \qquad (\partial_{\mu}\phi)^8 .$$
 (B.20)

Within each operator class, it is always possible to choose an explicit form of the metric function that gives any arbitrary Lorentz structure in the Lagrangian, provided that at least one pair of derivatives acting on two different fields are contracted with each other (the ρ indices in (B.8)). If we stick to box-less operators, then this condition is always verified. Therefore *any* box-less operator with 2(r + 1) derivatives and maximum (r + 1) derivatives on each field can be obtained from a *r*-jet bundle metric. It is not hard to see that several operators *with* boxes, that satisfy that minimal condition, can be generated as well. For instance, we could modify (B.14) into

$$g_{uu}^{\mu_1\mu_2\mu_3\nu_1\nu_2} = \eta^{\mu_1\mu_2}\eta^{\nu_1\nu_2}u^{\mu_3} + \dots \qquad \rightarrow \qquad (\partial_\mu\partial_\sigma\Box\phi)\left(\partial^\mu\Box\phi\right)\left(\partial^\sigma\phi\right). \tag{B.21}$$

However, it is not possible to obtain structures such as $(\Box \phi)^4$.

In the presence of multiple scalar flavours, arbitrary index assignments or contractions can be achieved. For instance, taking r = 2, we can have O(n) invariant contractions:

$$g_{ii}^{\mu_1\mu_2\nu_1\nu_2} = \delta_{ij}\eta^{\mu_1\nu_1}\eta^{\mu_2\nu_2}\eta^{\mu_3\nu_3} + \dots \qquad \rightarrow \qquad (\partial_\mu\partial_\nu\partial_\rho\phi \cdot \partial^\mu\partial^\nu\partial^\rho\phi) , \tag{B.22}$$

$$g_{ij}^{\mu_1\nu_1} = \delta_{ij}\eta^{\mu_1\nu_1} \left(u \cdot u_\sigma \right)^2 + \dots \qquad \rightarrow \qquad \left(\partial_\mu \partial_\nu \phi \cdot \partial^\mu \partial^\nu \phi \right) \left(\phi \cdot \partial_\sigma \phi \right)^2, \tag{B.23}$$

$$g_{ij} = u_i u_j (u_\rho \cdot u^\rho) (u_\sigma \cdot u^\sigma) + \dots \qquad \rightarrow \qquad (\phi \cdot \partial_\mu \phi)^2 (\partial_\rho \phi \cdot \partial^\rho \phi)^2 , \tag{B.24}$$

or arbitrary flavour assignments $i_1i_2...i_N$ without any symmetry imposed (in this case the indices are just labels, they do not need to be contracted)

$$g_{ij}^{\mu_1\mu_2\nu_1\nu_2} = \delta_{ii_1}\delta_{ji_2}\eta^{\mu_1\nu_1}\eta^{\mu_2\nu_2}\eta^{\mu_3\nu_3} + \dots \quad \to \quad \left(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\partial_{\rho}\phi^{i_1}\right)\left(\partial^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}\partial^{\rho}\phi^{i_2}\right),\tag{B.25}$$

$$g_{ij}^{\mu_1\nu_1} = \delta_{ii_1}\delta_{ji_2}\eta^{\mu_1\nu_1}u_{\sigma}^{i_4\sigma} + \dots \qquad \rightarrow \quad \left(\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}\phi^{i_1}\right)\left(\partial^{\mu}\partial^{\nu}\phi^{i_2}\right)\left(\partial_{\sigma}\phi^{i_3}\right)\left(\partial^{\sigma}\phi^{i_4}\right), \tag{B.26}$$

$$g_{ij} = \delta_{ii_1} \delta_{ji_2} u_{\rho}^{i_3} u^{i_4\rho} u_{\sigma}^{i_5} u^{i_6\sigma} + \dots \qquad \rightarrow \qquad \left(\partial_{\mu} \phi^{i_1}\right) \left(\partial^{\mu} \phi^{i_2}\right) \left(\partial_{\rho} \phi^{i_3}\right) \left(\partial^{\rho} \phi^{i_4}\right) \left(\partial_{\sigma} \phi^{i_5}\right) \left(\partial^{\sigma} \phi^{i_6}\right) . \tag{B.27}$$

This concludes the proof for scalar operators with exactly 2(r+1) derivatives. The last step is extending it to lower derivatives. This is trivial: by the argument just concluded, operators with 2n < 2(r+1) derivatives can be obtained from a (n-1)-jet bundle metric. Since (n-1) < r, the latter is contained as a sub-block in the *r*-jet bundle metric (see equation (B.6)). Finally, operators without derivatives can always be obtained from $g_{\mu\nu}$, in any *r*-jet bundle metric.

ORCID iDs

Mohammad Alminawi https://orcid.org/0009-0006-3791-6786 Ilaria Brivio https://orcid.org/0000-0002-0396-5866 Joe Davighi https://orcid.org/0000-0003-1002-0972

References

- [1] Brivio I and Trott M 2019 The standard model as an effective field theory Phys. Rep. 793 1–98
- [2] Isidori G, Wilsch F and Wyler D 2023 The Standard Model effective field theory at work *Rev. Mod. Phys.* 96 015006
- Buchmuller W and Wyler D 1986 Effective Lagrangian Analysis of New Interactions and Flavor Conservation Nucl. Phys. B 268 621–53
- [4] Grzadkowski B, Iskrzynski M Misiak M and Rosiek J 2010 Dimension-six terms in the standard model Lagrangian J. High Energy Phys. JHEP10(2010)085
- [5] Feruglio F 1993 The Chiral approach to the electroweak interactions Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 8 4937-72
- [6] Buchalla G and Cata O 2012 Effective theory of a dynamically broken electroweak standard model at NLO J. High Energy Phys. JHEP07(2012)101
- [7] Alonso R, Gavela M B, Merlo L, Rigolin S and Yepes J 2013 The effective chiral lagrangian for a light dynamical "Higgs Particle" *Phys. Lett.* B 722 330–5
- [8] Buchalla G, Catà O and Krause C 2014 Complete electroweak chiral lagrangian with a light Higgs at NLO Nucl. Phys. B 880 552–73
- [9] Brivio I, Gonzalez-Fraile J, Gonzalez-Garcia M C and Merlo L 2016 The complete HEFT Lagrangian after the LHC Run I Eur. Phys. J. C 76 416
- [10] Dong Z-Y, Ma T, Shu J and Zhou Z-Z 2022 The new formulation of Higgs effective field theory (https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP09(2023)101)
- [11] Coleman S R, Wess J and Zumino B 1969 Structure of phenomenological Lagrangians. 1 Phys. Rev. 177 2239–47
- [12] Appelquist T and Carazzone J 1975 Infrared singularities and massive fields Phys. Rev. D 11 2856
- [13] Longhitano A C 1980 Heavy Higgs Bosons in the Weinberg-Salam model Phys. Rev. D 22 1166
- [14] Longhitano A C 1981 Low-energy impact of a heavy Higgs Boson sector Nucl. Phys. B 188 118-54
- [15] Grinstein B and Trott M 2007 A Higgs-Higgs bound state due to new physics at a TeV Phys. Rev. D 76 073002
- [16] Falkowski A, Rattazzi R and Which E F T 2019 J. High Energy Phys. JHEP10(2019)255
- [17] Isidori G, Manohar A V and Trott M 2014 Probing the nature of the Higgs-like Boson via $h \rightarrow VF$ decays *Phys. Lett.* B **728** 131–5
- [18] Brivio I et al 2014 Disentangling a dynamical Higgs J. High Energy Phys. 03 JHEP03(2014)024
- [19] Ellis J and You T 2013 Updated Global Analysis of Higgs Couplings J. High Energy Phys. JHEP06(2013)103
- [20] Liu D, Low I and Vega-Morales R 2020 A golden probe of nonlinear Higgs dynamics Eur. Phys. J. C 80 829

- [21] Eboli O J,P, Gonzalez–Garcia M C and Martines M 2022 Electroweak Higgs effective field theory after LHC run 2 Phys. Rev. D 105 053003
- [22] Gómez-Ambrosio R, Llanes-Estrada F J, Salas-Bernárdez A and Sanz-Cillero J J 2022 Distinguishing electroweak EFTs with WLWL→n×h Phys. Rev. D 106 053004
- [23] Domenech D, Herrero M J, Morales R A and Ramos M 2022 Double Higgs boson production at TeV e+e- colliders with effective field theories: sensitivity to BSM Higgs couplings *Phys. Rev.* D 106 115027
- [24] Dawson S, Fontes D, Quezada-Calonge C and Sanz-Cillero J J 2023 Matching the 2HDM to the HEFT and the SMEFT: decoupling and perturbativity (https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevD.108.055034)
- [25] Burgess C P, Lee H M and Trott M 2010 Comment on Higgs Inflation and Naturalness J. High Energy Phys. JHEP07(2010)007
- [26] Alonso R, Jenkins E E and Manohar A V 2016 A geometric formulation of higgs effective field theory: measuring the curvature of scalar field space *Phys. Lett.* B 754 335–42
- [27] Alonso R, Jenkins E E and Manohar A V 2016 Geometry of the Scalar Sector J. High Energy Phys. JHEP08(2016)101
- [28] Helset A, Paraskevas M and Trott M 2018 Gauge fixing the Standard Model Effective Field Theory Phys. Rev. Lett. 120 251801
- [29] Corbett T, Helset A and Trott M 2020 Ward Identities for the Standard Model Effective Field Theory Phys. Rev. D 101 013005
- [30] Helset A Martin A and Trott M 2020 The geometric standard model effective field theory J. High Energy Phys. JHEP03(2020)163
- [31] Alonso R, Kanshin K and Saa S 2018 Renormalization group evolution of Higgs effective field theory Phys. Rev. D 97 035010
- [32] Hays C, Helset A Martin A and Trott M 2020 Exact SMEFT formulation and expansion to $O(v^4/\Lambda^4)$ J. High Energy Phys. JHEP11(2020)087
- [33] Cohen T, Craig N, Lu X and Sutherland D 2021 Is SMEFT enough? J. High Energy Phys. JHEP03(2021)237
- [34] Cohen T, Craig N, Lu X and Sutherland D 2021 Unitarity violation and the geometry of Higgs EFTs J. High Energy Phys. JHEP12(2021)003
- [35] Alonso R and West M 2022 Roads to the standard model Phys. Rev. D 105 096028
- [36] Cheung C, Helset A and Parra-Martinez J 2022 Geometric soft theorems J. High Energy Phys. JHEP04(2022)011
- [37] Cheung C, Helset A and Parra-Martinez J 2022 Geometry-kinematics duality Phys. Rev. D 106 045016
- [38] Alonso R and West M 2023 On the effective action for scalars in a general manifold to any loop order *Phys. Lett.* B 841 137937
- [39] Helset A, Jenkins E E and Manohar A V 2023 Renormalization of the Standard Model Effective Field Theory from geometry J. High Energy Phys. JHEP02(2023)063
- [40] Talbert J 2023 The geometric vSMEFT: operators and connections J. High Energy Phys. JHEP01(2023)069
- [41] Helset A, Jenkins E E and Manohar A V 2022 Geometry in scattering amplitudes Phys. Rev. D 106 116018
- [42] Alonso R, Criado J C, Houtz R and West M 2023 Walls bubbles and doom—the cosmology of HEFT (https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP05(2024)049)
- [43] Alonso R 2023 A primer on Higgs effective field theory with geometry (arXiv:2307.14301)
- [44] Banta I, Cohen T, Craig N, Lu X and Sutherland D 2023 Effective field theory of the two Higgs doublet model J. High Energy Phys. JHEP06(2023)150
- [45] Banta I, Cohen T, Craig N, Lu X and Sutherland D 2022 Non-decoupling new particles J. High Energy Phys. JHEP02(2022)029
- [46] Cohen T, Craig N, Lu X and Sutherland D 2023 On-shell covariance of quantum field theory amplitudes Phys. Rev. Lett. 130 041603
- [47] Craig N, Lee Y-T, Lu X and Sutherland D 2023 Effective field theories as lagrange spaces (https:// doi.org/10.1007/JHEP11(2023)069)
- [48] Cohen T, Lu X and Sutherland D 2023 On amplitudes and field redefinitions (https://doi.org/ 10.1007/JHEP06(2024)149)
- [49] Gripaios B and Tooby-Smith J 2022 Inverse Higgs phenomena as duals of holonomic constraints J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 55 095401

- [50] Craig N and Yu-Tse L 2023 Effective field theories on the jet bundle (https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevLett.132.061602)
- [51] Finn K, Karamitsos S and Pilaftsis A 2021 Frame covariant formalism for fermionic theories Eur. Phys. J. C 81 572
- [52] Assi B, Helset A, Manohar A V, Pagès J and Shen C-H, Fermion geometry and the renormalization of the standard model effective field theory (https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP11(2023)201)
- [53] Gattus V and Pilaftsis A 2023 Minimal supergeometric quantum field theories (https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.physletb.2023.138234)
- [54] Saunders D J 1989 The Geometry of Jet Bundles vol 142 (Cambridge University Press)
- [55] Gripaios B, Randal-Williams O and Tooby-Smith J 2023 Smooth generalized symmetries of quantum field theories (https://doi.org/10.1016/j.geomphys.2024.105212)
- [56] Finn K, Karamitsos S and Pilaftsis A 2020 Frame covariance in quantum gravity Phys. Rev. D 102 045014
- [57] Gripaios B and Sutherland D 2016 Quantum mechanics of a generalised rigid body J. Phys. A 49 195201
- [58] Davighi J, Gripaios B and Tooby-Smith J 2020 Quantum mechanics in magnetic backgrounds with manifest symmetry and locality J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 53 145302
- [59] Coleman S R 1973 There are no Goldstone bosons in two-dimensions Commun. Math. Phys. 31 259–64
- [60] Weinberg S 1967 Dynamical approach to current algebra *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 18 188–91
- [61] Gripaios B and Sutherland D 2015 Quantum field theory of fluids Phys. Rev. Lett. 114 071601
- [62] Dersy A, Khmelnitsky A and Rattazzi R 2022 The quantum perfect fluid in 2D (https://doi.org/ 10.21468/SciPostPhys.17.1.019)
- [63] Nicolis A, Penco R and Rosen R A 2014 Relativistic fluids, superfluids, solids and supersolids from a coset construction *Phys. Rev.* D 89 045002
- [64] Nicolis A, Penco R, Piazza F and Rattazzi R 2015 Zoology of condensed matter: Framids, ordinary stuff, extra-ordinary stuff J. High Energy Phys. JHEP06(2015)155
- [65] Nicolis A, Rattazzi R and Trincherini E 2009 The Galileon as a local modification of gravity Phys. Rev. D 79 064036
- [66] Piazza F, Pirtskhalava D, Rattazzi R, Simon O and inflation G 2017 J. Cosmol. Astropart. Phys. JCAP11(2017)041
- [67] Tong D 2017 Line Operators in the Standard Model J. High Energy Phys. JHEP07(2017)104
- [68] Davighi J, Gripaios B and Lohitsiri N 2020 Global anomalies in the Standard Model(s) and Beyond J. High Energy Phys. JHEP07(2020)232
- [69] Callan Jr. C G, Coleman S R, Wess J and Zumino B 1969 Structure of phenomenological Lagrangians. 2 Phys. Rev. 177 2247–50
- [70] Wess J and Zumino B 1971 Consequences of anomalous Ward identities Phys. Lett. B 37 95-97
- [71] Witten E 1983 Global aspects of current algebra Nucl. Phys. B 223 422-32
- [72] Davighi J and Gripaios B 2018 Homological classification of topological terms in sigma models on homogeneous spaces J. High Energy Phys. JHEP09(2018)15
- [73] Davighi J, Gripaios B and Randal-Williams O 2020 Differential cohomology and topological actions in physics (https://doi.org/10.4310/ATMP.2023.v27.n7.a3)
- [74] Gripaios B, Pomarol A, Riva F and Serra J 2009 Beyond the minimal composite Higgs Model J. High Energy Phys. JHEP04(2009)070
- [75] Davighi J and Gripaios B 2018 Topological terms in composite Higgs models J. High Energy Phys. JHEP11(2018)169
- [76] Dubovsky S, Hui L and Nicolis A 2014 Effective field theory for hydrodynamics: Wess-Zumino term and anomalies in two spacetime dimensions *Phys. Rev.* D 89 045016
- [77] Delacrétaz L V, Nicolis A, Penco R and Rosen R A 2015 Wess-Zumino terms for relativistic fluids, superfluids, solids and supersolids *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **114** 091601
- [78] Criado J C and Pérez-Victoria M 2019 Field redefinitions in effective theories at higher orders J. High Energy Phys. JHEP03(2019)038
- [79] Alonso R, Jenkins E E and Manohar A V 2016 Sigma models with negative curvature Phys. Lett. B 756 358–64
- [80] Petersen P 2006 Riemannian geometry (available at: http://doi.org/10.1007/0-387-29403-1)
- [81] Nagai R, Tanabashi M, Tsumura K and Uchida Y 2019 Symmetry and geometry in a generalized higgs effective field theory: finiteness of oblique corrections versus perturbative unitarity *Phys. Rev.* D 100 075020

- [82] Bah I, Freed D S, Moore G W, Nekrasov N, Razamat S S and Schafer-Nameki S 2022 A panorama of physical mathematics c (arXiv:2211.04467)
- [83] Cordova C, Dumitrescu T T, Intriligator K and Shao S-H 2022 Snowmass white paper: generalized symmetries in quantum field theory and beyond, in Snowmass 2021 (arXiv:2205.09545)
- [84] de Azcárraga J A and Izquierdo J M 1998 Lie Groups, Lie Algebras, Cohomology and Some Applications in Physics (Cambridge University Press)
- [85] Sardanashvily G 2009 Fibre bundles, jet manifolds and lagrangian theory: lectures for theoreticians (arXiv:0908.1886)
- [86] Henning B, Lu X, Melia T and Murayama H 2016 Hilbert series and operator bases with derivatives in effective field theories *Commun. Math. Phys.* 347 363–88
- [87] Henning B, Lu X, Melia T and Murayama H 2017 Operator bases, S-matrices and their partition functions J. High Energy Phys. JHEP10(2017)199
- [88] Brivio I, Éboli O J P, Gavela M B, Gonzalez-García M C, Merlo L and Rigolin S 2014 Higgs ultraviolet softening J. High Energy Phys. JHEP12(2014)004
- [89] Criado J C 2019 BasisGen: automatic generation of operator bases Eur. Phys. J. C 79 256
- [90] Gherardi V, Marzocca D and Venturini E 2020 Matching scalar leptoquarks to the SMEFT at one loop J. High Energy Phys. JHEP07(2020)225
- [91] Chala M, Guedes G, Ramos M and Santiago J 2021 Towards the renormalisation of the Standard Model effective field theory to dimension eight: Bosonic interactions I SciPost Phys. 11 065
- [92] Murphy C W 2020 Dimension-8 operators in the Standard Model Eective Field Theory J. High Energy Phys. JHEP10(2020)174
- [93] Harlander R V, Kempkens T and Schaaf M C 2023 The standard model effective field theory up to mass dimension 12 (https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.108.055020)
- [94] Agashe K, Contino R and Pomarol A 2005 The Minimal composite Higgs model Nucl. Phys. B 719 165–87
- [95] Mergulh ao T M and Batista C 2020 On the equivalence of spacetimes, the Cartan-Karlhede algorithm *Rev. Bras. Ens. Fis.* 42 e20200041
- [96] Cartan E 1951 Leçons sur la géometrie des espaces de riemann (Gauthier-Villars) ch V, sec. III
- [97] Brans C H 1965 Invariant approach to the geometry of spaces in general relativity J. Math. Phys.
 6 94–102
- [98] Karlhede A 1980 A review of the geometrical equivalence of metrics in general relativity Gen. Relativ. Grav. 12 693–707
- [99] McNutt D D, Coley A A and Forget A 2017 The Cartan algorithm in five dimensions J. Math. Phys. 58 032502